
Children's Commissioning Committee 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Commissioning Committee to 
be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
DATE: Wednesday, 22 January 2020

TIME: 9.30 am

VENUE: Committee Room 1, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,’ the 
press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 

AGENDA

9.30AM 

1  Welcome and Introductions. (Chair) 

2  Apologies for absence. 

3  Minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2019. (Pages 1 - 8)

4  Matters arising. 

9.40AM 

5  0-19 Contract renewal (Debbie Blackburn) (Pages 9 - 126)

9.55AM 

6  Finance Update (Steve Dixon) (Pages 127 - 136)

10.15AM 

7  Exclusion of the Public 

8  Ingleside Birthing & Community Centre Update (Eejay 
Whitehead) 

(Pages 137 - 154)

Public Document Pack



9  Re-admittance of the Public 

10.45AM 

10  Neglect Strategy Update (Debbie Blackburn) (Pages 155 - 248)

11.00AM 

11  Terms of Reference Update (Mike McHugh) (Pages 249 - 254)

11.05AM 

12  Any other business. (Chair) 

11.15AM 

13  Date and time of next meeting - Wednesday 11 March 2020 at 
9.30am 

Future meetings of the Committee have been scheduled as follows:

Wednesday, 13 May 2020 9.30am - 11.30am
Wednesday, 8 July 2020 9.30am - 11.30am
Wednesday, 9 September 2020 9.30am - 11.30am
Wednesday, 11 November 2020 9.30am - 11.30am
Wednesday, 13 January 2021 9.30am - 11.30am
Wednesday, 10 March 2021 9.30am - 11.30am

All meetings are scheduled to be held in the Salford Suite at the 
Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5DA

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk



Page 1 of 7
Children’s Commissioning Committee
6 November 2019

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

6 November 2019

9.30 a.m.  -  11.02 a.m.

PRESENT: Nick Browne (NB) - in the Chair

Members:

Councillor John Merry, CBE (JM) Deputy City Mayor and Lead Member for Children’s 
and Young People’s Services (SCC)

Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation (CCG)
Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Finance Officer (CCG)
Councillor Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 

(SCC)
Councillor Jane Hamilton (JH) Executive Support Member for Social Care and 

Mental Health (SSC)
Kate Jones (KJ) Neighbourhood Lead (CCG)
Charlotte Ramsden (CR) Strategic Director for People (SSC)
Joanne Hardman (JH) Chief Finance Officer (SCC)

In Attendance:

Harry Golby (HG) Assistant Director of Commissioning (CCG)
Stephen Woods (SW) Head of Service Improvement (Partnerships) (CCG)
Mike McHugh (MM) Senior Democratic Services Officer (SCC)

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

1.1. NB welcomed those present to the informal meeting.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.1. Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Anthony Hassall, Karen Proctor, 
Debbie Blackburn, Peter Brambleby, Councillor John Walsh and Jane Case.

3. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

3.1. No conflicts of interest were declared in respect of the items included on the agenda for 
this meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 7
Children’s Commissioning Committee
6 November 2019

4. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

4.1. The minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2019, were approved as a 
correct record.

5. MATTERS ARISING

5.1. There were no matters arising.

6. FINANCE UPDATE

6.1. SD submitted a report providing the Children’s Commissioning Committee with an in-
year update on how the children’s element of the Integrated Fund is performing in this 
financial year (2019/20). 

6.2. SD confirmed that the report was based on month 6 (September 2019) finance 
information and provisional data for October. Owing to the timing of the Children’s 
Committee in November, the October finance information had not yet been fully 
validated.

6.3. Based on the latest financial information, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund 
was currently forecasting to overspend by £6.9m in 2019/20. This was an improvement 
£0.5m from the last finance report to September’s CCC, which had a forecast year end 
overspend of £7.4m. The main reason for this movement was that the children’s hospital 
activity was forecast to underspend by £0.5m.

6.4. SD also provided details of the main areas of over and under spend within the children’s
Integrated Fund. He noted that the main area of overspend related to Looked After 
Children service line, of which £4.7m related to Out of Area placements.

6.5. It was confirmed that the CCG had agreed an additional £3m investment into Children’s 
services to test a new model of care and increase staffing in Salford which should 
reduce the number of out of area placements. Any financial savings associated with this 
investment had not been included in this year’s financial forecast. 

6.6. SD indicated that the Service and Finance Group (SFG) had requested regular updates 
on this work programme in order to monitor and evaluate the impact. The first report 
was scheduled in December 2019 and would be included in the report to the CCC in 
January 2020.

Page 2



Page 3 of 7
Children’s Commissioning Committee
6 November 2019

6.7. Questions and comments relating to a number of issues, including the following were 
presented -

(a) NB noted that ‘Localities’ was included as a line in the 2019/2020 Financial 
Summary detailed in Table 1 (Paragraph 2.4). 

It was confirmed that a description of the issues covered in this budget line would 
be included in future reports. 

(b) NB noted nationally, waiting lists were growing for ‘Planned Care Procedures’. 

It was noted that one of the matters impacting on this issue, ‘tax and pension’ 
implications for consultants was being addressed at national governmental level. 

(c) It was confirmed that in respect of ‘CAMHS Outpatients’, three areas of work 
were being carried out, and that update reports would be presented at future 
meetings of the CCC.

6.8. RESOLVED: THAT the report relating to the in-year and forecast position for the 
Children’s Integrated Fund for 2019/20 be noted.

7. CHILDREN’S HEALTH SERVICES ASSURANCE REPORT

7.1. HG submitted a report providing the Children’s Commissioning Committee with the first 
quarterly update to provide assurance around performance and achievement of health 
outcomes for children and young people in Salford. 

7.2. The report provided an overview of what this could look like for physical health services 
for children and young people, with examples of data from existing contracts.

7.3. The areas of suggested breakdown for future report included - 

- Children’s contractual information
- National performance targets
- Children’s waiting times
- Service activity
- Quality outcome indicators

7.4. Questions and comments relating to a number of issues, including the following were 
presented -

Page 3



Page 4 of 7
Children’s Commissioning Committee
6 November 2019

(a) The timescales for development and implantation of the quality outcome 
indicators. It was also noted that linking outcomes with impact was essential. 

HG confirmed that Eejay Whitehead was currently leading on this matter and 
details would be included in future reports to the CCC.

(b) Discussion took place relating to the differentials in ‘age-related’ services 
provided by the CCG, SCC and other partners - 16, 18, 19 and 25. It was 
confirmed that the majority of the age-related were provided on a statutory basis.

HG confirmed that Debbie Blackburn was co-ordinating a group which was 
examining ‘Transition’.

(c) As an example of the need to ensure that linkages between health and social 
care issues were addressed, Members considered links between obesity and 
dental health in children.

It was considered a fundamental focus for the work of the CCC to impact upon all 
aspects of health and social care in order to aid healthier futures.

7.5. RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted.

8. GM POPULATION HEALTH FUNDED START WELL PROGRAMMES

8.1. CR submitted a report providing the Children’s Commissioning Committee with an 
update in respect of the GM Population Health Funded Start Well Programmes.

8.2. CR confirmed that in December 2017 SCC and CCG submitted a Population Health Bid 
to Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) to deliver transformation 
programmes under the Age Well and Start Well agendas.

8.3. Funding was provided by the GMCA based on a total of 13 programme of work. 

8.4. Details were provided relating to progress on the Start Well programme and highlighted 
an overview of development and delivery over the last year of the projects under the 
four headings - 

(i) Vulnerability and Safeguarding
(ii) Start Well Parenting
(iii) Early Identification and Prevention
(iv) Children are Thriving

Page 4



Page 5 of 7
Children’s Commissioning Committee
6 November 2019

8.5. Questions and comments relating to a number of issues, including the following were 
presented -

(a) the evaluation of the projects and the process to be undertaken in developing 
business cases to take projects forward in mainstream services

(b) work being undertaken to address the best value impact of the projects

(c) confirmation of the level of funding which had been extended to March 2021 from 
the original proposal of March 2020.

(d) the need to ensure explicit consideration of ‘social value’ and ‘equality’ when 
reviewing the impact of the projects

8.6. RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted.

9. SALFORD CVS THIRD SECTOR FUND

9.1. HG submitted a report which provided the Children’s Commissioning Committee which 
an update on the CCG’s Third Sector Fund.

9.2. It was confirmed that the fund was managed by Salford CVS on behalf of the CCG and 
Fund was a flexible, responsive grants programme that had the ability to ensure that 
grantees were delivering against the priorities of the refreshed Locality Plan, alongside 
any other strategic priorities identified.

9.3. The Third Sector Fund was established in 2014 by Salford CVS in partnership with NHS
Salford CCG to harness Salford CVS’ relationship with the voluntary, community and 
social enterprise sector in Salford in order to reach into local communities with the aim 
of using small grants as an enabler to help improve the wellbeing, health and care of 
Salford residents. A three year rolling programme of evaluation was commissioned and 
delivered by Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES)

9.4. Following negotiations between NHS Salford CCG with Salford CVS during the latter 
half of 2016, based on the positive results of the previously funded programmes of work, 
NHS Salford CCG positively responded to CLES’ core recommendation and agreed to 
further fund the Third Sector Fund for a three-year period, commencing April 2017. The 
CLES full year two report was submitted to the CCG’s Service and Finance Group 
(SFG) in October 2019.

9.5. At the meeting of the CCG’s Executive on 9 October 2019 a decision was taken and the 
CCG approved a further five-year investment into the Salford CVS managed Third 
Sector Fund of £1million per annum for the period April 2020 – March 2025.

Page 5



Page 6 of 7
Children’s Commissioning Committee
6 November 2019

9.6. This extension was subject to 

(i) Further discussion in relation to ongoing contracting arrangements
(ii) Annual review (yearly evaluation of the programmes impact)
(iii) Annual review of CCG funding priorities and the submission, agreement and 
sign- off of an annual funding plan

9.7. Additionally, the CCG Executive agreed an additional £500k for 2020/21 the focus of 
which would be Mental Health with an indicative split being 60/40 between Live well and 
Start Well respectively.

9.8. RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted.

10. DESIGNATED MEDICAL / CLINICAL OFFICER SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS & 
DISABILITIES (SEND) REPORT

10.1. HG presented the Children’s Commissioning Committee with details of the Designated 
Medical / Clinical Officer Special Educational Needs & Disabilities Annual Report 
(2018/19) 

10.2. It was noted that there were 84,300 Children and Young People (CYP) aged between 0-
25 years in Salford and 18% had Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND).

10.3. The CCG appointed to the statutory role of a Designated Medical Officer / Designated 
Clinical Officer for Special Educational Needs and Disability in December 2014, in line 
with the requirements within the Children and Families Act 2014. 

10.4. It was confirmed that the report highlighted how the CCG was fulfilling its duties under 
the Children and Families Act (2014).

10.5. The three key elements to the DMO/DCO role were detailed as follows - 

(a) Providing strategic direction and identifying local priorities.
(b) Providing specialist SEND health advice for the local area.
(c) Ensuring governance and quality assurance of SEND provision.

10.6. Described in detail were the key achievements and risks, along with priorities for 
2019/20 to mitigate those risks.

10.7. Questions and comments relating to a number of issues, including the following were 
presented -

Page 6



Page 7 of 7
Children’s Commissioning Committee
6 November 2019

(a) work being undertaken to address the increase in demand for the services and 
the reasons for that increase.

(b) the delivery of community paediatric assessments and its impact on services.

(c) work being undertaken to increase uptake of immunisation and vaccination rates 
for children with special education needs and disability.

(d) the reasons around the increase in numbers of children with autism, specifically 
relating to either ‘better diagnosis’ or ‘a general increase in numbers’.

(e) accessibility by General Practitioners of data relating to SEND.

10.8. RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted.

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

11.1. Immunisation / Vaccination Uptake

RESOLVED: THAT the Public Health team be requested to provide an update report on 
work relating to this issue at a future meeting of this Committee. 

11.2. Health and Justice Strategy

RESOLVED: THAT Charlotte Ramsden provide an update at the meeting of this 
Committee in January 2020 on the implications in respect of the implementation of the 
Health and Justice Strategy. 

12. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

12.1. RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of this Committee be held on Wednesday 20 
January 2020 at 9.30 a.m.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

PLEASE INDICATE TIME REQUIRED TO PRESENT THE PAPER: 5 mins

Childrens Commissioning Committee

AGENDA ITEM NO: 5

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

22 January 2020

Report of: Director of Public Health 

Date of Paper: 16th October 2019

Subject: 0-19 Integrated Childrens Health Service

In case of query 
Please contact:

Michelle Whittaker
0161 793 3531

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

 Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care
Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:                                   
The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Health and Care Commissioning 
Board for a two year extension of the contract to Salford Royal Foundation Trust for the 0-19 
Integrated Children’s Health Service as part of the agreed 1+1 year extension period between 
2020-2022.  

Recommendations: 
1. The Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the contents of this report 

and support the extension period of two years 2020-22 with a one year break clause. 
The approval will be made by Health and Care Commissioning Board.

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

The 0-19 ICHS is commissioned as a universal 
and targeted service for Salford families and 
children educated in Salford.  The services 
covers a wide range of high priority health areas, 
including (but not inclusive to) immunisation, 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

If the extension period is not given a full 
tendering process will have to be initiated.  This 
can be disruptive to service provision during 
transition.

As part of the contract agreement over 3 years a 
5% saving has been made by SRFT through 
integrated services and management costs, 
there is a risk a new provider will not be able to 
achieve the same level of saving for a new 
contract.

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

N/A at this stage.

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

The 0-19 ICHS delivers interventions on a 
number of priority health areas for Salford and 
are key partner in children’s 0-25 strategic plans. 
Continuing to commission SRFT as the provider 
will maintain existing strong partnerships and 
pilots/transformational test cases.

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

0-19 Integrated Childrens Health Services

Footnote:

Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 10



  

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?

 The tender process had a focus on a social value approach 
to the delivery of future services; social value had a 
weighting of 10% of the overall score tender submission 
score. Salford Royal Foundation Trust  have demonstrated 
good understanding of social value and provide practical 
examples as part of the regular performance reporting 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



An Equality Impact assessment was carried out as part of 
the procurement exercise

Legal Advice Sought


Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



P
age 11



1. Management Summary

The 0-19 Integrated Children’s Health Service is a key universal and target service for children 
and families in Salford.

Services includes Health Visiting, School Nursing and Family Nurse Partnership.

Contract began on 1 April 2017 and end 31st March 2020, approved by Salford City Council 
Procurement Board with an option 1+1 year extension period between 2020-2022

This report seeks approval from the Children’s Commissioning Committee for a two year 
extension of the contract to Salford Royal Foundation Trust for the 0-19 Integrated Children’s 
Health Service until 31st March 2021 with a one year break clause.

The annual contract value for 2020-2021 is £5,270,472

2. Context and Background

Back ground
2.1 Following the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the Local Authority adopted a mandated 

responsibility for the commissioning of some Childrens health services for our residents. 
These services are commissioned at a local level to meet the needs of the local population, 
including:

 Family Nurse Partnership
 School Health and 
 Health Visiting 

2.2 The early years are critical in shaping health and wellbeing throughout life. Improving 
outcomes for children, families and communities, as well as creating services that provide 
better access and experience for children and families. Health visitors are public health-
trained nurses and early-years experts, and as such lead the delivery of the evidence-based 
Healthy Child Programme (HCP) to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for young 
children and their families, working closely with Early Years, Children’s Centres and primary 
care.  

2.3 On 1st October 2015 the City Council received the commissioning responsibilities for the 
Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership Service commissioned from Salford Royal 
Foundation Trust.  The contractual arrangement for these and the school nursing services 
expired on 30th September 2016. The Public Health team sought approval to extend all three 
contracts by six months to enable a procurement exercise to take place using the public health 
procurement framework 

2.4 This approach offered a number of benefits for the City Council including the integration and 
alignment of services and the combined management structure with financial saving.  It also 
address one of the priority areas of the 0-25 Strategic review of transitions for children and 

Page 12



young people between the services.  The integrated model demonstrate social value by 
developing the integrated workforce and increase opportunities for best practice sharing and 
learning across the services.

2.5 As part of the budget challenge faced by Salford City Council Public Health Budget, a 
commitment to reduce the 0-19 health budget by 5% from the 2016/17 baseline and was 
made and has been achieved as part of the service review and redesign.

2.6 No further savings have been applied to years 2-5.  The service will not have an annual 
financial increase for staffing increments and the NHS staff pay agreement 2018.  The service 
have a plan in place to manage this change and that has been shared with SRFT internal 
governance for approval.

2.7 The initial contract end date for the services is 31 March 2020 with an option to extend on a 
“1 + 1” basis for up to a further two years. 

2.8 Annual Contract Values April 2017 to March 2022. 

Year: Contract 
Value

Y1 2017/2018 £5,351,258

Y2 2018/2019 £5,270,472

Y3 2019/2020 £5,270,472

Y4 2020/2021 £5,270,472

Y5 2021/2022 £5,270,472

6  3 Background documents

3.1 Regulations 5A and 5B 2015/921
• The regulations describe an assessment and review of health and wellbeing (as described 

in the Healthy Child Programme 0-5 years) for the benefit of pregnant women, children 
under 5 years and their families. To be provided within a local authority area, as far as is 
reasonably practicable, at specific stages of development, where the review is provided 
once within the period.

• Eligible persons are:- Women more than 28 weeks pregnant, A child aged 1 day to 2 
weeks, A child aged 6-8 weeks, A child aged 9 to 15 months, A child aged 24 to 30 months

• The review should also identify children and families in need of additional health and 
wellbeing support, children at risk or those suffering from poor health or wellbeing. The 
regulations do not specify how these additional needs are to be addressed. 

• The reviews must be carried out by a health visitor or delegated to suitably qualified health 
professional or nursery nurse with guidance from and under the supervision of a health 
visitor. A health visitor is a registered nurse or midwife who is registered as a Specialist 
Community Public Health Nurse or a health visitor. A suitably qualified health professional 
is trained in child health and development.

Page 13



• The obligations on the local authority, set out within the regulations, are that it must act to 
secure continuous improvement in the percentage of eligible persons participating in 
universal health visitor reviews.

• Mandation of universal health visitor reviews was explicitly introduced to provide the 
“context of a national, standard format, thus supporting universal coverage, and families’ 
overall wellbeing; and to ensure local authorities build on the momentum of the Health 
Visitor Programme working to increase capacity and hence a continuation of service 
transformation.”, and, most importantly “Mandation will also provide a degree of stability 
for families as the commissioning responsibilities transfer and embed into local 
authorities.”

3.2 Previous reports

Procurement Board Paper 26 May 2016 Approval for an Exception to Contractual Standing 
Orders to award a six month contract extension to Salford Royal Foundation Trust for 0-19 
health services.

Procurement Board Paper Approval for an Extension of Framework for Salford Public Health 
Services Procurement Framework for the period 1st December 2015 to 30th November 2016  

Procurement Board 19th November 2014 - Approval to Award Places on the Salford City 
Council Public Health Procurement Services Framework. 

Procurement Board 24th June 2015 - Approval for an Extension of Framework for Salford Public 
Health Services Procurement Framework for the period 1st December 2015 to 30th November 
2016

Transfer of the commissioning function for early years health services to public health

AMB for Health and Wellbeing 27.07.14

AMB for Children &Young people and Early Years and Skills and Work 07.14

Getting it right for children, young people and their families: Maximising the contribution of the 
school nursing team: vision and call to action (2012)

Procurement Board November 2015- Exception to contractual standing orders School nursing 
service  

4 Governance, evaluation and tracking
4.3. Tracking and monitoring

The service has a number of outcomes and KPI including within the contract, these are under 
the high impact areas
 Breast feeding
 Childhood obesity
 Managing minor illness and reducing accidents
 Emotion Health and wellbeing – child and parents

Page 14



 Child development and school readiness
 Transition into parenthood
 Looked after children
 Safeguarding
 Resilience and emotional wellbeing  
 Keeping safe: Managing risk and reducing harm 
 Improving lifestyles  
 Maximising learning and achievement  
 Supporting complex and additional health and wellbeing needs  
 Seamless transition and preparation for adulthood

The services are monitored at 6 weekly contract review meetings with the commissioner and 
provide quarterly and annual updates against the KPIs and outcomes.  This includes a 
combination of data request, service user feedback, case studies and audits.  The service has 
consistently had good performance against KPI through the length of the contract, if any KPI are 
not at threshold they would be added to the risk register and a recovery plan requested.  Full 
details of the KPIs are embedded in the documents in Appendix 1. An annual report of the 
outcomes for the service is used annually to direct areas for development and focus and a peer 
review process will be established in 2020/21 to ensure quality assurance for the contract. 

Social Value 
Monitoring of the social value of this contract is via the wider SRFT contract monitoring process, 
SRFT are committed to employing and training local people and supported internships. 

5 Recommendation

1. The Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the contents of this report 
and support the extension period of two years 2020-22 with a one year break clause. The 
approval will be made by Health and Care Commissioning Board.

Page 15



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

An Equality Impact assessment was carried out as part of the procurement exercise in 2017

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

High – Mandate service for health visiting and school nursing 

SOURCE OF FUNDING:   

Public Health 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323

When commissioning goods, services or works the Council must comply with the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 (PCR) and its own Contractual Standing Orders (CSO’s) failing which the 
award of a contract may be subject to legal challenge. In that regard, the children’s health services 
described in the report were procured in 2017 for a 3 year period with the option to extend for up 
to 2 further years.    

It is an established principle that an existing public contract is capable of being extended (or 
modified providing any modification does not affect the overall nature of the contract), where the 
original agreement makes provision for the extension. CSO’s also set out circumstances where 
contract extensions may be made.
 
When the contract was originally procured and awarded, it was made clear that the initial term 
would be subject to a potential extension of two years, hence any risk that any extension granted 
could be subject to realistic challenge by an aggrieved provider, on the basis that it ought to have 
been put out again to tender and advertised in accordance with PCR and CSO’s, is extremely 
low, and the option to extend within the agreement is now being properly exercised.

Also in accordance with CSO’s, where provision is made within an existing contract for an 
extension to the term, and the value is over £1,000,000, approval should be sought from 
Procurement Board for it to recommend the award to the City Mayor who can then take the 
decision.

Once approved the extension will commit the Council to the two year period outlined in the report, 
and Legal Services will be happy to assist in drafting appropriate extension documentation on 
receipt of instructions.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Michelle Cowley – Interim Finance Manager x2520

Funding for the extension of this service is available in the Children’s Integrated Fund

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Submitted by: Christopher Conway, Procurement Category 
Manager, tel. 0161 686 6248

Page 16



Procurement are currently in discussions with the CCG and SCC leadership team with regards 
to undertaking a joint strategic review of all joint pooled budgets/contracts which the 0-19 service 
is part of, whilst this work is being undertaken Procurement recommends that we take up the 
option to extend the current contract for an additional 2 years as the current contract has the 
provision to take up the extension for period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2022 (as requested in 
the Procurement Board report).

Procurement recommends that following the outcome of the strategic review an options appraisal 
be undertaken with regards to future tendering options and this be completed by the 31st March 
2021 to allow time for possible retendering from 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022. 

Appendix 1 

Service 
Specification 0-19 health 2017_2020 Final v6.docx

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Annex 1

SALFORD INTEGRATED 0-19 CHILDRENS HEALTH SERVICE SPECIFICATION 

2017-2020

Page 19



2

Contents

Introduction 3

0-19 Health Services 5

Overview of Provider Roles and Responsibilities 7

Governance 9

Workforce 16

Service Users 17

Social Value 18

Overarching Delivery Requirements 20

System Detail 21

Information Technology 22

Social Marketing and Communications 24

Contract Value 25

Contract 26

Salford City Council Particulars 37

Provider Performance Framework Report 67

Appendices 77

Page 20



3

1. Introduction 

1.1. Purpose
 

The aim of this specification is to set out an entitlement to universal health services 
for families with children from 0-19. We will set out a minimum standard for the 0-19 
year’s health services to improve health and wellbeing of young children and their 
families. 

Experiences during the early years of childhood (including before birth) have lifelong 
effects on health and wellbeing; giving each child the best start in life and keeping 
them safe is essential1. The benefits of interventions during the early years of 
childhood (including before birth) are realised both in the short-term and over the 
entire life course of children.

The service is to be delivered by the integrated 0-19 year’s health services and will 
provide universal and targeted services, on the basis of a preventative approach to 
supporting families to succeed, that is safe, accessible and of a high standard. 

The overarching aim of this commission is to create the 0-19 years health services; 
a single service with a single set of performance outcomes whereby the ultimate aim 
is that ‘children are developing well and ready for school, ready to learn and 
able to achieve their potential’. 

The service will deliver the following functions: 

 Function One: Delivery of the Health Visiting Service 
 Function Two: Delivery of the Family Nurse Partnership targeted intervention 
 Function Three: Delivery of the School Nursing Function 
 Function Four: Work towards integration with children’s services in education, 

social care and third sector 

1.2. National Context 

Giving every child the best start in life is crucial to reducing health inequalities across 
the life course. The foundations for virtually every aspect of human development – 
physical, intellectual and emotional – are set in place during pregnancy and in early 
childhood. What happens during these early years has lifelong effects on many 
aspects of health and wellbeing, educational achievement and economic status.
 
Key National reports over recent years have reinforced the significance of early 
intervention and the provision of more targeted support to children and their families. 

The Local Authority must make arrangements to ensure that Early Childhood 
Services are provided in an integrated manner. This is to be achieved whilst ensuring 
sufficient support accessible to all families with young children, and targeted 
evidence-based interventions for those families in greatest need of support. 

Since April 2013 Local Authorities have been responsible for commissioning public 
health services for school-age children and young people. From 2015, responsibility 
for commissioning services for 0 to 5 year olds and health visitors also moved from 
NHS England to Local Authorities. 

1 (Fair society, healthy lives The Marmot Review 2010).

Page 21

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review


4

This has presented the opportunity for bringing together a robust approach for 
improving outcomes and reducing health inequalities for young people across both 
health and local authority led services for these children across the life course.

1.3. Local Context 

Whilst the intention of this commission is to integrate key functions within 0-25 
Services, the Local Authority recognises that this cannot be achieved in isolation and 
therefore the Provider(s) will work within a multi-agency context and strengthen 
effective partnership with external agencies to ensure delivery and co-ordination of 
Child Services. They will liaise closely with district/locality partners and establish 
Working Together Agreements to evidence expectations of each party and specify 
key deliverables. 

Whilst National specifications are available for each service (Appendices), the 
commissioner would like to work with the provider to explore flexibility in service 
provision and think creatively in how services are delivered; the commissioner would 
like to commission a service which is flexible to the needs of children, young people 
and their families and integrates within the 0-25 programme within Salford. The 
commissioner would expect to work with the provider to design integrated 
management structures with key partner delivery agencies in locality models. 

We will also need to work with the provider to create efficiencies over the life of the 
contract estimated to be in the range of 5-10% of the overall contract value. This will 
be designed in collaboration and with quality as a priority. 

We are currently testing new models of working and the provider would be expected 
to flex the service to meet the needs of locality based working and innovative 
approaches to delivery. We need to ensure that services are working effectively with 
children, young people and their families flexibly and are not constrained by service 
need or settings. If the family has a relationship with a professional we need to 
ensure that it continues that services can stretch outside of a specification to respond 
to need. 
This document focuses on the contribution of Health Visiting, Family Nurse 
Partnership and School Nursing services to the leadership and delivery of the 
Healthy Child Programme, recognising partners have a contributory role in delivery. It 
sets out the key components service specification for health visiting and school 
nursing services to lead and deliver the Healthy Child Programme, this should be 
done as a continuum of the child and families needs

This specification details an integrated 0-19 health service which includes Family 
Nurse Partnership, Health Visiting and School Nursing. 

Health visiting and school nursing services are based on four levels of intervention 

1. Community, 
2. Universal, 
3. Universal Plus (short-term early/additional help), 
4. Universal Partnership Plus (long term multidisciplinary support for example with social 

disadvantage, illness/disability, safeguarding). 

Page 22



5

Figure 1: Best start in life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, 

young people and families2

The new system will provide integrated provision of the three programmes described 
and will seek to integrate further with local authority and partner provision as part of 
the 0-25 transformation programme within Salford. 

As commissioners we will work directly with the Provider responsible for coordinating 
service delivery between agencies. We will also work directly with service users to 
ensure their needs are being met.

2. Health Visiting 

This specification includes all infants and children resident in the local authority area. 
The specification covers child health surveillance, health promotion; health protection 
and health improvement and support outlined in the Healthy Child Programme 0-5 
and the HV 4-5-6 service model, and includes: 

 the role of the health visiting in the five mandated health reviews 
 the role of the health visitor in the six high impact areas 
 the role of health visiting and its contribution to safeguarding 
 the role of the health visitor in supporting the early help offer through to vulnerable 

children and families 
 the role of the health visitor in the troubled families programme 
 the role of the health visitor in the UNICEF baby friendly accreditation
 the role of the health visiting in the Greater Manchester Early Years Strategy

Services for Health visiting are mandated, mandation means a public health step 
prescribed in regulations as one that all LAs must take. The regulations are made 
under section 6C of the NHS Act 2006. 

2 Public Health England (2016) Commissioning Guide 2 - Model specification for 0-19 Healthy 
Child Programme: Health Visiting and School Nursing Services

Page 23



6

The mandated functions are 0-5 HCP namely:- 

 Antenatal health promoting 
visits; 

 New baby review; 
 6-8 week assessment. 

 1 year assessment 
 2-2½ review. 

2.1. School Nursing Services 

This specification covers children and young people in maintained schools and 
academies and includes child health surveillance, health promotion, health protection 
and health improvement and support outlined in the Healthy Child Programme 5-19 
and includes: 

 the role of school nursing in transition for school-aged children, for example transition 
between health visiting and school nursing, and into adult services 

 the role of school nursing and the contribution to safeguarding 
 the role of the school nurse in supporting vulnerable children and those not in school, 

e.g. children in care, young carers, home educated children or young offenders 
 the support offered as part of the Troubled Families programme refreshed health offer 

The responsibility for commissioning immunisation and screening lies with NHS 
England, via NHS teams. Local authority commissioners will work in partnership with 
NHS England teams and local general practices to increase both the health 
protection and public health input for children and young people through co-ordinated 
commissioning. 

2.2. Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) 

FNP operates under a license agreement and provides prevention and early 
intervention for some of the two most vulnerable populations (teenage mothers and 
their children). 

 Works to improve access and engagement with other services (e.g. social 
care/children's centres). 

 Works to improve child health and development (e.g. school readiness) so that this 
population develops in line with expectations for this age group

 Works to improve the life chances for mother and child by breaking cycles of 
disadvantage (e.g. focusing on supporting mothers to get back into education, 
employment or training)

 Delivers the Healthy Child Programme to first-time teenage mothers as per criteria of 
the programme

 Addresses the six early years high impact areas - transition to parenthood, maternal 
mental health, breastfeeding, healthy birth weight and nutrition, managing minor 
illness and reducing accidents, and supporting child development

 Invests now to save in the future.

Detailed specifications for each service are included as appendices to this 
overarching specification. The following information applies to the combined 0-
19 health services: 

Page 24



7

3. Overview of Provider Roles and Responsibilities
The Provider will have responsibility for the whole 0-19 health services. Below are 
some of the key responsibilities, others appear within the detail of the specifications.

3.1. Responsibility for the system

The Provider will develop a system that offers individuals and families a choice of 
accessible and relevant services 

The Provider will ensure the delivery of high quality health care. 

3.2. Responsibility for meeting need

3.2.1 The Provider will ensure that development of services is based on the Salford 
Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) i.e. be located at a population level but 
also describe key segments or groups at risk and vulnerabilities. This will 
reflect both a universal and targeted approach ensuring that the universal 
population, who will largely require minimal intervention based on the Early 
Years Delivery Model and described in the School Nursing and FNP 
specification. These universal families are clearly differentiated from those 
with more entrenched problems who will need to be targeted for much more 
complex and long term interventions. 

3.2.2 The Provider will ensure that emphasis is placed on caseload profiling, risk 
stratification and long term case management of the most severe, complex 
cases, with the lowest levels of motivation and assets and provide enhanced 
support as set out in the Universal, Universal Plus and Universal Partnership 
Plus models. 

3.2.3 The Provider will ensure the development of an assertive approach to seeking 
and finding new service users via schools and via referrals in from other 
areas. There will be a particular focus on those whose profile shows 
significant risk. 

3.3. Responsibility for Budget

3.3.1 The Provider will ensure that the system is be affordable, sustainable, 
represents value for money and is informed by the notion of ‘invest to save’, 
so that the effectiveness of the system can be linked to savings elsewhere in 
local partnerships. 

3.3.2 The Provider will provide economies of scale and better integration with 
services essential to promoting positive outcomes for children, young people 
and their families (e.g. housing, employment, education and training). 

 

3.3.3 The Provider will avoid duplication and service blocking by ensuring that 
service users are referred as soon as is practicable to partner agencies to 
enable supportive approaches for families. 

3.3.4 The Provider will work with the Commissioner to create efficiencies in the 
range of 5-10% over the life of the contract across all three services whilst 
retaining a high quality professional service.  The Provider will deliver a 5% 
efficiency savings in preparation for a reduced budget in year 2 of the contract

Page 25



8

3.4. Responsibility for Service Delivery 

3.4.1 The Provider will take account of national strategies and guidance. 

3.4.2 The Provider will be creative in their approach, flexible in their response, and 
will work closely with commissioners and other agencies to develop 
implement and monitor consistent, appropriate, effective and efficient 
processes in line with all relevant national frameworks and guidance(outlined 
in Appendix 1 and 4)

3.4.2 The Provider will support a system that will boost the human, social, cultural, 
physical and economic capital of Salford.

3.4.3 The Provider will also encourage and support social enterprise to draw people 
into mutual aid and communities and engage with wider community activities.

3.4.4 The Provider will maintain the UNICEF Baby Friendly standards and 
demonstrate innovation to achieve excellent outcomes for mothers, babies 
and their families.

3.4.5 The Provider will continue to deliver on the Greater Manchester Early Years 
Strategy. 

The service will also need to link to the local strategies outlined below:

City Plan www.salford.gov.uk/cityplan.htm 

Salford Locality Plan http://www.partnersinsalford.org/3201.htm

Living Wage City http://www.salford.gov.uk/cpia-livingwage.htm

Family Poverty Strategy www.partnersinsalford.org/familypoverty.htm
 
Family Poverty Framework www.salford.gov.uk/fpcommissioning.htm
 
Helping Families www.salford.gov.uk/troubledfamilies.htm 

Social Value www.salford.gov.uk/pr-13-3608.htm 
 
Restorative Justice www.salford.gov.uk/restorativejustice.htm
 
Equality & Diversity www.salford.gov.uk/eqprocurement.htm

Salford Safeguarding Strategy http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/

Salford Safeguarding Children Compact http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/

Early Help Strategy http://www.partnersinsalford.org/earlyhelp.htm

Positive for Youth Strategy http://www.partnersinsalford.org/youth.htm

Greater Manchester Safeguarding Children procedures Manual 
http://greatermanchesterscb.proceduresonline.com/

Page 26

http://www.salford.gov.uk/cityplan.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/3201.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/cpia-livingwage.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/familypoverty.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/fpcommissioning.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/troubledfamilies.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/pr-13-3608.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/restorativejustice.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/eqprocurement.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/earlyhelp.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/youth.htm
http://greatermanchesterscb.proceduresonline.com/


9

Equality Strategy http://www.partnersinsalford.org/Citywide_Equality_Strategy.htm

Anti Bullying Strategy http://www.partnersinsalford.org/antibullying.htm

Children’s and Young Persons Participation Strategy 
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/voiceofthechild.htm

Children healthy and Safety policy for children centres and homes policy

Schools Health and Safety policy 

All providers’ safeguarding policies for both adults and children and young people 
must be consistent with the Council’s policies and procedures which can be 
accessed via the following internet links:

http://www.salford.gov.uk/adultabuse.htm 

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/work.htm 

3.5. Responsibility for People

The Provider will oversee the development of a balanced workforce with greater 
integration of provision with other services and more junior members of staff.

The Provider is expected to place emphasis on working with commissioners in 
developing Service User Representation. 

3.6. Responsibility for Performance and Governance

The Provider will deliver routine reports on performance of the entire system and 
undertake longitudinal evaluation of its effectiveness.

The Provider will report on the governance of the whole system. 

The Provider will ensure that there is an effective governance system in place around 
the delivery of services so that providers comply with the requirements of the 
commissioners and stakeholders. 

4. Governance 

4.1. Partnership Working and Interdependencies

4.1.1 The Provider will ensure that service design and delivery is transparent and 
informed by commissioner, service user and community priorities. Services 
must be demonstrably accountable to commissioning partners and to the 
clients and communities they serve. The Provider will ensure that services are 
outward looking and will engage with all relevant partners in order to achieve 
better lives for Salford residents. In doing so the Provider will take account of 
the following interdependencies:
 Acute Trusts
 Clinical Commissioning Group
 Community Safety Partnership
 Department of Work and Pensions / Job Centre plus – Work Programme 
 Education providers 
 General Practitioners 
 Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue 
 Greater Manchester Probation Trust
 Greater Manchester Police 

Page 27

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/Citywide_Equality_Strategy.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/antibullying.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/voiceofthechild.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/adultabuse.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/work.htm


10

 Greater Manchester Police and Crime Commissioner 
 HM Prison Service 
 Housing departments, private agencies and social landlords 
 Integrated Commissioning Board 
 Local neighbourhoods 
 Mental Health Services 
 Mutual Aid Groups 
 NHS England
 National Probation Service 
 Non-facilitated self help groups 
 Pharmacies 
 Prison Health Care 
 Salford City Council Childrens services 
 Salford Health and Well Being Board
 Working Together with Families 
 Family Nurse Partnership National Unit

4.1.2 The Provider will adopt a partnership approach to the delivery of the new 
contract so that partnership targets, expectations, and statutory requirements 
are met within the resulting system. 

4.1.3 It is of particular importance that relationships with Childrens services, GP 
practices and pharmacy staff and other primary care staff groups are well 
maintained. 

4.1.4 The Provider will work with the Commissioner to align work between health, 
education and social care and with the third sector. 

4.1.5 The Provider will facilitate the UNICEF Baby Friendly initiative and support 
partners to achieve and maintain accreditation through the development of 
appropriate training and local action plans.

4.1.6 The Provider will work with the Commissioner to align work across the key 
points of the system where the most vulnerable, high risk and high need 
patients will be identified – in General Practice, in Hospital, in children and 
young people and family services, and in the Criminal Justice System. 

4.1.7 The Provider will work with the Commissioner to align work in 
neighbourhoods and directorates, notably adult social care and children’s 
services, as well as health and wellbeing services and mutual aid. 

4.1.8 The Provider will develop highly flexible, localised, and mobile support for the 
whole range of families in Salford fostering relationships with Salford City 
Council Childrens Directorate, Housing Department, Social Landlords and the 
private sector landlords, as well as a range of social enterprises. 

4.1.9 The Provider will contribute to the development of shared protocols with other 
health and social care organisations that are appropriate for the clients of the 
services. The Provider will ensure all policies and procedures have clearly 
stated objectives and stipulate who is responsible for implementation and 
monitoring arrangements. 

4.1.10 The Provider must work closely with any community organisation or group 
that shares the aims of this contract to ensure the service is fully embedded 
within the Salford local economy and neighbourhood communities.

Page 28



11

4.2. Working with Children's Services

4.2.1 The Provider will establish a Joint Protocol with Salford Children’s Service, 
which promotes effective communication and integration between health and 
children's services. The protocol will include a statement of purpose; it will 
reference national policy and guidance and will set out clear information 
sharing arrangements and referral pathways. The aim of the protocol will be 
to ensure services identify need as early as possible and work collaboratively 
to help families and reduce risk. The protocol will link to GM devolution 
principles and will be responsive to need. 

4.1.2 The protocol will be supported by an implementation plan and a steering 
group to manage implementation of the protocol and monitor its progress. 
The protocol will state explicitly the questions to be asked at assessment to 
inform safeguarding and promote the welfare of children so that the need for 
action to protect children from harm is reduced3.

4.1.3 The protocol will establish data sharing arrangements to determine the extent 
of crossover children’s health and Child Protection, Child In Need, Early 
Intervention and Prevention and care proceedings.

4.1.4 Family services and the wider treatment system will also establish 
arrangements with Salford’s Bridge, which is the multi agency safeguarding 
hub which receives all level 2 concerns 

4.1.5 The service will prepare reports as required for reviews, core groups, case 
conferences and courts where health professionals are involved with the 
family. 

4.1.6 Case management functions will be aligned with existing arrangements within 
Salford City Council e.g. Helping Families and Early Intervention and 
Prevention (EIP), Early Years Services, including Children’s Centres to 
promote joint working in order to achieve joint outcomes whilst avoiding 
duplication of function and resource allocation. The service will ensure 
services are delivered as appropriate in family homes or in accessible 
community venues such as children’s centres and schools.

4.1.7 The Provider will facilitate a regular (initially six monthly) data matching 
exercise with Children’s Services. This exercise will initially produce a 
summary of overlap between services.

4.1.8 Reciprocal training arrangements will be established with social workers in 
Children’s Services to cover thresholds, services available to parents and 
referral processes.

4.1.9 The service staff will deliver training to practitioners in Salford to raise the 
awareness of the health issues affecting children and will enable staff to 
deliver appropriate brief interventions. The service will develop a tool for 
practitioners when working with children and families. The tool will be subject 
to evaluation and updating as required.

3 http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/w/working%20together.pdf 

Page 29

http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/w/working%20together.pdf


12

4.1.10 The service will work with Children’s Services to monitor that training 
opportunities are fully utilised with an emphasis on training all staff in direct 
contact with high risk families.

4.1.11 The Provider will support Children’s Services to achieve and maintain Level 3 
accreditation of the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative.

4.3. Legal Compliance
4.3.1 The Provider shall ensure that its employees, agents and sub-contractors 

comply with all relevant legislation, regulations and statutory circulars insofar 
as they are applicable to the service. These include, but are not limited to:

 Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (and pending 2012 reforms) 
 Data Protection Act 1998
 Freedom of Information Act 2000
 Employment Act 2002
 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (and subsequent regulations)
 Food Safety Act 1980
 Food Hygiene Regulations 2006
 Environmental Protection Act 1990
 Health and Social Care Act 2012
 AIDS (Control) Act 1987
 Children Act 2004
 NHS and Community Care Act 1990
 Mental Health Act 2007
 Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995
 Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000
 Carers (Equal Opportunities) Act 2004
 Work and Families Act 2006
 Equality Act 2010
 Human Rights Act 1998

4.3.2 The Provider must demonstrate that it is compliant with appropriate legal 
requirements and must demonstrate that it has an adequate range of 
evidence based policies, protocols and strategies in place. Where they are 
absent the Provider must demonstrate steps are being taken towards their 
development and evidence a timetable for delivery. 

4.3.3 The Provider will share all policies and updates with the commissioners. 

Page 30



13

4.4. Assurance framework
4.4.1 The Provider is expected to develop and maintain an Assurance Framework 

in consultation with the commissioners. This framework will allow all partners 
in the contract to share and manage risk effectively, thereby ensuring a high 
quality service is provided at all times. Any relevant investigations (internally, 
locally or nationally) will be incorporated into the Assurance Framework. 

4.4.2 The Provider will ensure that quarterly and annual compliance report are 
produced for the whole system are received no later than six weeks post from 
the end of quarter.  A national and local reporting schedule will be developed 
to inform performance reporting meeting dates.

4.4.3 The Provider will work towards compliance with the 

 NICE Guidance Health visiting NICE advice [LGB22], 

 Department of Health and Public Health England's Maximising the school 
nursing team contribution to the public health of school-aged children, 

 The Child and Maternal Health Intelligence Network's Child health profiles, 
The Department of Health's Health visitor implementation plan 2011 to 
2015, 

 The Department of Work and Pensions' Helping families thrive: lessons 
learned from the child poverty pilot programme, 

 HM Government's Early intervention: the next steps, 

 NHS England and Public Health England's Guide to the early years 
profiles to support interpretation and use of early years profiles data, 

 The Department of Health's Factsheet: Commissioning the national 
Healthy Child Programme, Fair Society, Healthy Lives (The Marmot 
Review 2010) to achieve the outcomes, 'school readiness' (Domain 1), 
'child development at 2–2 1/2 years' (Domain 2), 'population vaccination 
coverage' (Domain 3) and 'infant mortality' (Domain 4),  

4.4.4 The commissioner reserves the right to conduct audits on the Provider or to 
bring in external auditors to monitor elements of service provision; the 
commissioners reserve the right to conduct such audits without prior notice to 
the provider. 

4.5. Information Governance
4.5.1 Information Governance provides assurance to the commissioner as well as 

the provider. It is therefore essential that the Provider has recognised 
assurance in the field by way of a current annual approved Department of 
Health Information Governance Toolkit with Satisfactory rating. This includes 
providing staff training in this field. This submission can be audited or 
inspected at any time by the commissioning organisation. In addition the 
Provider must have a current Information Commissioners Registration 
Certificate. Information Governance must be supported by relevant and up to 
date Information Governance Policies. All breaches of information or 
confidentiality must be reported to the commissioner with 24 hours. 

4.5.2 All services should have a clear confidentiality and data handling policy that is 
understood by all members of staff and complies with:

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-nursing-public-health-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-nursing-public-health-services
http://www.chimat.org.uk/profiles
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visitor-implementation-plan-2011-to-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visitor-implementation-plan-2011-to-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/helping-families-thrive-lessons-learned-from-the-child-poverty-pilot-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/helping-families-thrive-lessons-learned-from-the-child-poverty-pilot-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-intervention-the-next-steps--2
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/hlth-vistg-prog/res/#eyp
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/qual-clin-lead/hlth-vistg-prog/res/#eyp
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transfer-of-0-5-childrens-public-health-commissioning-to-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transfer-of-0-5-childrens-public-health-commissioning-to-local-authorities


14

 Data Protection Act 1998
 Confidentiality: NHS Code of Practice

4.5.3 All services should give consideration to the potential for a client to dispute 
whether they have given consent to share their data. The Provider will ensure 
that services are able to evidence consent. 

4.5.4 The Provider will also ensure that appropriate consent policies are in place 
should Personal Identifiable Data be shared with external organisations. The 
sharing of Personal Identifiable Data must occur via secure methods of data 
transfer.

4.6. Internal Governance
4.6.1 The Provider is expected to have a strong internal governance structure and 

organisational governance plan. This should cover issues including: 
communication between service users/carers/families and staff (including 
managers and clinicians), communication between staff across the service, 
effective reporting mechanisms, client records, service data, incident reporting 
and health and safety. Such governance arrangements will take into account 
all current or any future legislation that applies, for example the Data 
Protection Act 1998. 

4.6.2 The Provider will ensure all policies and other relevant documentation (e.g. 
assessment forms, care plans) are Equality Impact Assessed prior to use.

4.7. External Governance
4.7.1 The Provider is expected to build and maintain high quality governance 

arrangements with partner agencies including the commissioners, and other 
providers/agencies and the community. A strong partnership of all related 
agencies and stakeholders will lead to better outcomes for all. The provider 
will have a clearly identified and accessible complaints and compliments 
procedure, and will act on all complaints in a timely manner. All complaints 
will be shared with the commissioners at contract management meetings, or 
earlier if the complaint impacts upon the Assurance Framework. 

4.8. Clinical Governance
4.8.1 Appropriate Clinical Governance is of paramount importance to the 

commissioners and it is intended that Clinical Governance matters will be 
overseen by the commissioners as appropriate. This includes clinical 
supervision of staff in line with current guidance. 

4.8.2 The Provider will have robust mechanisms and processes in place to manage 
all aspects of clinical governance including the management of medicines. 

4.8.3 These governance arrangements will cover, but not be limited to, 
safeguarding, untoward incidents, risk reduction and prevention, 
dissemination of alerts, training and monitoring of services. Processes will 
include escalation and notification of events to commissioners as required.

Page 32



15

4.8.4 All clinical interventions will be delivered in line with national guidance such as 
NICE and or local guidance, where applicable. The provider has a 
responsibility to keep up to date with changes in guidelines. 

4.8.5 The Serious Untoward Incident Policy will be consistent with the guidance 
issued by the revised Serious Incident Framework published in March 2015. 
The Provider (and all sub contracted agencies) will refer to Council led 
safeguarding arrangements for children and adults. 

4.8.6 The Provider is expected to have clear procedures for investigating and acting 
upon any Serious and Untoward Incidents findings. 

4.8.7 The Provider will notify the commissioner within 24 hours of critical incidents 
(this must be the trigger to investigate the incident), and further provide 
quarterly reports to the commissioner. 

4.8.8 Reports will be required on Serious Untoward Incidents, Adverse Health Care 
Incidents, and Near Misses.

4.8.9 The principal definition of a Serious Untoward Incidents is any unexpected 
event; occurring on site or elsewhere whilst in the care of the Provider chain 
of supply services involving, service patients, relatives, visitors, staff, 
volunteers, students undertaking clinical or work experience and/or their 
tutors, contractors, equipment, and building or property. And which may, or 
has:
Serious Incidents include:

 Acts and/or omissions occurring as part of NHS-funded healthcare 
(including in the community) that result in:

 Unexpected or avoidable death4 of one or more people. This includes  
 suicide/self-inflicted death; and homicide by a person in receipt of mental 

health care within the recent past5 
 Unexpected or avoidable injury to one or more people that has resulted in 

serious harm;
 Unexpected or avoidable injury to one or more people that requires further 

treatment by a healthcare professional in order to prevent:—
 the death of the service user; or
 serious harm;
 Actual or alleged abuse; sexual abuse, physical or psychological ill-

treatment, or acts of omission which constitute neglect, exploitation, 
financial or material abuse, discriminative and organisational abuse, self-
neglect, domestic abuse, human trafficking and modern day slavery 
where:

4 Caused or contributed to by weaknesses in care/service delivery (including lapses/acts and/or omission) as 
opposed to a death which occurs as a direct result of the natural course of the patient’s illness or underlying 
condition where this was managed in accordance with best practice. 
5 This includes those in receipt of care within the last 6 months but this is a guide and each case should be 
considered individually - it may be appropriate to declare a serious incident for a homicide by a person 
discharged from mental health care more than 6 months previously.

Page 33



16

- healthcare did not take appropriate action/intervention to 
safeguard against such abuse occurring6; or where abuse 
occurred during the provision of NHS-funded care. 

4.8.10 This includes abuse that resulted in (or was identified through) a Serious 
Case Review (SCR), Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR), Safeguarding

Adult Enquiry or other externally-led investigation, where delivery of NHS 
funded care caused/contributed towards the incident (see Part One; sections 
1.3 and 1.5 for further information).

4.8.11 A Never Event - all Never Events are defined as serious incidents although 
not all Never Events necessarily result in serious harm or death. See Never 
Events Policy and Framework for the national definition and further 
information;7

4.8.12 An incident (or series of incidents) that prevents, or threatens to prevent, an 
organisation’s ability to continue to deliver an acceptable quality of 
healthcare services, including (but not limited to) the following:

 Failures in the security, integrity, accuracy or availability of information 
often described as data loss and/or information governance related 
issues (see Appendix 2 for further information);

 Property damage;
 Security breach/concern;8
 Incidents in population-wide healthcare activities like screening9 and 

immunisation programmes where the potential for harm may extend to a 
large population;

 Inappropriate enforcement/care under the Mental Health Act (1983) and 
the Mental Capacity Act (2005) including Mental Capacity Act, 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (MCA DOLS);

 Systematic failure to provide an acceptable standard of safe care (this 
may include incidents, or series of incidents, which necessitate ward/ 
unit closure or suspension of services10); or

6 This may include failure to take a complete history, gather information from which to base care plan/treatment, 
assess mental capacity and/or seek consent to treatment, or fail to share information when to do so would be in 
the best interest of the client in an effort to prevent further abuse by a third party and/or to follow policy on 
safer recruitment.
7 Never Events arise from failure of strong systemic protective barriers which can be defined as successful, 
reliable and comprehensive safeguards or remedies e.g. a uniquely designed connector to prevent administration 
of a medicine via the incorrect route - for which the importance, rationale and good practice use should be 
known to, fully understood by, and robustly sustained throughout the system from suppliers, procurers, 
requisitioners, training units, and front line staff alike. See the  Never Events Policy and Framework available 
online at:  http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patientsafety/never-events/  
8 This will include absence without authorised leave for patients who present a significant risk to themselves or 
the public.  
9 Updated guidance will be issued in 2015.  Until that point the Interim Guidance for Managing Screening 
Incidents (2013) should be followed.
10 It is recognised that in some cases ward closure may be the safest/ most responsible action to take but in order 
to identify problems in service/care delivery , contributing factors and fundamental issues which need to be 
resolved an investigation must be undertaken 

Page 34

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patientsafety/never-events/


17

 Activation of Major Incident Plan (by provider, commissioner  or relevant 
agency)11

 Major loss of confidence in the service, including prolonged adverse 
media coverage or public concern about the quality of healthcare or an 
organisation12.

4.8.13 The Provider must ensure there is a policy and procedures regarding Infection 
Control for the whole treatment system.

4.9. Independent Case File Audit 
4.9.1 The commissioners reserve the right to request an independent case file audit. 

The Provider will facilitate access to the full case file on an agreed sample basis 
at critical parts of the system so that the commissioning aims and objectives 
and interests of the service users, funders and people of Salford are fully 
realised. 

4.9.2 This will be undertaken in a sensitive manner, in the spirit of learning and 
improvement. Key findings and recommendations will be acted upon to 
increase quality and improve performance and service user experience. 

4.9.3 Service users will have a role in designing case audit questions which the 
Provider will then deliver on in a timely manner, in accordance with good data 
governance, but also public sector finance. 

4.9.4 The Provider will ensure the necessary permissions (to include permission of 
the Provider organisation and all sub-contractors) are in place prior to the 
commencement of the contract. 

5. Workforce 

5.1 The Provider will ensure that all staff employed across the system are fully 
aware of the service specification and performance managed as to the 
performance and quality requirements of this service. 

5.2 The Provider will evidence workforce development in an annual workforce 
analysis report. 

5.3 The Provider must provide and maintain a detailed description of staffing 
structures across the treatment system inclusive of managerial relationships.

5.4 The Provider will ensure that all services have and adhere to a recruitment 
policy.

5.5 The Provider will ensure staff competence and professional development in 
line with any nationally accredited occupational standards. The workforce will 
be competent in dealing with issues concerning the children of service users 
and their families and carers. 

11 For further information relating to emergency preparedness, resilience and response, visit: 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/ 
12 As an outcome loss in confidence/ prolonged media coverage is hard to predict. Often serious incidents of this 
nature will be identified and reported retrospectively and this does not automatically signify a failure to report. 

Page 35

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/


18

5.6 The Provider is expected to create opportunities for volunteers, as well as 
making use of the existing volunteer workforce and provide placements for 
students and trainees from a variety of professions and work settings (e.g. 
nursing, social work and care, counselling). 

5.7 The Provider will also be proactive in engaging volunteers in the delivery of 
the contract, and ensure that they receive the same support as paid members 
of the workforce.  

5.8 The Provider will ensure that all services provide all staff and volunteers an 
induction and basic training programme appropriate for the needs of service 
users within a reasonable period of taking up appointment. 

5.9 The Provider will ensure that all services are sufficiently staffed to ensure 
continuity of service, taking into account sickness, holidays and other 
absences. 

5.10 The Provider will ensure that all staff have access to appropriate supervision 
and training to develop and maintain their professional competence and that 
staff qualifications are up to date, including those for whom periodic 
registration is required.

5.11 The Provider will ensure that all volunteers have access to appropriate 
supervision and training to develop the required skills to deliver the contract

5.12 The Provider will ensure that staff fulfilling a managerial role have appropriate 
management competencies and that specialists have training and 
competencies in line with guidance from the relevant professional bodies / 
royal college. The competence of practitioners with regard to prescribing 
interventions is paramount.

 
5.13 The Provider will ensure that all services fully comply with statutory 

requirements (e.g. protection of vulnerable adults, safeguarding children, 
rehabilitation of offenders), conduct Disclosure and Baring Service checks for 
all applicants and monitor the existing workforce in this respect.

6. Service Users

6.1 The Provider will ensure that all services meet the following Care Quality 
Commission priorities: 

 Making sure that care is centred on people’s needs and protects 
their rights: This means people being able to shape their own care 
around their needs, and to have a voice. To do this, they need up-to-date, 
relevant and accurate information so that they can make informed choices 
about their care.

 Championing joined-up care: This means coordinated and integrated 
health and social care, so that the services people receive are joined up 
and their experience is a good one. This also means the pathways, for 
example across primary and acute services, and when young people 
move into adult care. The Commissioner and Provider will work together, 

Page 36



19

and with people who use services, so that outcomes for people are 
improved.

 Acting swiftly to help eliminate poor quality care: People have a right 
to expect that, if a service falls below the essential standards expected, 
this is identified and acted on quickly. 

 Promoting high quality care: People should be able to access and 
experience high quality services that put them first and respect their 
rights. The Commissioner and Provider will work together to promote this.

 Regulating effectively, in partnership: The Commissioner and Provider 
will be sensitive to the requirements and imperatives of each other’s 
organisations for the benefit of local people, and make sure that the 
benefits to people significantly outweigh costs, including those incurred by 
others, in meeting expectations. 

6.2 As a minimum the Provider will ensure that regular client consultation occurs 
at all levels of service and evidence to the Commissioner ways in which 
service user feedback has been incorporated into service planning and 
delivery.

6.3 The Provider will ensure that services are flexible and responsive to the 
needs of service users. Services will actively involve the individual and 
significant others in the treatment journey, allowing them to make informed 
choices based on the range of interventions available to them. All 
interventions will be fully explained and choices will be offered where 
appropriate. All users of the services offered will be treated with respect at all 
times. 

7. Social Value

7.1 By social value we mean optimising and balancing the social, economic and 
environmental well-being of Salford and its people. It is about long-term 
investment, value and outcomes and should be applied according to the 
ethical values of openness, honesty, social responsibility and caring for 
others. Social value arrangements and impacts will be monitored and 
reported by both the Provider and Commissioners.

7.2 The principles of social value in Salford:

A Growing City
• Reducing worklessness 
• Providing local jobs
• Improving education and skills
• Buying Salford goods and services
• Adopting the best working practices and conditions
• Increasing resilience of the workforce – keeping people in work
• Creating a better place for businesses to operate and grow
• Facilitating good links between local businesses 

A Co-operative City
• Increasing opportunities for volunteers
• Increased ownership and involvement of service users and wider 

communities 

Page 37



20

• Actively promoting equalities
• Increasing positive role models
• Increasing community resilience – people’s ability to help themselves and 

each other

An Innovative City
• Improving local integration – operating within existing and new networks at 

a local level 
• Demonstrating a clear role in reducing demand
• Improving the place – public spaces and parks
• Making services more accessible
• Reducing energy use
•  Increasing recycling and reuse of resources
• Reducing crime and disorder

A Caring City
•  Improving family life
•  Raising people’s aspirations – including in education, employment, living  

standards and social interaction 
•  Tackling health inequalities – closing the health gap both within Salford 

and with the rest of the country
•  Improving living standards and reducing poverty
•  Supporting public sector services reach the people of Salford who need 

them 

8. Overarching Delivery Requirements

8.1. Role of Families 

The family will be central to Salford’s 0-19 health services. All aspects of the system 
must be designed, delivered and reviewed with the role of the family in mind. This will 
include a consideration of how the impact on each and every child of those in receipt 
of the service is assessed and addressed. It will include the development of systems, 
pathways and interventions that minimise any negative impact on children. In short, 
the voice of the child must be central to our system and evidenced in reporting. 

8.2. Psychosocial interventions 

8.2.1 The provision of psychosocial interventions should be seen as a key element 
of the 0-19 health system. All service users will be offered a range of 
interventions at the start of the journey, at each care plan review and actively 
encouraged to take part. This will include both 1 to 1 key working sessions 
and access to other interventions. The Provider will deliver a dynamic range 
of interventions that are regularly evaluated and reviewed to ensure 
effectiveness and accredited where appropriate. 

8.2.2 Psychosocial interventions will be delivered in line with NICE guidance. The 
Provider will deliver a holistic family centred approach to care planning. It is 
expected that the range of support will allow for differing needs and 
approaches to match identified need. 

8.2.3 The service will refer where appropriate to a full range of support programmes 
to build social capital, focusing on issues including: 

 Substance misuse (including drug, alcohol and poly substance misuse).

Page 38



21

 Relapse prevention.
 Housing.
 Relationships (including parenting).
 Education (including links with local educational providers and Early Years 

settings in the Private, Voluntary and Independent Sector and the 
Maintained Sector).

 Employment (effective links with Job Centre Plus, pre-employment and 
voluntary work groups).

 Life skills (e.g. budgeting, basic cooking skills, nutrition, anger 
management, social skill development).

8.2.4 Evidenced based alternative therapies will be used as required to promote 
health and well-being.  The Provider will have an evidence based policy and 
clear procedures in place, agreed with local clinical governance. These 
interventions will be offered in a variety of ways (both internally and externally 
through other partners) to provide individuals and their carers/families with the 
social support and life skills development required to engage fully in society. 

8.2.5 It is expected that the Provider will be proactive and creative in engaging 
individuals and groups, and flexible in the range of interventions offered so as 
to maximise the benefit of such provision and to best meet the needs of the 
individual. The Provider will develop strong working relationships with partner 
agencies to ensure effective delivery. Interventions should be delivered in a 
range of settings to encourage involvement. 

8.3. Prescribing

8.3.1 The Provider is responsible for registering with the NHS Business Services 
Authority (NHS BSA) and informing the NHS BSA of all their prescriber details 
for ePACT and in order to obtain prescription pads. The Provider will co-
operate with the commissioners around access requirements to ePACT and 
prescribing data. 

8.3.2 The Provider will have a clear evidence based and cost effective prescribing 
policy and formulary and will take account of the latest guidance. 

8.3.3 All instances of prescribing and all changes to prescribed interventions will be 
communicated with the service users GP; this must be communicated on the 
same day. 

8.3.4 The Provider must ensure that comprehensive patient clinical records, 
including all prescribing, are maintained. The Provider will inform the Regional 
Accountable Officer for controlled drugs of all incidents where a controlled 
drug is involved even if the incident is later resolved. The reporting will be in 
the format required of the Accountable Officer. The Provider will co-operate 
with the regional Accountable Officer as required around prescribing data and 
any investigations. 

9. System Detail

9.1. Overview

Eligibility

Page 39



22

Service users must be resident and or educated in Salford.

Age
All service users aged 0-19 will be considered children and young people. 
This will be reflected in the support offered. 

Family
Family and extended family of service users are eligible for those parts of the 
support system specifically aimed at families. 

Location 
Unless otherwise specified each element of the service will be located at 
convenient points around the city. Access points will be determined by service 
user consultation and provider engagement with the Joint Strategic Needs 
Analysis. 

Exclusions and contra-indications
Users of the 0-19 service must have no contra-indications. All relevant need 
and risk will be assessed and managed. No one will be excluded from support 
entirely.

10. Information Technology 

The Provider will have proven IT systems able to deliver the required performance 
data expected across the whole integrated service. Such systems must be fully 
compliant with national data sets and the Provider will be responsible for maintaining 
this compliance. 

10.1. Objectives

 Compliance with the Data Protection Act. 
 Compliance with Caldecott Guidance and Practice.
 Compliance with Information Commission Guidance and Practice.
 Timely and accurate delivery performance and other data requests from 

local, regional and national commissioners.
 Timely and accurate extraction of performance management, strategic 

data, and cohort data for ad hoc studies and longitudinal research into 
effectiveness.

 Seamless flow of service user records through the system.
 Assist with child protection and safeguarding needs.

The Caldecott Review and the Data Protection Act 1998 enforce strict legal 
guidelines to the storage, maintenance and access to service user information. The 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Information Governance initiative both 
support the need to maintain the principles of effective confidential data control. Data 
sharing for the purposes of Community Safety must also comply with the overarching 
powers of the Information Commission. 

10.2. Clinical Management System

Providers must have a clinical management system in operation. It must be able to 
record all relevant information for each individual throughout their treatment and 
recovery journey. This will include (but is not limited to) care planning; health care 

Page 40



23

assessments; referrals in, out and through the system; activity occurring outside of 
structured treatment. 

10.3. Reporting

The system must be capable of reporting on performance against local priorities. This 
is set out within the performance management section of this document and will be 
finalised during the transition phase following contract award. 

10.4. Accessibility and usage

10.4.1 The Clinical Management System must be accessible to all parts of the 
system irrespective of location or specialism based on need. This will include 
any sub-contracted provision. The Provider must determine data responsibility 
roles and have agreements in place prior to the commencement of the 
contract. 

10.4.2 The system must have sufficient licences for the number of users. Licence 
periods must be appropriate to ensure the continuity of service is not 
disrupted.

10.4.3 Significant changes to clinical management systems must not take place 
without providing the Commissioner with prior notification. Any changes, 
including upgrades, must be planned in order to avoid significant disruption to 
service delivery.

10.4.4 The Provider needs to ensure policies and protocols of all component parts of 
the system are aligned. This will include data flow across the health economy.

10.4.5 The IT system must be able to transfer records easily to a new system when 
required with minimum disruption to service delivery.

10.5. Case Management 

10.5.1 A Case Management approach is a key priority to ensure that the right 
treatment is offered, at the right time, in the right place, for the right amount 
of time.

10.5.2 The Provider will ensure and oversee a central intelligence gathering, 
profiling and liaison function for all risk stratified service users, with a 
clinically significant presentation in accordance with the relevant national 
guidance as described elsewhere; the key functions are: 

 Screening
 Assessment of risk
 Determination of need
 Allocation of resources

10.5.3 The provider will ensure that caseload management and care co-ordination 
are central to the delivery of high quality care, to ensure care plan objectives 
are met.

10.5.4 Outside of structured treatment the term case management will not include 
care-planning but does include:

Page 41



24

 Community Care Assessments
 Fair Access to Care Service (FACS)
 Safeguarding
 Risk management
 Other factors relating to individual care (e.g. family and carer information, 

ETE, Housing, physical and mental health, social care)

10.5.5 The provider will regularly review provision to ensure that all interventions 
are meeting the needs of service users. 

10.5.6 All service users will have an appropriate needs assessment and risk 
assessment as required. Those accessing structured treatment will have a 
comprehensive assessment and an active care plan. 

10.5.7 Service users will experience care that is personally relevant to building 
assets and motivation, whilst mitigating complexity, and severity

10.5.8 The provider will ensure close working relationships with partners to ensure 
that those with a dual diagnosis receive effective interventions across the 
spectrum of need.

10.5.9 The provider will actively encourage the involvement of carers and families 
in the care plan.

10.5.10 The provider will ensure timely and effective communication with the wider 
clinical network, especially GPs and Pharmacists. This will include regular 
updates regarding reviews and/or significant changes to the care plan. 
Significant updates will be provided in writing.

11. Social Marketing and Communications 

11.1. Aims 

 To let the whole population know in a clear and accessible way that support in 
all forms is possible and present in Salford. 

 To make the seeking of help a realistic and desirable option for all parents, 
children and young people

11.2. Objectives 

 To increase numbers of unknown referrals into the system. 
 To encourage self-treatment, primarily by raising self-knowledge, self-efficacy 

and self-help by accessing facilities such as 1:1 support, groups and 
fellowships, and web and book based resources. 

 To enable and equip people to engage in their own care both individually and 
collectively via formal groups, informal groups and associations and 
fellowships – ideally at both a city wide and neighbourhood level.

11.3. Communications Strategy

The Provider will ensure the design and implementation of a communications 
strategy detailing how they will respond to the full range of communication 

Page 42



25

requirements including a response to general enquiries, on-going care 
management issues and the handling of crisis and emergency situations. 

The strategy will cover communications with service users, staff, partner 
agencies, the public, the media and commissioners.

11.4. Marketing Plan

11.4.1 The Provider must ensure the development, implementation and continuous 
evaluation of a comprehensive marketing plan. The provider will embed 
targeted communications and an overarching and effective communications 
process into the heart of service design and delivery. The provider is 
expected to use technology as a means to provide innovative communication 
solutions as a way of underpinning effective service delivery.

11.4.2 The provider will identify and develop effective and productive relationships 
with all media in Salford and Greater Manchester. The commissioners expect 
the Provider to be proactive and innovative in their approach to 
communications. The Provider will respond effectively to media enquiries and 
work with the commissioners and other partner organisations to generate a 
flow of positive, good news press releases (the target will be a minimum of 12 
articles per year) and/or other media related issues. 

11.4.3 The Provider will also work with the commissioner, to where appropriate, 
jointly respond to media related issues. 

11.5. Social marketing

The Provider will develop a range of evidence based and locally relevant 
social marketing campaigns which will be delivered via multiple 
communication channels. The campaigns will be based on regularly updated 
and reviewed social marketing insight analysis and public consultation 
exercises – including at a neighbourhood level as service coverage improves. 
Campaigns must be targeted at an appropriate audience, credible, and 
realistic in their aims.

11.6. Service Delivery 

11.6.1 The expectation is that the Provider will employ innovative channels of 
communication including internet, mobile telephones and applications.

11.6.2 It is recognised that behaviour change is most likely to occur and be 
sustained through a combination of population, community and individual-
level interventions. A suite of guidance on behaviour change, including 
behaviour change at population and community level, NICE public health 
guidance. 

11.6.3 The Provider will ensure high quality information is directed at parents and 
children about where to go for support. 

11.6.4 The Provider will work with the commissioners to support related public health 
initiatives in the locality, including early year’s oral health, nutrition, infant 
feeding and babies first foods, managing obesity, mental health and further 
public health initiatives to be discussed. . 

Page 43



26

11.6.5 The Provider will implement innovative communication systems to effectively 
engage with service users. Examples could include web based 
communications, mobile phone reminders for appointments, blue tooth 
messaging facilities etc. 

11.6.6 The Provider will develop communication channels through which 
professionals can gain access, for example to impart or request urgent 
information. The organisation should be immediately available and be capable 
of dealing with such situations speedily and effectively. 

11.6.7 The Provider will be responsible for the active promotion of all services 
under the contract, featuring high quality and accessible information, to the 
following audiences: 
 The immediate service user group.
 The families, carers and concerned others of service users.

12 Contract value
12.1 The contract value for 2017/18 is £5,351,258, a reduction will be expected in 

Year 2 and 3 of the contract, reducing the contract value to £5,270,472 per 
annum. The commissioner will work with the provider to review the service 
and manage reductions. 

12.2 The amounts may be subject to change in the event that Local Authority 
budgets are reduced. In such circumstances the Commissioners would work 
with the Provider to manage the reduction. 

12.3 Annual Contract Values April 2017 to March 2020. 

Year: Contract Value Payments monthly in 
advance: 

2017/2018 £5,351,258 12 x £445,938.17

2018/2019 £5,270,472 12 x £439,206.00

2019/2020 £5,270,472 12 x £439,206.00

ALL CHARGES, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED, ARE INCLUSIVE OF 
VAT.

12.4 Mandated Facilities and Other Costs
12.5.1 The Provider is expected to provide and operate all required premises within 

the contract value. As a minimum, venues will be available across Salford in 
accordance with the picture of need, either from a permanent or shared site to 
NHS clinical standards. Mobile provision from a centrally located site is 
another option. 

12.5.2 The Provider will ensure that all premises used for service delivery are of a 
high standard and meet all legislative requirements. The unavailability of 
appropriate accommodation shall not be a reason for service non-provision. 

Page 44



27

12.5.3 The Provider will conduct regular risk assessments on all premises utilised. 

13. Contract
13.1. Compliance 
13.1.1 The Provider is expected to meet the identified targets within the budget set 

for this contract. Failure to meet targets will result in the commissioners 
requesting an action plan to redress the unmet target. The commissioners 
reserve the right to issue a default notice in line with contractual requirements 
for failure to address performance issues following the implementation of an 
action plan. 

13.1.2 The commissioners expect to build a strong and effective working relationship 
with the Provider, with shared values and vision regarding the delivery of this 
contract; a cultural alignment between commissioner and provider. 

13.2. Contract management
13.2.1 The commissioners will manage this contract via contract management 

meetings which will be open to all relevant commissioners. The Provider will 
be invited and expected to attend, produce relevant reports including finance 
and evidence of delivery and outcomes as required by the contract and the 
associated Performance Management Framework and other monitoring 
documents. It is the commissioners aim to ensure that the governance 
arrangements applied to this specification are outward as well as inward 
looking and therefore views and experiences of stakeholder organisations in 
terms of the delivery of this service specification will be sought as part of 
contract management. 

13.2.2 The provider will keep a risk register for all risk factors relating to this contract, 
which will be shared openly with the commissioners. 

13.2.3 The provider is expected to be transparent in all areas of contract delivery and 
provide early warnings with an accompanying action plan for any areas of 
underperformance, detailed in an assurance framework. 

13.2.4 On the expiry or termination of this Contract or termination of any Service the 
Provider must co-operate fully with the Authority to migrate the Services in an 
orderly manner to the successor provider, which shall include the transfer of 
all relevant case files and clinical data as appropriate to individual cases to 
inform continuity of care, and the Provider will maintain its own copies of any 
such information.

13.3. Charges and Payment
Payment Options:

a) The Authority shall pay within 30 days of receipt of invoice
b) The Authority shall pay via Purchasing Card

The Provider shall invoice the Authority for payment of the Charges in advance at the 
beginning of each quarter

13.4. Review of the service specification
13.4.1 The commissioners may review and/or vary this Service Specification from 

time to time in the interests of service users. The service provider will be 

Page 45



28

closely involved in this process to identify any implications (financial and 
human resources) for service delivery.

13.4.2 The commissioners will engage in a variety of change management 
processes with the Provider in the light of performance and evaluation of 
outcomes. 

13.4.3 The commissioners reserve the right to review the content and detail of this 
service specification on an annual basis to take account of changes in 
national policy and funding. This may also include the inclusion or exclusion 
of specific elements of services. 

13.5. Statement as to Transfer of Undertakings (TUPE)
The Provider will ensure that:
 ‘…Where TUPE applies to the existing employees within the service(s) the provider 
will comply with all of its obligations under the TUPE regulations…’ 

13.6. Performance management 
The performance management of this contract will be done using a number of 
methods, including national data sets, a Performance Management Framework, 
qualitative reporting, financial and workforce reporting, service user, family, and carer 
satisfaction surveys, and public panels.  This will ensure that both hard and soft 
measures are utilised to monitor the delivery of the contract. The Provider will be 
accountable for performance across all parts of the treatment system cover by this 
specification.

13.7. Performance meetings
Performance meetings will be formal meetings with Terms of Reference drafted and 
agreed by both parties. They will take place on a 6 weekly basis. Prior to the 
performance meetings the Provider will supply the commissioner with data and 
information in a format agreed and of any areas of underperformance or concern. 
The Provider will provide exception reports and will address any issues.

13.8. Reporting to Boards
Summaries of performance will be reported by the commissioners to relevant boards 
as required in the changing public sector. 

13.9 Safeguarding 
Safeguarding is a core part of the programme, which runs through the four levels of 
intervention. The provider will provide appropriate and effective safeguarding 
services and will be expected to adhere to relevant national and local requirements 
and guidance, and implement wherever necessary. Reference should be made to the 
supporting section of the service specification for requirements on staff, training, 
supervision, partnership working, information sharing and confidentiality. 
The provider will: 

 work in partnership with other key stakeholders to help promote the welfare 
and safety of children and young people. For example, contributing to keeping 
pupils safe from the dangers of radicalisation and extremism and promoting 
safe practices and a culture of safety, including e-safety 

Page 46



29

 work collaboratively to support children and young people where there are 
identified health needs, or where they are in the child protection system, 
providing therapeutic public health interventions for the child and family, and 
referring children and families to specialist medical support, where 
appropriate 

 contribute to reducing the number of children who enter the safeguarding 
system through preventative and early help work as part of their Community, 
Universal and Universal Plus role 

 support safeguarding and access and contribution to targeted family support, 
including active engagement in the Troubled Families (Family Focus) 
programme 

 deliver accordingly in line with local inter-agency and internal safeguarding 
policies and procedures as determined by the local Children’s Safeguarding 
Board 

 be aware of children with an early help assessment, child in need, child 
protection or Looked After Child plan. Work with the designated school 
safeguarding lead and local authority services, providing assessments and 
reports as required 

 contribute to multi-agency decision-making, assessments, planning and 
interventions, relating to children in need, children at risk of harm and Looked 
After Children. This includes providing Review Looked After Child health 
assessments (in accordance with Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of 
Looked After Children Statutory Guidance 2015) and reports in accordance 
with the local Safeguarding Children Board policies and procedures and 
national guidance such as Working Together to Safeguard Children (HM 
Government, 2015) 

 Where appropriate and the child or young person is known to the provider, 
senior team members will attend child protection conferences or meetings 
when they are the most appropriate health representative and there is a 
specific outcome to contribute towards 

 work within inter-agency and single agency protocols, policies and 
procedures and in accordance with Working Together to Safeguard Children 
(HM Government, 2015), and use the national Safeguarding pathway for 
health professionals to provide clarity on roles and responsibilities for this 
programme 

 be responsible for all general enquiries, contributing to individual case 
management issues, handling or crisis and emergency situations with other 
partners as required, informing the commissioner of such activity through 
routine contract monitoring arrangements or directly where it relates to a crisis 
or an emergency that warrants this being shared as a matter of urgency 

Local providers may also wish to utilise the safeguarding professional guidance. 

13.9 Acceptance and inclusion criteria 
The service must ensure equal access for all children and young people aged 0-19 
years and their families, regardless of disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, sex or sexual orientation and race – this includes ethnic or national 
origins, colour or nationality, religion, belief or lack of belief. 
Interdependencies – a whole system approach 

Page 47



30

Health visitors and school nurses as leaders and key delivers of the Healthy Child 
Programme must establish good working relationships with all local key partners 
outlined in the diagram below.

Figure 2 Interdependencies diagram 

The commissioner would also like to see the following:

 provider representation on the Health and Wellbeing Board, Children’s 
Safeguarding Boards and Children’s Trust (if requested) and developing 
services in line with the board/trust’s priorities 

 an area-based service structured in line with local children’s services, 
working together to deliver integrated services for children and their 
families, with a focus on promotion, prevention and early intervention 

Page 48



31

 A named health visitor/school nurse linked to each GP practice and 
appropriate setting (for example, school or Early Years setting) with an 
agreed schedule of regular contact meetings for referrals and 
collaborative service delivery (if requested) to ensure: Best start in life and 
beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, young people and 
families 

 direct partnership with schools to provide improved access and delivery of 
the Healthy Child Programme and, through this, the health and wellbeing 
core offer 

 support for early years and education services in their delivery of health 
improvements to improve outcomes for children, young people and their 
families 

 promotion of the wide range of support that children and their families are 
entitled to, and, as part of that process, encouraging children and young 
people to access the service 

 promoting an integrated approach to improving child and family health 
locally, including leading partnerships with early years settings, schools 
and other partner agencies including social care 

 health visitors and school nurses to link to wider stakeholder and services, 
for example, local A&E services and the local Troubled Families team and 
Early Help Services (or local equivalent) 

 service user engagement needs to be established in the design, 
performance monitoring and evaluation of provision 

13.10 Materials, tools, equipment and other technical requirements 

13.10.1 Public health nursing teams (0-19) use the Department of Health 
professional pathways and facts sheets to support delivery. These can be 
accessed at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/developing-the-
public-health-contribution-of-nurses-and-midwives-tools-and-models. 

13.11.2 Public health nursing teams (0-19) will be required to access: 

 validated tools for assessing development and identifying health 
needs 

 personal child health records (often referred to as ‘the red book’) - 
paper or electronic according to local provision 

 validated tools for assessing individual health outcomes, eg 
outcomes star 

 IT systems and mobile technology for recording interventions and 
outcomes in the CHIS; thus capturing real time data and reducing 
duplication 

 access to equipment to support agile working, eg mobile phones and 
tablets 

 equipment for measuring children’s weight and height 
 use of social networking and other web-based tools to enable 

workforce training, professional networking and information and 
support for children, young people and families 

 national and local campaign materials, for example, Start4Life, 
Change4Life 

 health promotion materials 

Page 49



32

13.11 Looked After Children

13.12.1 Across Greater Manchester 0-19 services have continued to undertake 
Looked After Children health assessments and this is a mandated 
requirement of this Greater Manchester version of the national 
specification.

13.12.2 Looked After Children: The 0-19 service lead will be the Lead health 
professional for all Pre-school and school aged children on their caseload, 
as the Lead health professional they are responsible for:

 Ensuring the completion of Review Health Assessments within the 
statutory timeframe.

 Completing health summaries and health care plans which meet the 
quality standards.

 Attending or providing health information for statutory LAC reviews.
 Coordinating and reviewing any actions identified on the health care 

plan.
 Acting as a contact point for the child and their carer. 
 To provide targeted clinical work with children as identified on their 

health care plan or by other form of assessment or referral.

13.12 Children with special needs and disabilities

13.12.1 This includes families with children with special educational needs (SEN). 
The Children and Families Act (2014)   introduces major changes to 
support for children and young people with SEN, creating education, health 
and care (EHC) plans to replace SEN statements. The SEND reform 
programme will enable children and their parents or carers to be fully 
involved in decisions about their support and what they want to achieve. 
 Councils and local health partners will jointly plan and commission 
services for children with SEND. The basic goals are to give families a 
greater involvement in decisions about their support and to encourage 
social care, education and health services to work together more closely in 
supporting those with special needs or disabilities.

13.12.2 The Act includes the requirement that EHC plans will need to reviewed 
regularly and cover people up to the age of 25 years old. Plans are subject 
to statutory annual review and can remain in place up to the age of 25 
years.

13.12.3 The role of 0-19 service leads is to work in partnership with other services 
in supporting the supporting the integrated EHC needs assessment and 
planning process of the education health and care plans for children 
between 0-19 through sharing information about the child’s and family’s 
needs and reviewing in collaboration with other services what they can do 
to support the delivery of these plans. In addition make sure the 
appropriate health visiting services form part of the high intensity multi-
agency services for families where there are safeguarding and child 
protection concerns but for whom an EHC plan is not required or 
appropriate.

14 Applicable quality requirements 

Page 50



33

14.1 The provider and the commissioner will work in collaboration to identify 
opportunities for leaner working and/or cost and efficiency savings at each 
quarterly review. This is likely Best start in life and beyond: Improving public 
health outcomes for children, young people and families to include 
consideration of how to make best use of modern technology and 
appropriate use of support staff within the health visitor and school nursing 
team and wider workforce. 

14.2 The provider should highlight where there is an absence of local services for 
onward referral to more specialist support so that future commissioning 
plans can include mitigation for/provision of these. This is particularly urgent 
where need is identified but NICE guidance pathways are truncated at the 
onwards referral stage because local services do not currently exist.

15 Supervision 
Supervision and registration of public health nurses 

15.1 The commissioner needs to consider professional conduct on public health 
nursing (0-19) and ensure there is professional policy to provide both clinical 
and safeguarding supervision for all public health nursing staff (0-19). The 
safeguarding pathway will be of particular interest to providers to support 
supervision. 

15.2 Providers should ensure they have policies and procedures in place to 
provide clinical supervision, safeguarding supervision and mechanisms of 
risk assessment for any public health nursing service involved. Best start in 
life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, young people 
and families.

15.3 The Local authority is aware that all community public health nurses 
(SCPHNs) are required to revalidate their fitness to practice every three 
years. Revalidation is the term for the new mandatory process that all 
Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC 2015) registered nurses, midwives and 
specialist community public health nurses (SCPHNs, including health visitors) 
will need to engage with to demonstrate that they continue to practise safely 
and effectively; and to allow them to renew their registration and remain on 
the professional register.

16  Record keeping, data collection systems and information sharing

16.1 In line with contractual requirements, providers will ensure that robust 
systems are in place to meet the legal requirements of the Data Protection 
Act 1998 and the safeguarding of personal data at all times. Providers should 
also refer to ‘Record Keeping: Guidance for Nurses and Midwives’, NMC, 
2009.

16.2 In line with the above and following good practice guidance, the provider will 
have agreed data sharing protocols with partner agencies including other 
health care providers, children’s social care and the police to enable effective 
services to be provided to children and their families. Providers will ensure 
that all staff have access to information sharing guidance including sharing 
information to safeguard or protect children.

Page 51



34

16.3 Providers must ensure information governance policies and procedures are 
in place and understood. 

16.4 The Personal Child Health Record (PCHR) will be completed routinely by 
professionals supporting parents and carers to use proactively.

16.5 Appropriate records will be kept in CHIS or similar system to enable high-
quality data collection to support the delivery, review and performance 
management of services.

16.6 Providers must ensure that staff are using and are trained to use suitable 
electronic record keeping equipment that includes data collection systems 
such as:

16.6.1 Ensure the 0-19 service is accessible to all families with young 
children. This may require the use of appropriate technology e.g. 
health promoting apps, secure text messaging with clients, secure 
email facilities with clients and other agencies.

16.6.2  The use, where necessary to meet needs and make the service 
accessible of remote access e.g. laptops and tablets, mobile phones, 
teleconference facilities, videoconferencing facilities.

16.7 *2-2.5 year review (Ages and Stages Questionnaire)* The PHOF indicator 
2.5, development at age 2-2.5, will require the implementation of a data 
collection about the Ages and Stages questionnaire to be used in the 2-2.5 
year review.  The data items required are likely to include: date of birth of 
child, date of completion of ASQ-3 questionnaire, whether the questionnaire 
was completed as part of HCP 2-2.5 year review/integrated review, which 
questionnaire was used (eg24/27/30 month), ASQ domain scores 
(Communication/Gross Motor/Fine Motor/Problem-solving/Personal-Social), 
gestational age at birth, gender, postcode, ethnicity and date of birth of 
mother. Providers and Area Teams should make plans to ensure that the 
mechanisms for data collection of the 2-2.5 year review are in place in 
readiness for this collection. 

16.8 Assessment of children and families

Initial assessments of children and families must be carried out by the 0-19 
service. Certain re-assessments may be delegated according to the 
professional judgement of the SCPHN

16.9 SCPHNs  must respond to all referrals.

16.9.1 Referrals, from whatever source, (including families transferring in) will 
receive a response to the referrer within 5 working days, with contact made 
with the family within 5 working days. 

16.9.2 Urgent referrals, including all safeguarding referrals, must receive a same 
day or next working day response to the referrer and contact with the family 
within two working days. While it is preferable that urgent referrals are dealt 
with by the named service lead for the family involved, to ensure these visits 
are prioritised, providers should have a process in place for when the named 
service lead is not available.   

Page 52



35

16.9.3 When a child transfers into an area the HV must check newborn blood spot 
status and arrange for urgent screening if necessary.  

16.9.4 Providers must develop their own local area newborn blood spot policies 
and pathways in partnership with local midwifery, CHIS and GP colleagues.

16.9.5 The HV must check status of, and record, all screening results including 
hearing, Newborn Infant Physical Examination (NIPE) and Hep B schedule, 
immunisation status and refer immediately for any follow up necessary. 

16.10 Caseload holding 

16.10.1 As a minimum there must be a named HV for every family up to 1 year of 
age and for all children 0-5 identified as having needs at the Universal Plus/ 
Partnership Plus levels.

16.10.2 As a minimum there must be one school nurse per locality providing support 
to primary and secondary schools.   

16.11 Pathway 

16.11.1 The pathway for children and families will be seamless across the lifecourse 
they will work with practitioners who best meet their needs, the practitioner 
will seek to retain families whom they have worked with and have a good 
understanding of their needs. Where additional needs are identified the 
practitioner will signpost and work with other agencies to ensure needs are 
met whilst overseeing the provision of care and retaining responsibility for 
the health needs of the child and family. 

16.11.2 Children being supported at Universal Partnership Plus must be formally 
identified to the 0-19 health Service as per local procedure in order ensure 
continued targeted support.

16.12 Removals out of area 

16.12.1 Where a child moves out of area the 0-19 health Service must ensure that 
the child’s health records are transferred to CHIS for transfer to the receiving 
Childrens Health Service in the new area within 2 weeks of notification. 

16.12.2 Procedures must be in place to trace and risk-assess missing children and 
those whose address is not known with systems in place to follow up and 
trace children who do not attend for 9 month and 2 year assessments. 

16.12.3 Direct contact must be made to handover all child protection cases.

17 Provider’s Premises

17.1.1 Parents should be offered a choice of locations and times for visits which 
best meet their needs, e.g. GP surgeries, children’s centres, community 
health services, the home, health centres, etc. Locations must be easily 
accessible for all children and families who live in the local vicinity (including 
access by public transport and at times appropriate to the user), children 
and young family friendly, suitable for multi-disciplinary delivery of services 
in both individual and group sessions and be conducive to flexible availability 
(e.g. early mornings, lunchtimes, after school, evenings and weekends). 

Page 53



36

17.1.2 Specific locations are to be agreed locally following engagement with 
relevant interested parties and feedback from users. Reviews should be 
taken periodically to ensure the locations are suitable to local needs.

17.1.3 Joint contacts should be provided in partnership with other agencies where 
this is appropriate and reduces inconvenience for families, for example 
integrated 2-2.5 year review. 

17.1.4 0-19 health service workforce needs suitable premises for office space and 
service delivery. The provider organisation must ensure that service delivery 
is not hampered by inappropriate premises and should work in partnership 
with local authorities and other providers to ensure that seamless and 
integrated service delivery is facilitated, for example, co-location of health 
visiting teams in Children’s Centres. 

17.2 Days/Hours of operation 

17.2.1 The core service will operate standard hours of 9am – 5pm Monday to 
Friday but with flexibility from 8am – 8pm to meet the needs of families. This 
may be delivered through a range of workforce planning options such as 
flexible shift times. Other working hours may be considered by local 
agreement to meet the needs of families.

17.2.2 The service should provide an equality impact assessment where changes 
to the existing contract are proposed.

18 Compliance with National and Local Specifications and data definitions 
18.1 The provider will comply with the latest national specification and data sets 

and local agreed data and definitions.
National definition as set out at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-
19-health-visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning 

18.2 The provider will comply with the latest national metric and data reporting 
schedules and timetables where required.  Currently these data items are 
reported via CYPHS until October 17 and via CSDS from that point.

18.3 Non mandated information flows will be provided directly to the commissioner 
on a quarterly basis.

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-19-health-visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-19-health-visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning


37

Salford City Council particulars to support the National Service 
Specification no. 27 (Children’s Public Health Services-pregnancy to age 5) 

and the National Health Visiting Service Specification 

Service Health Visiting for Salford LA area

1. Purpose

These Salford City Council particulars support the delivery of National Service Specification no.27 and the 
National Health Visiting service specification published April 2015, by the provider identified above.

These particulars relate to either additional requirements specific to Greater Manchester, or requirements specific 
to the area served by this specification and the local enhancements.

2. Service Scope

Health Visitor Non Contract Activity 
Health visiting services as described in the national health visiting service specification 15/16 are for all individuals 
and families within the scope of Salford City Council’s commissioning responsibilities, irrespective of GP 
registration or location. 

The service is to be provided to all eligible families resident (permanently or temporarily) within the boundaries of 
the local authority specified.

3. Service delivery

Compliance with national service specification
The provider should demonstrate compliance with the national specification via a compliance plan.

This plan should demonstrate compliance of the Child Health Information System to the National Child Health 
and Maternity Dataset.

The provider must have in place a ‘Transformation Plan’ covering the life of the contract agreed with the Local 
Authority commissioner which details progress to be made in order to deliver the full offer of the service 
specification in line with efficiencies by March 2018.

This plan should include the required health visiting developments in line with the roll out of the Greater 
Manchester Early Years New Delivery Model. Progress in implementing the transformation plan will be monitored 
through face to face meetings at 6 weekly intervals with the commissioners.

Significant non-compliance against the national service specification may result in a formal derogation notice 
which will be issued to the provider; such derogation notices will be escalated to regional and national 
commissioning assurance processes.

Provider derogation action plans will be performance monitored through routine contract monitoring mechanisms 
and will utilise contract sanctions where there is significant or persistent non-delivery against these plans.  

Clinical and Corporate Governance
Client experience is important to the quality of the HCP programme / health visiting service. The views of parents 
and others should be sought regularly, and taken into account in designing, planning, delivering and improving 
health care services.  The provider should be able to demonstrate how user views have influenced service 

Page 55



38

developments.

4. Quality Requirements

4.1 Service Transformation Plans

Within the service transformation the provider must:

 Deliver the service as specified.
 Support the roll-out of the GMCA New Delivery model to meet requirements locally. This will include 

undertaking relevant training programmes and ensuring fidelity to license and programme requirements 
including supervision.

 Utilise the Greater Manchester Communications Pathway – Maternity, Health Visiting, Family Nurse 
Partnership and Children’s Centres.

 Ensure all teams are working towards clinical supervision and that all teams have safeguarding 
supervision in place for all team members 

 Achieve universal levels of reach for the Universal Offer of the programme.
 Outline the baseline position; identify gaps and barriers to full delivery and detail actions and milestones 

in achieving full delivery by Q2  of each year of the contract 
 Demonstrate that resources are allocated to meet the needs of local populations, and used effectively to 

achieve the overall aim of improving outcomes for children and families. 
 Demonstrate full engagement with the LA and other partners in the development and delivery of the early 

years and troubled families strategies in line with GMCA Early years and Complex Dependency Public 
Service Reform developments as they evolve.  

 Be able to evidence that when reviews/assessments are delegated by a qualified health visitor to another 
team member that NMC standards are met and that the recommendations of serious case reviews 
regarding access to family records are adhered to. 

4.2 Service outcomes

Providers must embed systems that allow improved reporting of outcomes, including reporting at sub-locality 
level.

The Provider is expected to be able evidence their contribution to Public Health Outcomes Framework and Health 
visiting High Impact Areas:

 Transition to parenthood and the early weeks
 Improving healthy weight, healthy nutrition and physical activity
 Managing minor illness and reducing hospital attendance and admission
 Improving Oral Health
 Reduction in unintentional injuries
 Support to be ‘school ready’
 Support to be ready to learn
 Increasing breastfeeding rates (local 6-8 week target to be agreed)
 Improving maternal mental health
 Reducing paternal smoking
 Increasing uptake of funded 2-year childcare places via the 2 year assessment as a proxy indicator, 

children need to be identified prior to 2 years of age 
 Safe sleep.
 Healthy Start Programme 

The Provider will share a minimum of 1 case study/client journey per prevention area across the 5 localities per year to 

Page 56



39

evidence the quality of the services provided. 

Progress towards achieving these objectives will be monitored in face to face meetings with the NHSE and Local 
Authority commissioners at 6 weekly intervals. Providers who are not meeting milestones in either workforce 
growth or service transformation must engage with the commissioner at more frequent intervals and provide 
action plans for recovery in progress towards achievement of these objectives. Non-compliance with these 
requirements may result in withholding of payments; this will be reviewed on a case by case basis.

In addition to the performance framework contained within the national health visiting specification, Greater 
Manchester commissioners require the following to be collated and reported:

5. Key Performance Measures

5.1 The following is a revised monitoring framework and will be reported quarterly unless stated otherwise. 
Additional information will required for submissions to PHE 

Outcome Key Performance 
Indicator

Thresholds Method of 
Measurement

Target

Key Performance Indicators 

Number of mothers and 
fathers (when present) 
who are asked about their 
mental mood at 3 points, 
antenatal, new birth visit, 
6-8 weeks

Number of pre and post 
Edinburgh PND 
questionnaires completed.

Number of mothers 
receiving listening 
appointments

Total number of listening 
appointments 

Total number of onward 
referrals to mental health 
services and GP 

Establish 
baseline

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

100% of those 
seen 

Identifying 
families at risk of 
poor outcomes, 
emotional, social 
and educational

C1: Number of Mothers 
receiving antenatal face to 
face contact with a HV at 
28 weeks or above.  

Establish 
baseline

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

100% offered to 
those aware of.

Page 57



40

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

Number of antenatal 
notifications received and 
the % uptake of antenatal 
face to face contract with 
HV at 28 weeks or above

Baseline from 
2016/17 – 380 
quarterly

Notification reported 
quarterly report by 
maternity unit.
%  uptake reported 
quarterly broken 
down by locality

2 % annual 
increase

C2: Percentage of births 
that receive a face to face 
NBV within 14 days by a 
Health Visitor

Total number of infants 
who turned 30 days in the 
quarter who received a 
face-to-face New Birth 
Visits (NBV) undertaken 
within 14 days from birth, 
by a Health Visitor with 
mother (and ideally father)
Denominator: Total 
number of infants who 
turned 30 days in the 
quarter
Formula: 
Numerator/Denominator x 
100

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

95%

C3: Percentage of face-to-
face NBVs undertaken 
after 14 days, by a Health 
Visitor

Total number of infants 
who turned 30 days in the 
quarter who received a 
face-to-face New Birth 
Visits (NBV) undertaken 
after 14 days from birth, 
by a Health Visitor with 
mother (and ideally father)
Denominator: Total 

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

5%

Page 58



41

number of infants who 
turned 30 days in the 
quarter
Formula: 
Numerator/Denominator x 
100
C4: Percentage of children 
who received a 12 month 
review by the time they 
turned 12 months

Total number of children 
who turned 12 months in 
the quarter, who received 
a review by the age of 12 
months
Denominator: Total 
number of children who 
turned 12 months, in the 
appropriate quarter
Formula: 
Numerator/Denominator x 
100

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

95%

C5: Percentage of children 
who received a 12 month 
review by the time they 
turned 15 months

Total number of children 
who turned 15 months in 
the quarter, who received 
a 12 month a review by 
the age of 15 months
Denominator: Total 
number of children who 
turned 15 months, in the 
appropriate quarter
Formula: 
Numerator/Denominator x 
100

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

95%

C6i: Percentage of 2-
2.5year review complete
Total number of children 
who turned 2.5 years in 
the quarter who received a 
2-2.5 year review, by the 
age of 2.5 years of age.

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 

95%

Page 59



42

Denominator: Total 
number of children who 
turned 2.5 years, in the 
appropriate quarter.
Formula: 
Numerator/Denominator x 
100

locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

C6ii: Percentage of 
children who received a 2-
2.5 year review using ASQ 
3

The number of children 
who received a 2-2.5 year 
review by the end of the 
quarter for whom the 
ASQ-3 is completed as 
part of their 2-2.5 year 
review.
Denominator: Total 
number of children who 
received a 2-2.5 year 
review by the end of the 
quarter.
Formula: 
Numerator/Denominator x 
100

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

95%

Percentage of children 
scoring above the 
threshold in all five 
domains of the ASQ-3

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

Percentage of children 
scoring above the 
threshold in the ASQ-3 
communication domain

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 

Page 60



43

all other measures.

Percentage of children 
scoring above the 
threshold in the ASQ-3 
gross motor skills domain

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

Percentage of children 
scoring above the 
threshold in the ASQ-3 
fine motor skills domain

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

Percentage of children 
scoring above the 
threshold in the ASQ-3 
problem solving domain
Percentage of children 
scoring above the 
threshold in the ASQ-3 
personal-social domain

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures. 

C8i: Percentage of 
children who receive a 6-8 
weeks review

The number of children 
due a 6-8 weeks review by 
the end of the quarter who 
received a 6-8 weeks 
review by the time they 
turned 8 weeks.
Denominator: The total 
number of children due a 

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

95%

Page 61



44

6-8 weeks review by the 
end of the quarter.
Number of mothers 
receiving antenatal infant 
feeding and breastfeeding 
support/information 

Establish 
baseline

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

100%

Numbers of mothers 
breastfeeding at primary 
visit 

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

Information 
request to 
monitor drop off 
rates

C8ii: Numbers of mothers 
breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks 

Baseline from 
2016/17 38.7% 
quarterly

Monthly to NHS 
Digital via the 
CYPHS/ CSDS for 
nationally mandated 
reporting items.

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality for 
commissioners for 
all other measures.

2% annual 
increase

Breastfeeding

Number & % referred to 
specialist breastfeeding 
support

Establish 
baseline

Quarterly report 
broken down by 
locality

 Less than 5% 
inappropriate 
referrals

Information Requests
Improving 
access to public 
health and early 
intervention

Number of families for 
whom the HV is Lead 
professional

Establish 
Baseline

Quarterly report 

Implementing the 
Healthy Child 

Case studies to identify 
contribution to: 

1 per 
prevention

Minimum of 12 case 
studies by Q4 each 

95%

Page 62



45

Programme  Transition to 
parenthood and the 
early weeks

 Improving healthy 
weight, healthy 
nutrition and physical 
activity

 Managing minor 
illness and reducing 
hospital attendance 
and admission

 Reduction in 
unintentional injuries

 Support to be ‘school 
ready’

 Increasing 
breastfeeding rates 
(local 6-8 week target 
to be agreed)

 Improving maternal 
mental health

 Reducing paternal 
smoking

 Improving oral health
 Increasing uptake of 

funded 2-year 
childcare places via 
the 2 year assessment 
as a proxy indicator 

 Safe sleep.
 Healthy Start 

Programme 

area from 
across the 5 
localities

year

Case study to reflect 
the, user experience 
comments / 
feedback & 
implementation of 
care pathways, 

0-19 Service annual 
review including social 
value
Number of intervention 
above mandate visit
User satisfaction 

Annual review 
format as agreed 
with the 
commissioner

Implementation 
of care pathways

Completion of local 
pathways with a clear role 
for health visiting.  To 
include but not limited to 
maternal mental health, 
early attachment and 
healthy weight, babies first 
foods, oral health, 
breastfeeding peer 
support

Copies of completed 
local pathways 
provided.

Workforce 
capacity

Number of WTE Health 
Visitors

Quarterly report
Broken down by 

Page 63



46

Health Visitor:   An 
employee who holds a 
qualification as a 
Registered Health Visitor 
under the Specialist 
Community Public Health 
Nursing part of the NMC 
Register and who 
occupies a post where 
such a qualification is a 
requirement.  Not below 
Agenda for Change Band 
6.  Coded as occupation 
code N3H only in NHS 
Workforce information. 
(NHS IC, (2011) 
Occupation Code Manual 
Version 11)

ESR and Non- ESR

Number of WTE Leavers Quarterly update 
Number of WTE Joiners Quarterly update 

Workforce development 
plan in place with regular 
review and assurance

Quarterly report – 0-
19

Safeguarding Percentage of HV staff 
who have completed 
mandatory training at 
levels commensurate with 
roles and responsibilities 
(levels 1,2, 3) in child 
protection within the last 
three years

annual report 100%

Quality 
Standards
Annual Audit of 50 
randomly selected 
cases in each 
category

Annual audit of 50 
randomly selected urgent 
referrals, including all 
safeguarding referrals

Percentage of urgent 
referrals, including all 
safeguarding referrals, 
who a) received a same 
day or next working day 
response to the referrer 
and b) received a HV 
contact with the family 
within two working days.

Numerator: 
Number of 
these 50 
urgent referrals 
to HV who 
received a 
same day/next 
working day 
response to 
referrer.
Denominator: 
50 urgent 
referrals from 
whatever 
source 

Annual report 95%

Page 64



47

(including 
families 
transferring in) 
to HV 
Formula: 
Numerator/Den
ominator x 100

Annual audit of 50 
randomly selected 
referrals from any source

Percentage of all referrals 
from whatever source 
(including families 
transferring in) who a) 
received a response to the 
referrer within 5 working 
days and b) with contact 
made with the family 
within 10 working days.

Numerator:  
Number of 
these 50 
referrals where 
referrer 
received a 
response 
within 5 
working days.
Denominator: 
50 referrals 
from whatever 
source 
(including 
families 
transferring in) 
to HV 
Formula: 
Numerator/Den
ominator x 100

Numerator: 
Number of 
these 50 
referrals where 
contact was 
made with the 
family within 10 
working days. 
Denominator: 
50 referrals 
from whatever 
source 
(including 
families 
transferring in) 
to HV 
Formula: 
Numerator/Den
ominator x 100

Annual report 95%

Page 65



48

Percentage of 
cases where a 
transfer 
request was 
received where 
the records 
were 
transferred 
within 2 weeks.
Numerator: 
Number of 
these 50 
children where 
the health 
records were 
transferred to 
the HV service 
in the new area 
within 2 weeks 
of notification.
Denominator: 
50 children 
where HV 
service has 
been notified 
as moved out 
of the area 
Formula: 
Numerator/Den
ominator x 100

Annual report 95%Annual audit of 50 
randomly selected cases 
with a transfer request 
received

Percentage of 
CP cases 
where there 
was direct 
contact with 
the HV team in 
the receiving 
area of these 
cases.
Numerator: 
Number of 
these 50 
children who 
were on a CP 
plan where 
there was 
direct contact 

95%

Page 66



49

to HV team in 
receiving area. 
Denominator: 
Number of 
these 50 
children who 
were on a CP 
plan where HV 
service has 
been notified 
that child has 
moved out of 
the area 
Formula: 
Numerator/Den
ominator x 100

CQC Adherence with CQC 
standards

Evidence 
should be 
available to 
commissioners 
on request

100%

Page 67



50

Service School Nursing

1. Purpose

1.1    Context 

School nursing is a universal public health service for children and young people of school age.  
The aim of the service is to ensure children, young people and their families have access to a core 
programme of preventative health care, with additional care based on need. Qualified school 
nurses are registered nurses who have completed a post registration graduate programme, and 
are registered as specialist community public health nurses (SCPHN). School nursing teams 
normally contain a mix of qualified school nurses, nurses and assistants.

1.1.1 Since April 2013 Local Authorities have been responsible for commissioning public health services 
for school-age children and young people.  This presents new opportunities for bringing together a 
robust approach for improving outcomes for young people across both health and local authority 
led services.  The local authority’s key responsibilities for child health include:

 Improving the health and wellbeing of school-age children and young people, 5-19 years
 Bringing together holistic approaches to health and wellbeing across the full range of their 

responsibilities;
 Optimising the ring-fenced public health budget to improve outcomes for children and young 

people;
 Leading commissioning of public health services, for example, health improvement, substance 

misuse and sexual health;
 Responding to emergency planning, including outbreak response in schools.

1.1.2 The core public health offer for school-age children and young people, which encompasses the 
Healthy Child Programme – 5-19 years (DH, 2009, amended August 2010)1 (HCP 5-19), 
includes:
 Health promotion and prevention by a multi-disciplinary team;

 Defined support for children and young people with additional and complex health needs;
 Additional or targeted school nursing support as identified in the Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA)

1.1.3  School nursing services are:
 The single biggest workforce specifically trained and skilled to deliver public health for; school-

age children and young people
 Clinically skilled in providing holistic, individualised and population health assessment, with a 

broad range of skills at Tier 1 and Tier 2 health interventions;
 In a unique position within community and education settings to support multi- disciplinary 

teams, with relationships within primary and secondary care;
 Skilled in managing the relationships between child, family and school settings;
 Trusted and valued by children and young people;
 Part of the professional team ensuring that safeguarding need is identified and there is an 

Page 68



51

appropriate response.

This service specification is based on the national guidance ‘Maximising the School Nursing Team 
Contribution to the Public Health of School-Age Children’ (DH April 2014)2 and the Greater Manchester 
Service Specification: School Nursing Services.

1.2      Aims and objectives

The national guidance for commissioning of school nurses services notes that:

1.2.1 School nurses and their teams will use their autonomy, clinical skills and professional judgment to 
improve the health and wellbeing of children and young people and reduce health inequalities.  
Ensuring all children and young people receive the full service offer (HCP  5-19), including 
universal access and early identification of complex needs from school entry, with timely access 
to specialist services, by: 

 Taking the lead in developing effective partnerships and acting as advocate to deliver change 
to support improvements in health and wellbeing of school-age children and young people; 

 Leading, co-ordinating and delivering public health interventions;
 Ensuring children have a smooth transition into school and throughout all transition phases in 

life, building on the early years support to continue to lay down the foundations for healthy 
lifestyles which will prepare them for adulthood and to ensure they are ready to learn; 

 Ensuring synergy between services provided by the health visiting team and recognising the 
contribution of key partners, for example, children’s services and education providers to 
support school readiness and reducing school absences through health related issues; 

 Working in partnership with local communities to build community capacity, demonstrating 
added value, utilising asset-based approaches and best use of resources and outcomes;

 Working in partnership with other professionals, including for example, teachers and youth 
services to support children and young people to become healthy decision-makers in lifestyle 
choices, particularly in relation to: physical activity, diet, healthy eating, oral health, emotional 
wellbeing, smoking, sexual health and substance misuse. Particular attention should be paid 
to the vulnerable children who experience worst health outcomes, such as Children in Care, 
those not in education, employment or training (NEET), young offenders, children with 
disabilities, children with mental wellbeing issues and young carers; 

 Supporting children, young people and families to navigate the health and social care services 
to ensure timely access and support; 

 Ensuring timely action that focuses services so that the outcomes of the disadvantaged or 
most at risk children and families are not compromised by poor early experiences and 
environment; 

 Ensuring the service takes a whole system approach to delivery of child centred evidence 
based practice, prevention and incorporating early intervention to achieve shared health and 
social wellbeing outcomes for children, young people and families; 

 Promoting emotional wellbeing through the school-age years working alongside children and 
young people to support those with emotional and mental health difficulties, referring to 
CAMHS where appropriate; 

 Ensuring care and support helps to keep children and young people healthy and safe within 
their community, working through the local safeguarding pathway to provide seamless, high 
quality, accessible and comprehensive service, promoting social inclusion and equality and 
respecting diversity; 

Page 69



52

 Ensuring early identification of children, young people and families where additional evidence 
based preventive programmes will promote and protect health in an effort to reduce the risk of 
poor future health and wellbeing; 

 Working in partnership with primary and secondary care colleagues to support children and 
young people with long term conditions or complex needs and facilitate appropriate 
management of health conditions to ensure hospital admissions are kept to a minimum; 

 Ensuring providers offer a service delivery model that is based upon a holistic full service offer 
of care in line with ‘Getting it Right for Children and Families; the School Nursing 
Development Programme’ (DH March 2011)3. 

1.3  National / local evidence base

1.3.1   The importance of giving every child the best start in life and reducing health inequalities 
throughout life has been highlighted by Marmot4 and the Chief Medical Officer5 (CMO). The 
HCP 5-19 is available to all children and aims to ensure that every child gets the good start they 
need to lay the foundations of a healthy life. School Nursing Services are a key component of the 
HCP 5-19 and support school-age children and young people to achieve the best possible health 
outcomes. 

1.3.2   Marmot and the CMO both recognised the importance of building support in the early years and 
sustaining this across the life course for school-age children and young people to improve 
outcomes and reduce inequalities through targeted support. There will be challenges within a 
child’s or young person’s life and times when they need additional support. Universal and 
targeted public health services provided by school nursing teams are crucial to improving health 
and wellbeing of all school-age children and young people. 

1.3.3   The Public Health Outcomes Framework6 clearly defines a range of outcome measures that 
are significant to the school-age population. The list below summarises those that apply to this 
age group:

• Improving the wider determinants of health
o Reducing the number of children in poverty
o Improving school readiness
o Reducing pupil absence
o Reducing first time entrants to the youth justice system
o Reducing the number of 16-18 year olds not in education, employment or training

• Health improvement
o Reducing under 18 conceptions
o Reducing excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds (all sub-indicators)
o Reducing hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in children 

and young people age 0-14 and 15-24 years
o Improving emotional wellbeing of looked-after children
o Reducing smoking prevalence – 15 year olds
o Reducing hospital admissions as a result of Self harm

• Health protection
o Chlamydia diagnoses (15-24 year olds)
o Improving population vaccination coverage (all sub-indicators)

• Healthcare public health

Page 70



53

o Reducing tooth decay in children age 5
  Data on the above outcomes can be found at http://www.phoutcomes.info/

1.3.4   The NHS Outcomes Framework 2014/157 also clearly defines a range of outcome measures 
that are significant to the school-age population. They are listed below for this age group:

• Preventing people from dying prematurely
o Potential years of life lost from causes considered amenable to healthcare: children and 

young people
o Reducing deaths in babies and young children - five year survival from all cancers in 

children
• Enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions

o Reducing time spent in hospital by people with long term conditions - unplanned 
hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s

• Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury
o Preventing lower respiratory tract infections in children from becoming serious – 

emergency admissions for children with LRTI
• Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care

o Improving children and young people’s experience of healthcare - children and young 
people’s experience of outpatient services

• Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm 
o Delivering safe care to children in acute settings – incidence of harm to children due to 

‘failure to monitor’
o

1.3.5   School nursing teams lead and contribute to improving the outcomes for children and young 
people but are not solely responsible for achieving these, there needs to be a partnership 
approach.  School nursing teams need to work with a number of partners including health and 
social care teams, teachers and youth workers to deliver the evidence based public health 
interventions as outlined in the HCP 5-19, and using the core principles of Making Every Contact 
Count for intelligent, opportunistic interventions.

1.3.6    Department of Health, NHS England, Public Health England and the Local Government 
Association (LGA) signed up to the pledge for Better Health Outcomes for Children and 
Young People8 in February 2013. The pledge puts children, young people and families at the 
heart of decision making and improving every aspect of health services, and sets out shared 
ambitions to improve physical and mental health outcomes for all children and young people and 
reduce health inequalities. 

1.3.7    The CMO Report9 emphasised the commitment to: 

‘Help children who grow up in the most at-risk families and to help parents give their children the 
best possible care. We also want to help children be as healthy as possible by preventing illness, 
and encouraging healthy behaviours from pregnancy onwards. The government is committed to 
improving all children’s chances in life by giving families the help they need to keep their children 
healthy and safe’. 

1.3.8  There is strong evidence supporting delivery of all aspects of the HCP 5-19, which is based on 
Health for All Children, the recommendations of the National Screening Committee, guidance 
from the National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence10 (NICE) (appendix 2) and a 

Page 71

http://www.phoutcomes.info/
http://makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/index.html
http://makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/index.html


54

review of health-led parenting programmes by the University of Warwick.

1.3.9   Additional or targeted support will be determined locally according to individual and population 
health needs as identified in the JSNA. This will include support to address specific issues. 
Separate or additional services may need to be commissioned and funded by the responsible 
agencies, specifically CAMHS, services targeting domestic abuse or bereavement support.

1.3.10 GM has an embedded Public Service Reform Programme, which is a key element of 'Stronger 
Together'11, the GM Strategy.  The programme is about a range of local services working 
together to provide public services in new ways, delivering lasting change, improved services 
and more efficient and effective use of resources.

1.3.11 The reform programme focuses on developing a more co-ordinated approach to public services, 
ensuring funding and people working across public services are focussed on the issues that 
affect residents across GM.  Priority issues are:

 integrated health and social care
 reducing issues of complex dependency
 work and skills
 early years
 justice and rehabilitation

The school nursing service should ensure that outcomes achieved in the early years aspect of 
the programme are supported and enhanced for school-age children and young people.

1.4      Evidence Base

The HCP 5-19 years was developed nationally and is based on relevant evidence. Full details 
can be found within:
• Healthy Child Programme – 5-19 years (DH, 2009 – amended August 2010)
• Healthy Child Programme – The two year review (DH, 2009)

1.5      Population Needs

1.5.1.   Locally there needs to be a systematic, reliable and robust process to assess population health 
needs that provides a basis for designing and reviewing services.  The service needs to be 
actively involved in developing school health profiles using data available locally.   The service 
will ensure that these profiles, together with their workforce plans, are used to develop and 
provide an appropriately skilled workforce to deliver public health outcomes locally.  The service 
will work collaboratively with the commissioner to review workload capacity and local needs 
including an acknowledgment of the number of primary and secondary schools, the number of 
children/young people, the increased upper age and the number of WTE school nurses.

1.5.2    Delivery of the universal elements of the HCP 5-19 w i l l  b e  underpinned by a robust process 
that identifies vulnerable and at risk groups, (including young carers, Children in Care, young 
offenders, NEET, children with mental wellbeing issues and children with disabilities) using the 
JSNA. These identification systems need to be shared with the commissioner and may 
include data-sharing protocols.

1.5.3    At an individual or family level, services will be developed to meet individual need and tailored to 

Page 72

http://www.agma.gov.uk/gmca/greater-manchester-public-service-reform/index.html
http://www.agma.gov.uk/gmca/gms_2013/index.html
http://www.agma.gov.uk/gmca/gms_2013/index.html


55

ensure individuals are supported.

1.5.4   It is expected that providers demonstrate a robust process to capture service user insight and 
the experiences of children and young people as service users. It is expected that the 
You’re Welcome Quality Criteria12 will be incorporated within service elements and will form a 
vital part of the case study evidence put forward within the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 
the contract.

2. Scope

2.1      Service Description

2.1.1    Clearly stated in Healthy Lives Healthy People: Our Strategy for Public Health 
England13 Nov 2010 under “Developing Well” 3.22 p 38.

“Responding to local need, the school nursing service will work with other professionals to 
support schools in developing health reviews at school entry and key transitions, managing 
pupils’ wellbeing, medical and long-term condition needs and developing schools as health-
promoting environments.  The Department of Health is developing a new vision for school 
nurses, reflecting their broad public health role in the school community”.

2.1.2    Some elements of the HCP 5-19 require clinical and specialist public health nursing, whilst other 
elements could be delivered by other members of the school nursing team and by using 
partners, with qualified school nurses taking leadership.  The school nursing workforce is 
relatively small and cannot deliver the extensive HCP 5-19 in isolation.  It is therefore important 
that the role of school nurses’ and partners’ contribution needs to be clearly defined locally and 
with robust arrangements in place to support multi-agency working.

2.1.3    The universal elements of the HCP 5-19  will be predominately delivered by the school nursing 
team in a way that is most appropriate to meet local health needs and across a range of settings 
with a clear focus on school-based delivery, but will include other community settings as 
determined locally, for example, youth centres and community centres.

2.2      Accessibility / acceptability

2.2.1    The service must ensure equal access for all school-age children, young people and their 
families, regardless of disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, sex or 
sexual orientation, race - this includes ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality, religion, 
belief or lack of belief.

2.2.2   The service must ensure that the HCP 5-19 is offered to vulnerable populations that are not in 
main-stream education.  This includes those that are:

 NEET
 home educated
 excluded from school 

2.2.3    The offer must also be made available to children who attend education settings other than 
maintained schools, academies and free schools.  There is the opportunity within this 
specification to co-commission school nursing services with independent schools to ensure the 

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quality-criteria-for-young-people-friendly-health-services


56

coverage of all school-age children and young people within a locality.  This provision should be 
determined locally as the relationships grow with new and emerging schools within each locality.  
Providers are reminded that the service should be offered and provided to the child and not the 
school and this should be the underlying principle of all negotiations with education providers.

2.2.4    The HCP 5-19 offer should ensure that provision is made for specific communities e.g. Gypsy, 
Roma and Traveller and Orthodox Jewish communities, where a differing approach may be 
required in order to carry out the core public health functions. The school nursing team will 
share with the commissioner the approach that will be taken with these specific local 
communities.

2.2.5    An appropriate level of service should be maintained throughout the year, including during 
school holidays.  Services need to be responsive and flexible e.g. early mornings, lunchtimes, 
after  school,  evening  and  weekends  and  should  use  technology  and  innovation  to ensure 
that they reach children and young people.

2.2.6   The service will use the ‘You’re Welcome’ quality criteria to ensure that it is accessible and 
appropriate to the needs of service users.   This can and should include electronic means to 
engage and communicate with service users for example text, e-mail, social media etc.

2.2.7   The service needs to work with all schools to ensure the service is promoted and individual 
contact details are available and easily accessible to all services users i.e. parents, children and 
schools. The service will be expected to work with service users to develop this information and 
determine how this is promoted locally.

2.3  Location of Provider Premises

2.3.1    The service should be available and accessible at times and locations that meet the needs of 
children and young people, including those noted above that are not in main-stream or 
maintained education settings.  The primary location for delivery will be school or education 
settings.  However, where possible, children and young people should be offered a choice of 
locations which best meets their needs e.g. community centres, youth groups, general 
practice and, where appropriate, at home.

2.3.2    Specific details of location agreed should be based on feedback from key stakeholders, children 
and young people. Reviews should be undertaken by the provider regularly to ensure the 
premises are suitable for local need meets user’s expectations.

2.3.3    A key component of delivery within secondary schools is the ‘drop in’ service, the service should 
ensure this is provided in a location suitable and appropriate to meet the needs of the children 
and young people attending, and that it can be accessed confidentially by young people.

2.4  Whole system relationships and Interdependencies

2.4.1   The provider must establish good working relationships with all local key partners outlined below:

Page 74



57

2.4.2  Consideration should also be given to ensuring:

 The provider of the school nursing service will be represented on the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and Childrens’ Trust and develop services in line with the Board and Trust’s priorities.

 An area-based / co-located school nursing service, structured in line with local children’s 
services, working together to deliver integrated services for children and their families, with a 
focus on prevention, promotion and early intervention.

 Every education setting should have a named school nurse.
 The named school nurse will have access to and engage with local school management 

arrangements to:- 
a) Work in direct partnership with schools to provide improved access and delivery of the 

HCP 5-19 and, through this, the health and wellbeing core offer.
b) Support education services in their delivery of health improvement to improve 

outcomes for children, young people and their families.
c) Promote and describe the wide range of support that children and their families are 

entitled to, and, as part of that process, encourage children and young people to 
access the service

d) Promote an integrated approach to improving child and family health locally including 

Universal 
Partnership 

Plus 

Offer

• Voluntary, community sector and social enterprises
• Public health promotion / improvement services
• Local community groups
• Community development/neighbourhood workers

• Health visitors
• School and other education setting staff
• GPs
• Contraception and sexual health services
• Smoking cession and substance misuse teams

• Multi-agency teams in primary and secondary care
• Allied Health Professionals
• Children’s Community Nursing service
• Housing and social care
• Children’s services
• CAMHs
• Sexual health / Substance misuse services

• Safeguarding teams
• Children’s Community Nursing service
• A&E
• Social work team
• Police
• Youth Justice team

Universal 

Plus 

Offer

Universal 

Offer 

Building 
Community 

Capacity

Page 75



58

leading partnerships with schools and other partner agencies including social care
e) Work in direct partnership with school to develop ‘school plans for supporting pupils 

with medical conditions’14. 
 Service user engagement needs to be established in the design, performance monitoring 

and evaluation of provision.
 An effective electronic record system is in place that supports the efficient and safe delivery 

of the service and effective performance monitoring.

2.5     Immunisation and Vaccination Programmes

2.5.1    Since April 2013 commissioning of immunisations and screening has been the responsibility of 
NHS England, Greater Manchester Area Team (NHSE GMAT).  School based immunisation 
programmes, as stipulated in the ‘Green Book’15, are co-commissioned by NHSE GMAT and the 
Local Authority through this specification in line with the locality agreement.

2.5.2    Immunisations previously administered by school nurses prior to the transfer of commissioning 
responsibility to Local Authorities in April 2013 are included in the baseline funding allocation, for 
example school leaver booster.  HPV and any new immunisations are funded directly by NHSE 
GMAT including HPV, and Men C.

2.5.3    Aim of the school based immunisation programme is:

           To ensure children and young people are protected against vaccine preventable disease as 
recommended by Public Health England (PHE).  Delivering the programme in an accessible, 
equitable way to the population who need it.  

2.5.4    Ensuring the immunisation status of every eligible young person is assessed at every contact 
and appropriate immunisations administered.  Any incomplete or missed immunisations are 
proactively followed up in a timely manner as per national guidance as set out in the Green Book 
and PHE document ‘Vaccination of individuals with uncertain or incomplete immunisation 
status’16.  Particular vaccines e.g. BCG and Hep B may be required for some children in an at 
risk group.  Where school nurses cannot vaccinate relevant referral should be made to facilitate 
this.

2.5.5    Providers must ensure they maintain and improve current immunisation coverage with the 
aspiration of 100% of relevant individuals being offered immunisation in accordance with the 
Green Book and other official DH/ PHE guidance.

2.5.6    In order to achieve this providers must:

 agree a schedule of vaccination,
 local catch up arrangements must be specified,
 opportunities to remind the eligible population of the importance of vaccination must be 

taken,
 immunisation status of a young person must be actively considered.

2.5.7  School based immunisations are commissioned by NHS England who are co-commissioners with 
Local Authorities who lead on the commissioning of the wider school nursing service.  The 
budget for HPV and Men C (adolescent dose) and any in year immunisations introduced will be 
allocated and paid by NHS England and will be reviewed and confirmed annually to the provider.

Page 76



59

2.5.8   The provider must ensure that the requirements of the Green Book are met in regard to:

 consent    (Green Book chapter 2 )
 good practice requirements prior to immunisation   (Green Book chapter 2)
 vaccine administration   (Green Book chapter 3)
 vaccine storage and wastage    (Green Book chapter 3)
 vaccine ordering   (Green Book chapter 3)
 documentation   (Green Book chapter 3)

2.5.9    Procedures must also include systems in place to identify, follow-up and offer immunisation to 
eligible individuals.  The provider must work with their local Child Health Information Services 
(CHIS) to ensure updated child health information and recording of immunisation status is 
captured.

2.5.10  In relation to staffing, the provider must ensure an appropriate occupational health policy is in 
place to offer and vaccinate staff in accordance with national policy and Green Book 
recommendations, to provide protection of staff and their clients against vaccine preventable 
diseases. These include measles, Mumps, and Rubella and hepatitis B).

2.5.11  Appropriate equipment and suitable premises are needed to deliver a successful immunisation 
programme.  Providers should develop appropriate relationships with educational providers to 
ensure suitable premises are available and risk assessed.  Appropriate equipment, including 
disposable equipment, should meet approved quality standards.  The provider should ensure 
that Anaphylaxis equipment is available at the point of immunisation.

2.6      Immunisation Recording and Reporting Requirements

2.6.1    Recording and reporting requirements are laid out in the Green Book chapter 4.  The collecting 
and reporting of data is essential in order to maintain population safety and health. It has several 
key purposes including the local delivery of the programme and the monitoring of coverage at 
national and local level, outbreak investigation and response as well as providing information for 
ministers and the public.  In-depth analysis underpins any necessary changes to the programme, 
which might include the development of targeted programmes or campaigns to improve general 
coverage of the vaccination.  Accurate, accessible records of vaccinations given are important 
for keeping individual clinical records, monitoring immunisation uptake and facilitating the recall 
of recipients of vaccines if required.

2.6.2   The requirements set out in the Green Book include:

 recording in the General Practice record
 providing to the DH via Immform
 including in population immunisation registers, in most cases the CHIS
 recording HPV vaccination status on the NHAIS (Exeter System)

2.6.3   There is a requirement for adverse reactions or events to be reported via the Yellow Card  
Scheme (chapter 9 of the Green Book)

2.6.4    As part of this specification, providers are also required to report coverage to the local 
commissioner in order for planning and updating of the local programme to be undertaken.

2.6.5    The provider will collect and submit to both the Local Authority commissioner and NHSE GMAT 

Page 77



60

as appropriate, minimum data sets as required and defined by NHS England.  The provider must 
meet all reporting requirements, including timeliness and accuracy, as specified nationally by 
NHS England.  Providers should supply any reasonable ad hoc request from NHSE GMAT for 
activity data to support service delivery, improvement and planning.   The Local Authority 
commissioner, NHSE GMAT and PHE will ensure the data is shared in order to ensure national 
requirements are met.

3.   Service Delivery

3.1      The School Nursing Service will:

 Lead and co-ordinate local delivery of the HCP 5-19  requirements and use the school 
nurse vision as a framework to support delivery;

 Provide an integrated Public Health Nursing Service linked to children’s centres, general 
practice and education settings by having locality teams and nominated leads known to the 
stakeholders, including a named school nurse for every education setting;

 Deliver the universal HCP 5-19 through assessment of need by appropriately qualified staff, 
health promotion advice, screening and surveillance, engagement in health education 
programmes, involvement in key public health priority interventions for adults and 
communities, as specified within the HCP 5-19;

 Deliver Public Health interventions to school-age children and young people, including 
smoking cessation, physical activity, diet, healthy weight, oral health, emotional health and 
wellbeing, sexual health and healthy relationships, substance misuse, injury prevention, and 
work to keep children safe;

 Work with school leaders and school improvement services to identify population health 
needs;

 Undertake joint visits with other professionals in response to contact from families, where 
appropriate;

 Ensure there is a clear protocol of addressing the health needs of priority groups;
 Ensure and be able to evidence that the experience and involvement of families, carers and 

children will be taken into account to inform service delivery and improvement;
 Champion and advocate culturally sensitive and non-discriminatory services which promote 

social inclusion, dignity and respect;
 Build on resilience, strengths and protective factors to improve autonomy and self- efficacy 

based on best evidence of child and adolescent development, recognizing the context of 
family life and how to influence the family to support the outcomes for children;

 Build personal and family responsibility, laying the foundation for an independent life;
 Demonstrate the impact of the service provided through improved outcomes and service user 

feedback.

Page 78



61

3.1.1 The school nursing service provides public health, social and emotional wellbeing and 
interventions at 4 levels.  Figure 1 below shows what this will mean for children, young people  
and families

Figure 1 The vision and model for school nursing

3.1.2 School nurses have a crucial role in leading, coordinating and delivering the HCP 5-19. The 
school nursing team provides clinical expertise and will work across a range of setting and 
organisations including education services, general practice, secondary care and children’s 
services.

Level 1 community offer: to provide advice to all school-aged children and their families with the 
local community, through maximising family support and the development of community resources 
with the involvement of community and voluntary resources.

Level 2 universal offer: Working in partnership with children, young people and families to lead 
and deliver the Healthy Child Programme 5-19 working with health visitors to programme a 
seamless transition upon school entry.

Level 3 universal plus offer: to identify vulnerable children, young people and families, provide 
and co-ordinate tailored packages of support, including emotional health and wellbeing, 
safeguarding, children and young people at risk with poor outcomes and with additional or 
complex health needs.

Level 4 universal partnership plus offer: to work in partnership with partner agencies  in  the  
provision  of  intensive  and  multi-agency  targeted  packages  of support where additional 
health needs are identified

Community

Universal 
services

Universal 
Partnership plus

Universal plus

Your Community describes a range of health services 
(including GP and community services) for children and 
young people and their families. School nurses will be 
involved in developing and providing these and making 
sure you know about them.

Universal services from your school nurse team 
provides the Healthy Child Programme 5-19 to ensure a 
healthy start for every child. This includes promoting 
good health, for example through education and health 
checks; protecting health e.g. by immunisation; and 
identifying problems early

Universal Plus provides a swift response from your 
school nurse service when you need specific expert help 
which might be identified through a health check or 
through providing accessible services where you can go 
with concerns. This could include managing long term 
health needs and additional health needs, reassurance 
about a health worry, advice on sexual health, and 
support for emotional and mental wellbeing

Universal Partnership Plus delivers ongoing support by 
your school nursing team as part of a range of local 
services working together and with you/your family to deal 
with more complex problems over a longer period of time.

An opportunity for school nurses to re-claim their role 
as Leaders and deliverers of public health to school -
age children

Page 79



62

3.1.3  Health Promotion:

 Promoting health and wellbeing;
 Supporting injury prevention and reducing risk taking behaviours;
 Contributing to Personal, Social and Health Education (PSHE).

3.1.4  Identifying individual and population health needs:

 Assessing the child’s, young person’s and family’s strengths, needs and risks;
 Assessing physical health, growth and development and immunisation status;
 Leading, co-ordinating and delivering the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) 

and associated interventions and referrals identified;
 Developing school health profiles and working with school health improvement services to 

address needs;
 Identification of health needs through individual health needs assessment;
 Providing children, young people and parents / carers the opportunity to discuss their health 

concerns and aspirations;
 Identifying any mental or emotional health issues;
 Ensuring that appropriate support is available to meet health needs such as speech,  

language and communication;
 Undertaking recommended health assessment and reviews including;

o Using reception / year 1 (age 4-5) school entry assessment (transition from 0-5 HCP to  
5-19 school entry questionnaire);

o Providing year 6/7 (age 10-12) assessment at transition from primary to secondary 
school;

 Working with schools to identify support for children with additional health needs.

3.1.5  The Children and Families Act 201415 includes a number of new measures to protect the 
welfare of children, including:

 Changes to the law to give children in care the choice to stay with their foster families until 
they turn 21

 A new legal duty on schools to better support children at school with medical conditions
 Making young carers’ and parent carers’ rights to support from councils much clearer
 Reforms to children’s residential care to make sure homes are safe and secure, and to 

improve the quality of care vulnerable children receive
 A requirement on all state-funded schools - including academies and free schools – to  

provide free school lunches on request for all pupils in reception, year 1 and year 2
 Amendments to the law to protect children in cars from the dangers of second-hand smoke

3.1.6   As a part of this, the Children and Families Act states that governing bodies must make 
arrangements for supporting pupils at school with medical conditions. The school nursing service 
will contribute to identifying support to schools as they take on this new statutory responsibility. 
New guidance has been published by the Department for Education to assist services to achieve 
this requirement, Supporting Pupils at School With Medical Conditions (April 2014).

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/landmark-children-and-families-act-2014-gains-royal-assent


63

3.1.7  Health protection:

 Identifying and reducing barriers to high coverage for all childhood immunisations (see  
section 2.5)  in order to prevent serious communicable disease, particularly targeted at 
vulnerable groups;

 Leading, co-ordinating and providing relevant immunisations to school-age children and  
young people;

 Contribute to screening programmes, including Chlamydia, as appropriate to local 
requirements.

 Contribute to Infection control programmes and emergency planning, including outbreak 
response in schools.

3.1.8    Safeguarding:

The school nursing team must be involved in safeguarding procedures where there is an 
identified health need for a school-age child.  Where there is no identified health need then the 
requirement to be involved in the process is dependent on the local pathway and protocol.

3.1.9   The provider must work collaboratively to ensure there is clarity regarding respective roles and 
responsibilities as identified within local protocols and policies in line with Working Together to 
safeguard Children16 and using the Safeguarding Pathway for health visitors and school 
nurses17, and the GM Safeguarding Partnership procedures Manual18 to provide 
clarity on roles and responsibilities;

 Providing universal public health interventions and preventative measures to reduce 
risk;

 Working in partnership with other key stakeholders to safeguard and protect children 
and young people;

 Working collaboratively to support children and young people where there are identified 
health needs, or where they are in the child protection system, providing therapeutic public 
health interventions for the child and family and referring children and families to specialist 
medical support where appropriate;

 Working together to provide support for vulnerable groups, including Children in Care, young 
carers, children with disabilities, NEET, children with mental wellbeing issues and young 
offenders;

 Supporting, and leading safeguarding, where appropriate.
 Facilitating access and contributing to targeted family support, including active engagement 

in the Troubled Families Programme.
 It is expected that the GM Sexual Health pathway for Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and 

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) will be adhered to alongside local safeguarding procedures.  
It is vital that the service provider works with colleagues across GM to report FGM and CSE 
in line with Department of Health guidelines.

 Working collaboratively to identify, support and refer children who are at risk of and / or 
experiencing domestic abuse.

3.1.10  Supporting children, young people and families:

 Ensuring that children, young people  and families receive support that is appropriate for their 
needs with the most vulnerable families receiving interventions and coordinated integrated 
support, initiated through completion of a common assessment framework  (CAF), including 
support for Children in Care, children with disabilities, NEET, children with mental wellbeing 
issues and young offenders;

 Supporting the development and strengthening key interfaces across organisations, 

Page 81



64

practitioners, children, young people and families, and their local communities;
 Actively ensuring that school-age children and young people not in employment, education or 

training, or educated at home receive the universal offer.

3.1.11  Using the evidence:

 Service delivery must be underpinned by strong evidence and standards, with regular reviews 
to determine impact. The HCP 5-19 schedule includes a number of evidence based 
preventative interventions, programmes and services.

 Providers will work with commissioners and key partners to determine which services are 
offered locally and by whom, based on locally available data, e.g. school health profiles.

 Providers will work with services users, parents and their families to help inform  and develop 
which services are offered locally

3.2    Care Pathway

3.2.1 School nursing teams have a leadership role in supporting children and young people, working in 
partnership with other agencies. The Department of Health has developed a suite of professional 
guidance and pathways to support delivery locally and offer clarity around roles and responsibilities 
for school nursing teams and key partner agencies. The pathways will be of particular interest to 
commissioners and providers.  

3.2.2 Published pathways:
 Safeguarding
 Transition from health visiting to school nursing
 Youth Justice
 Domestic abuse
 Emotional Health and Wellbeing
 Young Carers
 Sexual Health
 Child Sexual Exploitation 
 GM Sexual health guidelines (including CSE and FGM)
 Supporting children with complex and additional health needs
 The Health Needs of Looked After Children
 Healthy Lifestyles and Physical Activity
 Transition across the life course (0-19)

3.2.3 A number of local pathways have been identified as necessary to successful joint working across 
services.  It is expected that providers will develop these with partners as appropriate and make 
them available to commissioners as evidence of joint working.  The commissioners reserve the 
right to share these local pathways across GM to ensure that the best standards are maintained 
within the conurbation. 

3.2.4  Local pathways include:

 Emotional / Mental Wellbeing  (including self-harm and eating disorder)
 Absences from school due to health
 Stop Smoking 
 Young Persons Substance Misuse and Treatment 
 Safeguarding – school nursing element
 Sexual health (including CSE and FGM)

Page 82



65

 Domestic Abuse 
 Healthy Weight  
 Unintentional Injuries

3.3  Geographic coverage / boundaries

3.3.1 All school-age children, young people and their families who are resident in the local authority 
should receive the HCP 5-19.   There may be some local variation regarding boundaries therefore 
reciprocal arrangements need to be in place to ensure children and young people receive the best 
support available regardless of where they live.

3.3.2 Data collection will enable reports on activity for both the GP registered and the school 
populations.

3.3.3 The service will ensure that any coverage / boundary issues that may arise will be dealt with 
proactively in collaboration with neighbouring providers. Delivery of a service that meets the needs 
(including safeguarding) of the child or young person must take precedent over any boundary 
discrepancies or disagreements

3.4  Days / hours of operation

3.4.1 An appropriate level of service should be maintained throughout the year, including during school 
holidays.  Services need to be responsive and flexible e.g. early mornings, lunchtimes, after  
school,  evening  and  weekends  and  should  use  technology  and  innovation  to ensure that 
they reach children and young people.

3.4.2 The core service will operate standards hours of 9 am – 5 pm, but will offer flexibility from 8 am – 8 
pm to meet the needs of children and young people and their families.

3.5  Referral criteria and sources

3.5.1 There will be open access to the school health service. A child or young person may self-refer, be 
referred by their family or by teaching / school staff.   Confidential drop in sessions in secondary 
schools provided by the school nurse are a critical aspect of the self-referral process, and should 
be advertised and promoted within locations where children and young people have access and 
can attend confidentially.

3.5.2 The school nursing service needs to determine the offer to those young people not in school, in 
conjunction with partner agencies, and share these arrangements with the commissioner.

3.6  Exclusion Criteria

3.6.1 The service is restricted to children, young people aged 0-19 and their families.  

3.6.2 Whilst the service is offered to, and available for school-age children and young people resident 
within a local authority where these children attend independent schools only the immunisation 
element is automatically accessed through the school. Independent schools may choose to 
commission additional school nursing services.  Other aspects of the universal offer may be made 
to such children and young people from locations other than the school e.g. children’s centres, 
GPs practices etc.

Page 83



66

3.6.3 School health services for children who attend Special Schools are not necessarily commissioned 
by the Local Authority.  However all children who attend these schools, and are resident in the 
local authority boundary, are entitled to the HCP 5-19.

3.7  Discharge processes

3.7.1 The service should ensure that there is a smooth transition into other services at the appropriate 
time.  This could include the transition into youth services or to adult services where appropriate.

3.7.2 A formal process should be established to ensure that when a school-age child moves out of area 
an appropriate transfer takes place.

3.8  Response time and prioritisation

3.8.1  It is good practice for commissioners to work with providers to ensure that:

 The four levels of service delivery and care pathways are to be provided in full.
 All referrals from whatever source (including children, young people and families transferring 

in) will receive a response to the referrer within 5 working days, with contact made with the 
child, young person or family within 10 working days.

 Urgent referrals, including all safeguarding referrals, must receive a same day or next working 
day response to the referrer and contact within two working days.

 As a child approaches school entry, transition to the local school nursing service will be 
initiated in accordance with local policy. Similarly school nursing teams will work with adult 
services to ensure smooth transition in to adult services.

 Where school nurses are responsible for undertaking Children in Care / Looked After Children 
health assessments / reviews and care plans, these must be done to the national standards 
and within the statutory timeframe.

 Where a child moves out-of-area the school nursing service must ensure that the child’s 
health records are transferred to the school nursing service in the new area within 2 weeks of 
notification. Direct contact must be made to handover all child protection cases.  Systems 
should be in place to assess the risk to children whose whereabouts are unknown. 

3.9   Training and Development

3.9.1 Providers will ensure that appropriate training is undertaken within the service, for nurses this 
could include a postgraduate course leading to registration as a Specialist Community Public 
Health Nurse (where service need dictates).  

3.9.2 Training should be undertaken as identified and required through local Safeguarding Children’s 
Boards, to address safeguarding issues and domestic abuse.  Further areas where training is 
expected in order to deliver evidence based public health interventions include:

 Use of local screening tools
 Brief interventions in 

o Drug and alcohol misuse
o Stop smoking
o Sexual health

Page 84



67

o Healthy weight
o FGM and CSE

Training should be updated at least every three years.

3.10  Relevant Clinical Networks and Screening Programmes 

Relevant screening programmes include:

 National immunisation programme
 NCMP
In addition the following regular supervision should be offered:

 Safeguarding Supervision
 Clinical Supervision

4.   Key Performance Measures

4.1 The following is a revised monitoring framework and will be reported quarterly unless stated 
otherwise.

Outcome Key Performance 
Indicator

Thresholds Method of 
Measurement

Key Performance Indicators 

Reducing the 
prevalence of 
overweight & 
obesity in school-
age children & 
young people

NCMP – Number and % of 
children at reception and Yr 
6 that participate in the 
NCMP 

Not to fall below 
90%.

Monthly information 
report from EMS, 
review at end of school 
year

Promoting physical 
and  emotional 
health and  
wellbeing of looked 
after children and 
vulnerable children

Number and % of health 
reviews completed for 
Looked after Children 
(LAC) in mainstream 
education.

90% annually Quarterly report

Increasing 
population 
immunisation and 
vaccination cover

Number and % of eligible 
children invited for 
immunisations  

Number and % of children 
that consent and are 
immunized

100%

HPV / SLB / 
Men C - 90%

 Information 
request

Quarterly report broken 
down by:

high school

immunization type (e.g. 
HPV, Men C, School 
Leaver Booster) 

Page 85



68

Number of DNA and 
reasons why 

Information Requests

Service level agreements 
(SLAs) completed with all 
schools, influenced by 
needs identified in the 
School Health Profiles.

Note presence in schools 
of policies / plans for 
identified medical 
conditions (see section on 
‘contributing to physical 
health’ below)

Threshold 100% Exception reporting of 
escalation issues in 
June / July noting 
schools that have not 
endorsed addressing 
information in health 
profile. 

Improving access to 
public health and 
early intervention

Percentage of secondary 
schools where a weekly 
school nurse drop in 
service is provided.

Establish baseline Quarterly report on no. 

of new & repeat 

contacts, gender, age & 

ethnicity.

Breakdown to include 

reason for attendance 

by theme.

Promoting good 
mental health and 
wellbeing -
supporting early 
intervention in 
mental ill health 

Number of pupils supported 
through the emotional 
wellbeing pathway.

Information 
request

Quarterly report on the 
number of referrals to 
CAMHS & no. of YP 
with mental wellbeing 
issues supported by 
school nurse team

Promoting physical 
and  emotional 
health and  
wellbeing of looked 
after children and 
vulnerable children

Thematic review 
summarising the health 
needs identified within the 
LAC reviews.

Annual report of themes 
identifying health needs 
and follow-up actions

Implementing the Number of PHSE sessions Establish baseline  Annual summary of 

Page 86



69

delivered by
 school 
 academic year 
 topic linked to SLA / 

school health profile

evaluations from PHSE 
sessions / awareness-
raising sessions.

Case studies to identify 
behaviour change to reflect 
one or more of the 
prevention areas:  
unintentional injury, sexual 
health, smoking, substance 
misuse, emotional 
wellbeing & healthy weight

1 per prevention
area 

Total of 6 case studies 
by March annually.

Case study to reflect 
the You’re Welcome 
standards, user 
experience comments / 
feedback & 
implementation of care 
pathways.

universal health 
promotion elements 
of the HCP 5-19.

Support the development 
and implementation of a 
policy in schools for the 
identified conditions 

100% of schools 
in 3 years

Exception reporting of 
escalation issues noting 
schools that do not 
have appropriate 
policies / plans 

Example policy to be 
shared with 
commissioner

Support schools in the 
implementation of care 
plans for identified 
individual children

100% of pupils 
with identified 
need have a care 
plan

Exception reporting of 
schools that do not 
accept support with 
individual care plans

Contributing to 
physical health 
elements of the HCP 
5-19

Medical conditions 
including:
Epilepsy
Anaphylaxis Asthma

No. of schools that are 
offered & accept 
awareness-raising sessions 
around managing 
anaphylaxis, epilepsy and 
asthma.

Offered to 100% 
of schools with 
identified need at 
each annual 
intake.

Exception reporting of 
schools that do not 
accept awareness 
raising sessions

Quality of 

the user experience

Users report satisfaction 
with the service and 
provision of support / 
intervention

Annual summary of 
user feedback / 
evaluation / surveys 
conducted as part of the 
annual report  

Implementation of 
care pathways

Completion of local 
pathways (as identified in 
3.2.4 of the service 
specification)

100% over 2 
years

Copies of completed 
local pathways 
provided.

Workforce capacity Number of WTE School 
Nurses (broken down by 

Quarterly report

Page 87



70

registered nurse, school 
nurse and assistant roles)

Number of WTE school 
Nurses vacancies

Quarterly report

Audits

Assessment during pre 
school and action plans 
developed for those 
identified as requiring 
additional support – 
number and % of total.

100% of children 
identified as 
needing support 
have action plans

Assessment during year 6 
and action plans developed 
for those identified as 
requiring additional support 
– number and % of total.

100% of children 
identified as 
needing support 
have action plans

Provision of health 
and development 
reviews.

Number of children on child 
protection plans who have 
received a health 
assessment, – number and 
% of total that had an 
identified health need.

Establish Baseline

Dip sample 50 audit of 
action plans / health 
assessments to identify 
quality, compliance  and 
health needs identified

Implementing the 
universal health 
promotion elements 
of the HCP 5-19.

Identify and support 
schools to adopt a 
comprehensive ‘whole-
school’ approach to health 
and wellbeing issues

Establish Baseline Annual audit

Contractual Notice

Improving access to 
public health and 
early intervention 

Named school nurse 
identified for each school.

100% Contractual term 
specifying compliance

Quality of 

the user experience

Notification of withholding a 
service to an individual or 
discontinuation of a service 
in general

Exception 
reporting

Must inform the 
Authority in writing 
immediately and 
wherever possible in 
advance of taking such 
action outlining the 
reasons why. For an 
individual to include 
postcode of the service 

Page 88



71

In addition to the performance framework contained within the national health visiting specification, Greater 
Manchester commissioners require the following to be collated and reported:

user.

5.   Continual Service Improvement

5.1    This Specification has set out the standards expected based on National Guidance with local 
enhancements.  In many instances the KPIs included establish a baseline position which will be 
reviewed one year on.  The Indicators will then be re-assessed to ensure that improvement is 
maintained year on year.

Page 89



72

Service Family Nurse Partnership

1.  Population Needs

1.1 National/local context and evidence base

The Family Nurse Partnership programme (FNP) is an evidence-based, preventive programme for 
vulnerable first time young mothers. It is important to note that FNP is a licensed programme and 
therefore has a well-defined and detailed service model, which must be adhered to. Structured home 
visits, delivered by specially trained family nurses, are offered from early pregnancy until the child is 
two. Participation in the FNP programme is voluntary. When a mother joins the FNP programme, the 
family nurse instead of by health visitors delivers the HCP. The family nurse plays an important role 
in any necessary safeguarding arrangements alongside statutory and other partners to ensure children 
are protected. 

FNP has a strong body of research evidence developed over 30 years in the USA with evidence 
reviews consistently identifying it as the most effective preventive early childhood programme for 
improving the health and development of vulnerable young mothers and their children. FNP is the UK 
replication of the Nurse Family Partnership Programme, developed by Professor David Olds and 
colleagues in the USA. At the University of Colorado, three large-scale randomised control trials of the 
programme have shown a range of benefits for children and mothers over the short, medium and long-
term.

FNP has been tested in England since 2007; an independent evaluation of the first 10 pilot sites 
showed FNP could be implemented well in England, in accordance with the programme model and in 
the context of the NHS and that the potential for positive outcomes was good. A large-scale 
randomised control trial to assess the programme’s effectiveness in an English context is underway 
and due to report initially in early2015. In England, the Parenting Programme Commissioning Toolkit 
has recently evaluated FNP and rated it as having the highest quality of evidence, one of only a few 
programmes rated at this level.

The FNP will support the delivery of national priorities and the statutory responsibilities of local 
partnerships. Priorities for children and young people are articulated through the children and young 
people’s plans which are owned and performance managed through children’s trust arrangements 
(or successor partnership).

2.   Key Service Outcomes

2.1 Expected outcomes 

Research evidence from the USA suggests that in addition to a reduction in the health, social and 
educational costs of supporting vulnerable children and families, we could see the following 
outcomes for those participating in the FNP programme:

For expectant and young mothers:

 Reduction in smoking in pregnancy
 Increased initiation and continuation of breast feeding
 An overall improvement in diet and nutrition
 Greater intervals between and fewer subsequent births

Page 90



73

 Positive parenting and family relationships
 Increased engagement in training and employment 

For children:

 Improved nutritional status achieved via delayed weaning using appropriate foods and 
methods.

 Improved emotional and social well-being through strong parent child attachment 
 Increased immunisation rates 
 Fewer accidents
 Reduction in child abuse and neglect
 Better language development 

For young fathers:

 Greater involvement in parenting
 Improved family relationships
 Increased engagement in training and employment 

Other outcomes we are seeking from testing the programme include:

 100 families to benefit from the FNP
 Develop expertise in a minimum of 4 nurses and 0.5 supervisor
 Learn how to deliver the programme
 Make the organisational changes needed to deliver the programme well
 Build solid foundations for long term sustainability
 Contribute towards wider improvements in child health, maternity and wider services for 

children and families. 
 Incorporate relevant learning and best practise from FNP into universal programmes and 

training.

Remaining / re-engaging in employment or education is crucial if young mothers are to secure jobs 
in the future that keeps their family out of poverty and disadvantage. 40% of young mothers have no 
qualifications 3 years after giving birth and research has shown that the factor which is most 
protective against poor outcomes for teenage mothers and their children in the longer term is being 
in a job they like. The Provider will work with partner agencies to support mothers back into 
Education, Employment or Training (EET).

The key performance measures for the FNP are:

 Birth statistics:
 Admissions to neonatal unit
 Gestation at birth
 Birth weight.
 Child health & development:
 Immunisations
 A&E admissions
 Hospitalisations for injuries and ingestions.
 Subsequent pregnancies, including mean interval between first and second pregnancy.

Page 91



74

 Child development 
 Language development.
 Maternal smoking status - pregnancy and beyond.
 Percentage of infants that are breastfed following birth and duration of breastfeeding.
 Number of months that families used other programmes (e.g., breastfeeding support, 

children’s centres etc).
 Involvement of fathers and other family members in the programme.

3. Scope 

3.1 Aims and objectives of service

The primary purpose of the Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) is to reduce the impact of multiple 
deprivation and improve the short and long term health and wellbeing outcomes of vulnerable young 
first time mothers and their children, reducing the short and long term cost of caring for these 
children and families.

Demonstrate full engagement with the LA and other partners in the development and delivery of the 
early years and troubled families strategies in line with GMCA Early years and Complex 
Dependency Public Service Reform developments as they evolve

Aims 

FNP shares the over-arching aims of the HCP to reduce inequalities in outcomes and to ensure a 
strong focus on prevention, health promotion and early identification of needs. It has additional 
specific aims, which are to: 

 improve the outcomes of pregnancy by helping young women improve their ante-natal health and 
the health of their unborn baby; 

 improve children’s subsequent health and development by helping parents to provide more 
consistent competent care for their children; and 

 improve women’s life course by planning subsequent pregnancies, finishing their education and 
finding employment. 

Objectives

 To improve pregnancy outcomes for young first time mothers through their engagement in 
preventative health practices. 

 To improve child health and development by helping parents to provide a secure, nurturing and 
stimulating environment for their children.

 To improve economic self-sufficiency of the family by helping parents to develop a vision for their 
own future with their baby.

 To ensure that families receiving the FNP also access the core HCP schedule.
 To maximise engagement of vulnerable clients through effective partnership relationships and 

offer evidence based preventive interventions and reduce inequalities in health and well being.

3.2 Service description

The FNP is a multi-dimensional programme that differs from mainstream services and must be 
delivered according to licensing and testing conditions in order to replicate the original research and 

Page 92



75

ensure benefits to children and families.

The FNP is part of the preventive pathway for the most disadvantaged and vulnerable infants within 
the Healthy Child Programme (HCP) and meets the evidenced based requirements for a progressive 
universal service.  

The provider will deliver the implementation and delivery requirements for the FNP as set out in the 
Management Implementation Manual:

 Governance and leadership,
 Licensing requirements
 The FNP team
 Training
 Resource requirements
 Client recruitment pathways 
 Information system
 User involvement
 Safeguarding

Accessibility / acceptability

Providers shall have systems in place for early identification and recruitment to maximise the 
enrolment of the most vulnerable clients in early pregnancy.

The FNP programme consists of structured home visits from early in pregnancy until the child is two, 
delivered by family nurses. The visits cover the six domains of personal health, environmental health, 
life course development, maternal role, family and friends and health and human services. The nurses 
use licensed programme guidelines, materials, methods and practical activities to work with the mother 
as well as the father and wider family, on understanding their baby, making changes to their behaviour, 
increasing their parenting capacity, developing emotionally and building positive relationships. FNP is 
based on the theories of human ecology, attachment and self-efficacy. 

FNP is delivered in an integrated way with maternity, general practice, community health services, 
health visiting, children’s centres, Job Centres and third sector providers within the context of 
integrated children’s services and the HCP. 

The service will be flexible and responsive, adapting to the individual needs of children and families 
whilst ensuring fidelity to the licensed FNP programme model.

The provider will deliver the implementation and delivery requirements for the FNP programme as 
set out in the FNP Sub-licensing Agreement for Providers and the FNP Management Manual. These 
documents are made available to prospective local sites. 

Providers will be expected to have systems in place for early recruitment of young women (before 16 
weeks gestation) to maximise the enrolment of eligible clients in early pregnancy, enabling them to 
get maximum benefit from the programme (see section below on recruitment pathways). 

Providers will be expected to have clear operational standards in place, in relation to how the FNP 
interfaces with, and relates to, all of the agencies supporting the delivery of the HCP. Providers will 
also be expected to have pathways in place for families moving from FNP to universal HCP and 
children’s services. Providers will be expected to provide strong organisational leadership and 
support so the FNP programme can be delivered well in their area. 

Page 93



76

Family nurses will work in partnership with parents using the FNP guidelines, other programme 
materials and methods to enable mothers and fathers to increase their knowledge and 
understanding, set goals, make behaviour changes and develop their reflective capacity. This will 
enable them to build strong attachments with their baby, enhance their self-efficacy, develop 
effective strategies for good infant and toddler care-giving, strengthen and adapt to their parenting 
role. 

Each site is required to recruit an FNP supervisor to lead the clinical implementation of the FNP 
programme with families. The FNP supervisor is responsible for the quality of programme delivery, 
using the FNP information system to support their assessment and improvement of implementation 
quality.

Service  model 

FNP will be delivered by a team of trained family nurses, led by the FNP supervisor and accountable 
to the local FNP Advisory Board. The FNP Advisory Board will be chaired by a local authority 
commissioner and consists of senior decision makers for children and young people’s services from 
the NHS, Local Authority and appropriate partner services. This strategic management group leads, 
plans, supports and sustains the delivery of the FNP programme locally. FNP will be delivered with 
fidelity to the FNP model, and meeting the programme’s core model elements and fidelity goals as set 
out in the license agreement. 

Programme of FNP visits 
 1 per week first month 
 Every other week during pregnancy 
 1 per week first 6 weeks after delivery 
 Every other week until 21 months 
 Once a month until age 2 

Visits last 1-1½ hours and cover the following domains: 
 Personal health – women’s health practices and mental health 
 Environmental health – adequacy of home and neighbourhood 
 Life course development – women’s future goals 
 Maternal role – skills and knowledge to promote health and development of their child 
 Family and friends – helping to deal with relationship issues and enhance social support 
 Health and human services – linking to other services 

The provider will implement the programme in accordance with the FNP Sub- licensing agreements 
and the expectations set out in the latest FNP Management Manual, provided by the FNP National 
Unit (by the new national delivery partner 

Record keeping, data collection systems and information sharing 

 In line with clause 21 Service User Records and clause 27 Data Protection and Freedom of 
Information, providers will ensure that robust systems are in place to meet the legal 
requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and the safeguarding of personal data at all 
times. 

 In line with the above and following good practice guidance, the provider will have agreed data 
sharing protocols with partner agencies including other health care providers, children’s social 
care and the police to enable effective holistic services to be provided to children and their 
families. 

 The PCHR will be kept by parents and carers and will be completed routinely by both them 
and professionals working in the provider service. 

Page 94



77

 Appropriate records will be kept in the CHIS to enable data collection to support the delivery, 
review and performance management of services 

 Providers will ensure that all staff have access to information sharing guidance including 
sharing information to safeguard or protect children. 

 Providers will be expected to have in place mechanisms for the systematic collection of high 
quality data to meet the core fidelity requirements of data collection for the FNP programme. 
Use of FNP data forms and the FNP information system (FNP IS) are central to this 
requirement and can be accessed via a web-based interface using the N3 network and NHS 
Open Exeter Portal. 

 Family nurses will be required to keep and review records to monitor fidelity to the programme, 
visit content and for evaluation.

 The supervisor will monitor the collection of the data and ensure its use as a clinical tool. 
 The supervisor will generate reports on programme delivery using the FNP IS that are to be 

used with the team and the FNP Advisory Board to improve and maintain the quality of the 
programme. 

 The FNP team will be required to report to the quarterly Advisory Boards using an agreed 
reporting template based on the national Quarterly Summary Report 

 The FNP team will use local CHIS to maintain clinical records and record information about 
each child including immunisation status. 

 Family nurses and supervisors will be required to collect high quality data as set out in the 
programme guidelines and input this into the FNP IS. They will use this to monitor fidelity to 
the programme and inform continuous quality improvement of programme delivery. 

Staff support

 The FNP Supervisor is responsible for clinical and safeguarding supervision, management of 
the family nurses, meeting their learning needs and team functioning.

 The FNP Supervisor will receive monthly supervision from the Designated Nurse: 
Safeguarding and Vulnerable Young People.

 The intensity of the FNP programme may expose additional challenges in relation to 
safeguarding and therefore the Provider will be expected to have in place clear policies that 
demonstrate the interface between the FNP and local safeguarding arrangements. 

Providers will ensure fidelity to the model of supervision for family nurses. 

 Weekly 1.1 supervision
 Fortnightly  team case discussions
 4-monthly joint home visits with the supervisor.
 Case discussion with a clinical psychologist monthly 

Page 95



78

Family nurses will be recruited from a range of professional nursing backgrounds and providers, 
meeting the person specifications provided in the Management Implementation Manual. The 
Provider will ensure that the supervisor and family nurses attend all training arranged by the central 
FNP team. The Provider will be required to have in place the following programmes to ensure a 
comprehensive skill set for all family nurses in addition to the FNP training:

 Competencies to deliver the HCP.
 An understanding of common childhood ailments.
 Child development.
 Infant and child nutrition.
 Safeguarding.
 An understanding of pregnancy, childbirth, teenage mothers and the inequalities experience 

by the client group.

Recruitment pathway

Those eligible will be identified by maternity services and notified to the FNP supervisor at 12 weeks 
gestation or earlier as far as possible. Clients must be enrolled on the programme no later than 28 
weeks gestation with a specific fidelity goal to enrol at least 60% by 16 weeks gestation. Other 
services (e.g. GPs, education, children’s centres) are able to identify and refer potential clients to 
FNP. Offer of the programme and recruitment will be carried out by the FNP team. 

FNP teams are expected to enrol clients onto the programme using a staged approach. 
Appointments will be generated for attendance at immunisations, screening tests and health 
reviews. Children/families who do not attend will be actively followed up by the family nurse. 

Care Pathway 

The following is an outline of the FNP care pathway: 

 First time young mothers aged 19 and under will be offered FNP as part of the preventive 
pathway within the HCP. Young mothers enrolling on the programme will be visited by the 
same family nurse until the completion of the programme when the child is 2 years of age. 

 The programme will be delivered to young mothers within the context of the immediate and 
extended families involving fathers and grandparents. 

 Young mothers who accept the programme will receive structured visits from the family nurse 
in line with the FNP programme model. 

 The family nurse will work closely with the midwives who will be responsible for the young 
mother’s midwifery care. 

 Babies born into the programme will receive the HCP as part of the FNP. The family nurse will 
deliver the HCP and is responsible for ensuring access to the physical examination, newborn 
hearing screening, blood spot screening and immunisations. 

 Before children reach the age of two years, the family nurse will notify the health visitor lead 
for the HCP team, and agree future service delivery. Families will be supported to access 
wider children’s services to meet their individual needs. 

 The FNP Supervisor will have systems in place for effective communication, audit and 
information sharing for all aspects of the FNP with midwives, social care, health visitors, GPs 
and children’s centres. 

 Young mothers who choose not to enrol on FNP will be notified back to the midwife who will 
continue to coordinate care for the family until 14-28 days after the birth of the baby ensuring 
the young mother has access to the universal and progressive aspects of the HCP. 

 The Health Visitor will be notified of all young mothers whether they enrol or not.

Page 96



79

 Every effort will be made by the family nurse to ensure continued engagement of the client in 
FNP. Clients who leave the programme before their child is 2 years old will be notified to the 
health visitor who is responsible for universal services, ensuring access to preventive services 
and to others providing the HCP (eg GPs). FNP teams will follow the new national delivery 
partner’s guidance and local guidance regarding clients who cannot be traced and will act to 
safeguard the child or other family members where risks are identified requiring further 
actions. 

 Family nurses and supervisors will use the FNP Information System to record data about their 
clients and use this to inform how they deliver the programme. 

 Where the FNP client has a second child during the time of her involvement with FNP, the 
family nurse will be responsible for delivery of the HCP to the family for the second child, in 
addition to the first, until the first child reaches the age of 2 years. 

Discharge Criteria and Planning 

 Discharge from FNP is age related. A client graduates from the programme when the child 
reaches 2 years of age and responsibility for HCP delivery is transferred back to universal 
services at this point. The programme includes materials and activities to prepare the client 
for the end of the programme and the family nurse will have introduced the client and her child 
to local services before this time. 

 Before children reach the age of two years the family nurse will notify the health visitor lead 
for the HCP team and discuss the handover process with the client. 

 Families will be supported to access children’s centres and the HCP matching services and 
interventions to their individual needs. 

 When a child and family leave the area, there will be a clear local protocol in place to ensure 
continuity of services for the family. This may include the client continuing to access FNP from 
another FNP team or continuing to provide the FNP programme into another local area.

 Family nurses will continue to make all efforts to locate clients who cannot be found and persist 
in their efforts to re-engage clients who indicate that they no longer wish to receive the 
programme, either directly or by repeated missed visits. 

 Once 6 months has passed with no client contact, the client will be classified as being an 
‘inactive’ case on the nurse’s caseload and the nurse can re-recruit to that vacancy. Inactive 
clients can subsequently return to the programme if they wish and if there is capacity in the 
FNP team. 

 If a client with significant risk or safeguarding factors is not receiving programme visits for any 
reason, local safeguarding processes should be implemented. 

 Young mothers who choose not to accept FNP will be notified to the midwife who will continue 
to coordinate care for the family until 14-28 days after the birth of the baby ensuring the young 
mother has access to the universal and progressive aspects of the HCP.

3.3   Population covered

FNP target population 

FNP is a voluntary programme, targeted to first time mothers aged 19 and under (at last menstrual 
period) with the aim to enrol women on the programme as early as possible in pregnancy, ideally 
before 16 weeks and no later than 28 weeks gestation.

Other specific criteria, regarding geographical location need to be agreed with each site according to 
predicted population needs; advice can be sought from the new national delivery partner on this. 
FNP will remain a voluntary programme, working in local areas which have the capacity to deliver it 
well.

Page 97



80

Geographic coverage/boundaries

 Children and families who are resident within the locality. 
 Where appropriate, it is expected that Family Nurses will follow their clients across organisational 

boundaries to maintain engagement in the programme.

Location(s) of Service Delivery

FNP is a home based visiting programme, however family nurses will be expected to be able to offer 
parents a choice of location where this is most appropriate e.g. GP surgeries, children’s centres, 
community health services, extended schools, health centres, café etc. 

Subject to local determination, it is expected that family nurses will follow their clients across 
organisational boundaries, when feasible, to maintain engagement in the programme. 

The team will need access to an N3 connection (an NHS secure broadband network, through which 
NHS information systems are delivered and accessed) in order to access the FNP Information 
System and consideration.

Days/Hours of operation 

 Hours of operation need to fit around the needs of the family and the Provider is expected to 
support ‘out of hours’ working. 

3.4   Any acceptance and exclusion criteria and thresholds 

Exclusion criteria

Pregnant girls are excluded if they meet any of the following criteria: 

 Aged 20 years and above at last menstrual period.
 Referrals received after the 28th week of pregnancy.
 They have given birth previously to a live child.
 They plan to have their child adopted.
 They plan to leave the FNP agreed visiting area during the period that they would receive the 

programme i.e. before their child reaches 2 years of age, for an extended period of time (3 
months or longer) or permanently.

Response time & detail and prioritisation

 A family nurse will make contact with the pregnant teenagers within 2 working days of 
receiving the FNP recruitment notification.

 Families seeking telephone advice and support from a family nurse or health professional will 
receive a response within one working day.

3.5   Interdependencies with other services

Whole System Relationships

The FNP is a specialist programme delivered by a self-managing team and does not fit easily into 
existing professional groupings. Key working relationships for the benefit of children and families are:

 Maternity services
 Children’s Centres
 Psychology services

Page 98



81

 Child Health Promotion Programme universal services
 Integrated Health Team
 Local parenting programmes
 Local Authority Safeguarding
 Social care 
 Teenage pregnancy services
 General practice
 Targeted youth support including Connexions and Youth Service
 Adult social care, mental health, learning disabilities, drug and alcohol
 Childcare providers 
 Benefits and Housing 
 Contraceptive and Sexual Health Services.

The FNP programme is a progressive aspect of the HCP which depends on contributions from 
maternity services, general practice, community health services and Sure Start Children’s Centres. 
Working together across all these services is most important for disadvantaged children and those 
with additional needs. Testing the FNP means finding out which service fit makes sense for parents 
and children and the FNP team.

The pregnancy phase of the FNP is vital to achieving the programme benefits and recruitment needs 
to take place early in programme. Maternity services are lead partners in ensuring successful 
delivery of the FNP.

Providers will have clear operational standards in place in relation to how the FNP interfaces with, 
and relates to, all of the agencies supporting the delivery of the HCP.

Providers will have pathways in place for families moving from the FNP to universal children’s 
services.

Interdependencies

Safeguarding is at the heart of the FNP and providers will ensure the programme is embedded into 
local safeguarding arrangements within health and local authorities.

Midwifery, local authority, and community health services are the key inter-dependents.

National interdependencies are with the FNP central team at the Department of Health.

Service Integration 

 As an early intervention and surveillance programme the HCP relies on the following systems 
that are out of scope of this service specification being in place: 

 Joint planning and monitoring of child health outcomes and HCP delivery with local authorities 
(social care, early years and public health) and general practice, in particular to ensure a 
seamless transition at age 5. 

 Integrated pathways of care with maternity, school health and other services such as those 
for disabled children. 

 Referral pathways to other NHS secondary care services that address identified needs 
including speech and language therapy, infant and parental mental health, NHS safeguarding 
supervision and advice, primary care, paediatrics, smoking cessation contraceptive services 
and maternity services. 

 Referral pathways to non-NHS services including safeguarding, social care, children’s 

Page 99



82

centres, early year’s education and parenting support. 
 Information sharing agreements with wider health and local authority services. 

A number of tools are available to help providers and commissioners to enhance and extend joint 
working practices and improve outcomes for children and their families.

4. Applicable Service Standards 

4.1 Applicable national standards eg NICE

Key NICE public health guidance include: 

 PH6 - Behaviour change at population, community and individual level (Oct 2007) 
 PH9 - Community engagement (July 2010) 
 PH11 - Maternal and child nutrition (March 2008) 
 PH17 - Promoting physical activity for children and young people (Jan 2009) 
 PH26 - Quitting in smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth (June 2010) 
 PH21 - Differences in uptake in immunisations (Sept 2009) 
 PH12 - Social and emotional wellbeing in primary education (March 2008) 
 PH27 - Weight management before, during and after pregnancy (July 2010) 
 PH28 - Looked-after children and young people: Promoting the quality of life of looked-after 

children and young people (October 2010) 
 PH29 - Strategies to prevent unintentional injuries among children and young people aged 

under 15 Issued (November 2010) 
 CG62 - Antenatal care: routine care for the healthy pregnant woman (March 2008) 
 CG45 - Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance 

(February 2007) 
 CG89 - When to Suspect Child Maltreatment (July 2009)

4.2 Applicable local standards

Page 100



83

6. Key performance Indicators

Performance 
Indicator 
heading

Indicator Method of 
Measurement

Frequency  of 
measurement

Consequence of breach

At least 60% enrolled before 16 weeks 
of pregnancy and 100% no later than 
the 28 weeks.

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

100% clients enrolled are first-time 
mothers, within the specified site age 
bracket

3) FNP Dashboard
4) Annual review

3) Quarterly
4) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

75% of eligible clients who are offered 
the programme are enrolled

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

Recruitment and 
Enrolment

The programme 
attains 
enrolment goals 
of;

Each nurse enrols 25 families (or pro rata 
adjusted) within 12 months of recruitment 
commencing

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

Attrition

Clients leave the 

40% or less through to the child's 
second birthday

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

P
age 101



84

10% or less during the pregnancy 
phase.

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

20% or less during infancy phase 1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

programme at 
no more than 
these rates:

10% or less during toddlerhood 1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

80% or more of expected visits during 
pregnancy

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

65% or more of expected visits during 
infancy

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

60% or more of expected visits during 
toddlerhood

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

Dosage

Clients receive:

On average, length of home visits with 
participants is > or = 60 minutes

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

Programme Average Time Devoted to Content 1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

P
age 102



85

Domains during Pregnancy

 Personal Health - 35-40%
 Environmental Health  - 5-7%
 Life Course Development - 10-

15%
 Maternal Role - 23-25%
 Family and Friends - 10-15%

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

Average Time Devoted to Content 
Domains during Infancy

 Personal Health - 14-20%
 Environmental Health  - 7-10%
 Life Course Development - 10-

15%
 Maternal Role  - 45-50%
 Family and Friends - 10-15%

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

Content 

It is expected 
that the content 
of home visits 
reflects 
variation in 
developmental 
needs of 
participants 
across the 
programme 
phases:

Average Time Devoted to Content 
Domains during Toddlerhood

 Personal Health - 10-15%
 Environmental Health   - 7-10%
 Life Course Development - 18-

20%
 Maternal Role - 40-45%
 Family and Friends - 10-15%

1) FNP Dashboard
2) Annual review

1) Quarterly
2) Annually

A failure to achieve target will 
discussed during the 
quarterly Advisory Board 
meetings

P
age 103



86

FNP Advisory Board
Quarterly Summary Report

 

Date: 

FNP Team

Strengths Challenges

Provider Organisation

Strengths Challenges

FNP Advisory Board

Strengths Challenges

Page 104



87

Safeguarding

Strengths Challenges

Learning from the last quarter (e.g. feedback from FNP learning day, local learning, new 
guidance etc.)

Strengths Challenges

Client Involvement in the last quarter (e.g. Graduation celebrations, focus groups etc.)

Strengths Challenges

Page 105



88

Caseload

Team Capacity 
(places)

Expected 
Caseload

(based on current 
team position)

Actual Caseload
% of Actual to 

Expected 
Caseload

Enrolment

% enrolled by 16 weeks pregnancy (goal = 60%)

Last 3 months Last 12 months Previous 12 
months

Number of clients 
enrolled in period

Percent enrolled by 
16th week of 
pregnancy

% clients enrolled of those who are offered the programme (goal = 75%)

Last 3 months Last 12 months Previous 12 
months

Programme Dosage (stage completers)

Pregnancy

Last 3 months Last 12 months Previous 12 
months

Number of clients 
completing 

pregnancy in period

Proportion of clients 
receiving 80% or 
more of expected 

visits

Infancy

Last 3 months Last 12 months Previous 12 
months

Page 106



89

Number of clients 
completing infancy 

in period

Proportion of clients 
receiving 65% or 
more of expected 

visits

Page 107



90

Toddlerhood

Last 3 months Last 12 months Previous 12 
months

Number of clients 
completing 

toddlerhood in 
period

Proportion of clients 
receiving 60% or 
more of expected 

visits

Attrition

Programme 
Stage

Number of 
clients who 
completed 

the stage in 
last 12 
months

Number of 
leavers in 

last 12 
months

Number of 
inactives in 

last 12 months

% attrition in 
last 12 months

Pregnancy

Infancy

Toddlerhood

Number of clients 
who completed or 

could have 
completed 

programme in last 
12 months

% attrition % leavers % inactives

Actions as a result of FNP Advisory Board Discussions today

What is going to be done? Who is going to do it? By when and lead?

Page 108



91

Outstanding actions from previous discussions (including Annual Review action plan)

What is going to be done? Who is going to do it? By when and lead?

Page 109



References

1 Healthy Child Programme – 5-19 years (DH 2009, amended 2010)
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_cons
um_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_108866.pdf

2 Maximising the School Nursing Team Contribution to the Public Health of School-Age Children 
(DH April 2014)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-nursing-public-health-services

3 Getting it Right for Children, Young People and Families; the School Nursing Development 
Programme (DH, updated April 2012)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/getting-it-right-for-children-young-people-and-
families

4 Marmot Review report - Fair Society, Healthy Lives (2010)
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/health/-/journal_content/56/10180/3510094/ARTICLE

5  Chief Medical Officer's annual report 2012: Our Children Deserve Better: Prevention Pays 
(DH 2013)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012-our-
children-deserve-better-prevention-pays

6  Public Health Outcomes Framework (DH 2012)
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/public-health-outcomes-framework-sets-out-desired-
outcomes

7  NHS Outcomes Framework 2014/15 (DH, 2013)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-outcomes-framework-2014-to-2015

8  Better health outcomes for children and young people – Our Pledge (DH, 2013)

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-pledge-to-improve-children-s-health-
and-reduce-child-deaths

9  CMO Annual Report: Volume One, 2011 ‘On the State of the Public’s Health’
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cmo-annual-report-2011-volume-one

10 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence – full listing of documents given in appendix 
2
https://www.nice.org.uk/

11 Stronger Together – Greater Manchester Strategy 2013 – 2020
http://www.agma.gov.uk/gmca/gms_2013/index.html

12 You’re Welcome Quality Criteria (DH, 2011)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quality-criteria-for-young-people-friendly-health-
services

13 Healthy Lives Healthy People: Our Strategy for Public Health England (DH, 2011)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-our-strategy-for-
public-health-in-england

Page 110

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_108866.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_108866.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/getting-it-right-for-children-young-people-and-families
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/getting-it-right-for-children-young-people-and-families
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/health/-/journal_content/56/10180/3510094/ARTICLE
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012-our-children-deserve-better-prevention-pays
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2012-our-children-deserve-better-prevention-pays
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/public-health-outcomes-framework-sets-out-desired-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/public-health-outcomes-framework-sets-out-desired-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-pledge-to-improve-children-s-health-and-reduce-child-deaths
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-pledge-to-improve-children-s-health-and-reduce-child-deaths
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cmo-annual-report-2011-volume-one
https://www.nice.org.uk/
http://www.agma.gov.uk/gmca/gms_2013/index.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quality-criteria-for-young-people-friendly-health-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quality-criteria-for-young-people-friendly-health-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-our-strategy-for-public-health-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-our-strategy-for-public-health-in-england


93

14 Supporting Pupils at School with Medical Conditions (DE, 2014)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-pupils-at-school-with-medical-
conditions

15 Children and Families Act (HM Government 2014)
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/landmark-children-and-families-act-2014-gains-royal-
assent

16 Working Together to safeguard Children (DE, 2013)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-
children

17 Safeguarding Pathway for health visitors and school nurses (DH & DE, 2012)
http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/SAFEGUARDING_ENHANCING-
PROFESSIONAL-GUIDANCE.pdf

 
18 GM Safeguarding Partnership procedures Manual (GMSP 2014)

http://greatermanchesterscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/contents.html

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-pupils-at-school-with-medical-conditions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-pupils-at-school-with-medical-conditions
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/landmark-children-and-families-act-2014-gains-royal-assent
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/landmark-children-and-families-act-2014-gains-royal-assent
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/SAFEGUARDING_ENHANCING-PROFESSIONAL-GUIDANCE.pdf
http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/SAFEGUARDING_ENHANCING-PROFESSIONAL-GUIDANCE.pdf
http://greatermanchesterscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/contents.html


94

Appendix 1

Applicable National Standards / NICE Guidance

• PH3 Prevention of sexually transmitted infections and under 18 conceptions (Feb 2007)
• PH4 Interventions to reduce substance misuse amongst vulnerable young people (Mar 2007)
• PH6 Behaviour change at population, community and individual level (Oct 2007)
• PH7 School based interventions on alcohol (Nov 2007)
• PH8 Physical activity and the environment (Jan 2008)
• PH9 Community engagement (Jul 2010)
• PH11: Maternal and child nutrition (March 2008) 
• PH12 Social and emotional wellbeing in primary education (Mar 2008)
• PH14 Preventing the uptake of smoking by children and young people (Jul 2008)
• PH17 Promoting physical activity for children and young people (Jan 2009)
• PH20 Social and emotional wellbeing in secondary education (Sept 2009)
• PH21 Differences in uptake in immunisations (Sept 2009)
• PH23 School based interventions to prevent smoking (Feb 2010)
• PH24 Alcohol-use disorders: preventing harmful drinking 
• PH27: Weight management before, during and after pregnancy 
• PH28 Looked-after children and young people: Promoting the quality of life of looked-after 

children and young people (Oct 2010)
• PH29 Strategies to prevent unintentional injuries among children and young people aged under 

15 (Nov 2010)
• PH30 Preventing unintentional injuries among under-15s in the home (Nov 2012)
• PH31 Preventing unintentional road injuries among under-15s: road design (Nov 2010)
• PH40 Social and emotional wellbeing – early years (2012)
• PH41 Walking and cycling (Nov 2012)
• PH42 Obesity – working with local communities (Nov 2012)
• PH44 Physical activity: brief advice for adults in primary care
• PH46 Assessing body mass index and waits circumference thresholds for intervening to prevent ill heath 

a premature death among adults from black, Asian and other minority ethnic groups in the UK.
• PH47 Managing overweight and obesity among children and young people (Oct 2013)
• PH49 Behaviour change: individual approaches
• PH51: Contraceptive services with a focus on young people up to 25
• CG43 Obesity: Guidance on the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight 

and obesity in adults and children 
• CG45 Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service guidance (Feb 2007) 
• CG89 When to Suspect Child Maltreatment (Jul 2009) 
• QS31 Quality standard for the health and wellbeing of looked-after children and young people (2013)
• QS43 Smoking cessation: supporting people to stop smoking 
• QS48 Depression in children and young people 
• QS94: Obesity in children and young people: prevention and lifestyle weight management programmes
• Evidence update 29: Strategies to prevent unintentional injury among children and young people aged 

under 15 (March 2013) 

Page 112



95

Appendix 2

Definitions

Whole School Approach: Emotional Wellbeing

Taken from NICE guidance Social and emotional wellbeing in primary education (PH12) - 
Develop and agree arrangements as to ensure all primary schools adopt a comprehensive, 
'whole school' approach to children's social and emotional wellbeing. All primary schools should: 
create an ethos and conditions that support positive behaviours for learning and for successful 
relationships, provide an emotionally secure and safe environment that prevents any form of 
bullying or violence, support all pupils and, where appropriate, their parents or carers (including 
adults with responsibility for looked after children), provide specific help for those children most at 
risk (or already showing signs) of social, emotional and behavioural problems, offer teachers and 
practitioners in schools training and support in how to develop children's social, emotional and 
psychological wellbeing.

Whole School Approach:  Smoking Reduction

Taken from NICE Guidance School-base interventions to prevent smoking (PH23) - Develop a 
whole-school or organisation-wide smoke free policy in consultation with young people and staff. 
This should include smoking prevention activities and staff training and development. Ensure the 
policy forms part of the wider healthy school or healthy further education strategy on wellbeing, 
sex and relationships education, drug education and behaviour.  Apply the policy to everyone 
using the premises (grounds as well as buildings), for any purpose, at any time. Do not allow any 
areas in the grounds to be designated for smoking (with the exception of caretakers' homes, as 
specified by law). Widely publicise the policy and ensure it is easily accessible so that everyone 
using the premises is aware of its content. (This includes making a printed version available.) 
Ensure the policy supports smoking cessation in addition to prevention, by making information on 
local NHS Stop Smoking Services easily available to staff and students. This should include 
details on the type of help available, when and where, and how to access the services.

Brief Interventions:

By this we mean a conversation that aims to give people the tools to change attitudes and handle 
underlying problems. It should include assessing an individuals’ motivation to change, explaining 
the consequences of behaviours, giving advice to change behaviour, providing a range of options 
to change, encouraging self-efficacy, agreeing steps on the journey and offering follow up.

Child Sexual Exploitation:

The sexual exploitation of children and  young people involves exploitative situations, contexts and 
relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive ‘something’ (e.g. food, 
accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection gifts, money) as a result of performing, and/or 
others performing on them, sexual activities.  In all cases those exploiting the child/young person 
have power over them by any of the following reasons; their age, gender, intellect, physical 
strength, economic or other resources.

Page 113



96

Female Genital Mutilation:

FGM is any procedure which involves the partial or complete removal of the external female 
genitalia, or other injury to the female genital organs for no medical reason.  Some cultures believe 
that FGM is necessary to ensure acceptance by their community, however this custom is against 
the law in the UK.  Furthermore, it is an offence to take a female out of the UK for FGM or for 
anyone to circumcise women or children for cultural or non-medical reasons here in the UK.

Types of schools:

Maintained Schools
Maintained schools are schools state funded and maintained by local authorities. There are several 
types of maintained school: 
 Community schools, controlled by the local council and not influenced by business or religious 

groups.
 Foundation schools, with more freedom to change the way they do things than community 

schools.
 Grammar schools, run by the council, a foundation body or a trust - they select all or most of 

their pupils based on academic ability and there is often an exam to get in
 Voluntary Aided School, state – funded where a foundation or trust (usually a religious 

organisation), contributes to building costs and has a substantial influence in the running of the 
school.

 Voluntary Controlled schools , have all their running costs met by the State, but with their land 
and buildings typically owned by a charitable foundation, which also appoints about a quarter 
of the school governors.

 Special School, caters for students who have special educational needs due to severe learning 
difficulties, physical disabilities or behavioural problems. Special schools may be specifically 
designed, staffed and resourced to provide appropriate special education for children with 
additional needs.

Academies
Academies are publicly funded independent schools. They don’t have to follow the national 
curriculum and can set their own term times. They still have to follow the same rules on admissions, 
special educational needs and exclusions as other state schools. Academies get money direct from 
the government, not the local council. They’re run by an academy trust which employs the staff. 
Some academies have sponsors such as businesses, universities, other schools, faith groups or 
voluntary groups. Sponsors are responsible for improving the performance of their schools.

Free Schools
Free schools are funded by the government but aren’t run by the local council. They have more 
control over how they do things. They’re ‘all-ability’ schools, so can’t use academic selection 
processes like a grammar school. Free schools can set their own pay and conditions for staff and 
change the length of school terms and the school day. They don’t have to follow the national 
curriculum.
Free schools are run on a not-for-profit basis and can be set up by groups like charities, universities, 
independent schools, community and faith groups, teachers, parents, businesses

Independent Schools / Private Schools
Independent / Private schools charge fees to attend instead of being funded by the government. It 
is a school that is independent in its finances and governance; it is not dependent upon national or 
local government for financing its operations, nor reliant on taxpayer contributions, and is instead 
funded by a combination of tuition charges, donations, and in some cases the investment yield of 
an endowment. It is governed by a board of directors that is elected by an independent means and 

Page 114

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Learning_disabilities
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Learning_disabilities
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Disabilities
https://www.gov.uk/national-curriculum
https://www.gov.uk/national-curriculum
https://www.gov.uk/schools-admissions/admissions-criteria
https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs
https://www.gov.uk/school-discipline-exclusions/exclusions
https://www.gov.uk/national-curriculum
https://www.gov.uk/national-curriculum
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/School
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Government
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Local_government
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Financial_endowment


97

a system of governance that ensures its independent operation. Pupils don’t have to follow the 
national curriculum. All private schools must be registered with the government and are inspected 
regularly.

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/national-curriculum


98

Appendix 3

Glossary

A&E Accident and Emergency
CAADA Co-ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse
CAF Common Assessment Framework
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
CMO Chief Medical Officer
CQC Care Quality Commission
CSE Child Sexual Exploitation
DASH Domestic Abuse, Stalking and 'Honour'-based Violence
FGM Female Genital Mutilation
GM Greater Manchester
GPs General Practitioners
HCP 5-19 Healthy Child Programme 5-19
JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
KPI Key Performance Indicators
LAC Looked After Children
MARAC Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference
NCMP National Child Measurement Programme
NEET Not in Education, Employment or Training
NHS National Health Service
NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
PSHE Personal Social and Health Education
SCPHN Specialist Community Public Health Nurses
SLA Service Level Agreement

Page 116



99

Appendix 4: Evidence and NICE guidance

1. Rapid Review to Update Evidence for the Healthy Child Programme 0–5 (Public Health England, 2015) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/429740/150520Rapid
ReviewHealthyChildProg_UPDATE_poisons_final.pdf

2. Healthy Child Programme – Pregnancy and the first five years of life (DH, 2009 – amended August 
2010) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-Programme-pregnancy-and-the-
first-5-years-of-life

3. Better health outcomes for children and young people (Pledge) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/207391/better_health_
outcomes_children_young_people_pledge.pdf

4. The Children and Young People’s Health Outcomes Strategy (DH, 2012) 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/cyphof

5. Allen, G. (2011a) Early Intervention: The Next Steps. HM Government: London 
http://preventionaction.org/sites/all/files/Early%20intervention%20report.pdf

6. Allen, G. (2011b) Early Intervention: Smart Investment, Massive Savings. HM Government: London 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-intervention-smart-investment-massive-savings

7. Field, F. (2010) The Foundation Years: preventing poor children becoming poor adults. HM 
Government: London. 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110120090128/http:/povertyreview.independent.gov.uk/
media/20254/poverty-report.pdf

8. Health visitor implementation plan 2011-15: A call to action (DH, 2011) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213110/Health-visitor-
implementation-plan.pdf

9. The National Health Visitor Plan: progress to date and implementation 2013 onwards (DH, 2013) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/208960/Implementing
_the_Health_Visitor_Vision.pdf

10. The Operating Framework for the NHS in England 2012/13 (DH, 2011) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-operating-framework-for-the-nhs-in-england-2012-
13

11. Strategic and Operational Planning 2014 to 2019 (NHS England 2014) 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/sop/

12. NHS Outcomes Framework 2014 to 2015 (DH, 2013) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-outcomes-framework-2014-to-2015

13. Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013 to 2016 (DH, 2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-improving-outcomes-and-
supporting-transparency

14. The Marmot Review (2010) Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England, post-2010 
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-
society-healthy-lives-full-report

15. Dame Clare Tickell (2011) The Early Years: Foundations for life, health and learning – An Independent 
Report on the Early Years Foundation Stage to Her Majesty’s Government 
http://www.education.gov.uk/tickellreview

16. Hall D and Elliman D (2006) Health for All Children (revised 4th edition). Oxford: Oxford University 
Press. https://www.waterstones.com/book/health-for-all-children/david-m-b-hall/david-

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/429740/150520RapidReviewHealthyChildProg_UPDATE_poisons_final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/429740/150520RapidReviewHealthyChildProg_UPDATE_poisons_final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-Programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-Programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-improving-outcomes-and-supporting-transparency
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-improving-outcomes-and-supporting-transparency
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report


100

elliman/9780198570844 (Please note: this link opens to the bookstore for purchase of copies of this 
edition)

17. Service vision for health visiting in England (CPHVA conference 20-22 October 2010) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/service-vision-for-health-visiting-in-england-cphva-
conference-20-22-october-2010

18. Securing Excellence in Commissioning for the Healthy Child Programme 0 to 5 Years 2013 – 2015 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/comm-health-child-prog.pdf

19. Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS (DH, 2010) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213823/dh_117794.pd
f

20. Liberating the NHS: Legislative framework and next steps DH, 2011) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/publication-of-liberating-the-nhs-legislative-framework-
and-next-steps-and-the-2011-12-operating-framework

21. Achieving equity and excellence for children. How liberating the NHS will help us meet the needs of 
children and young people (DH, 2010) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/achieving-equity-
and-excellence-for-children

22. Getting it right for children and young people: Overcoming cultural barriers in the NHS so as to meet 
their needs (DH, 2010) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/getting-it-right-for-children-and-
young-people-overcoming-cultural-barriers-in-the-nhs-so-as-to-meet-their-needs

23. Healthy lives, healthy people: our strategy for public health in England (DH, 2010) and Healthy lives, 
healthy people: update and way forward (DH, 2011) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-our-strategy-for-public-
health-in-england

24. Healthy lives, healthy people: a call to action on obesity in England (DH, 2011) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-a-call-to-action-on-obesity-
in-england

25. UK physical activity guidelines (DH, 2011) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-physical-
activity-guidelines

26. Working Together to Safeguard Children: A guide to interagency working to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children (HM Government 2013) 
http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/chapters/contents.html

27. Fair Society, Healthy Lives. A strategic review of health inequalities in England post 2010 (The Marmot 
Review, 2010) http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/

28. The 1001 Critical Days: The importance of the conception to age 2 period. Wave Trust, 2013 
http://www.andrealeadsom.com/downloads/1001cdmanifesto.pdf

29. Conception to Age 2: The Age of Opportunity. WAVE Trust and DfE http://www.wavetrust.org/our-
work/publications/reports/conception-age-2-age-opportunity

30. Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2012. Our Children Deserve Better: Prevention Pays. 
Department of Health, (2013) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-
annual-report-2012-our-children-deserve-better-prevention-pays

31. UNICEF UK Baby Friendly Initiative http://www.unicef.org.uk/babyfriendly/

32. Healthy beginnings: giving our children the best start in life, Local Government Association, 2015 
http://www.local.gov.uk/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/7561302/PUBLICATION

Page 118

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/comm-health-child-prog.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/achieving-equity-and-excellence-for-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/achieving-equity-and-excellence-for-children


101

33. Department of Health and No Health Without Mental Health: A Cross-Government Mental Health 
Outcomes Strategy for People of All Ages (2011) HM Government 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/no-health-without-mental-health-a-cross-government-
mental-health-outcomes-strategy-for-people-of-all-ages-a-call-to-action

34. Managing complex health needs in schools and early years settings (DfES, 2005) 
http://www.amazon.co.uk/Including-Me-Managing-Complex-Settings/dp/1904787606 (Please note: 
this link opens to the bookstore for purchase of copies of this edition).

35. Department of Health (2014) Annual National Child Measurement Programme Guidelines 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/377902/NCMP_operat
ional_guidance.pdf

36. Department of Health (2014) Maximising the school nursing team contribution to the public health of 
school-age Children – guidance to support the commissioning of public health provision for school-
age Children 5-19 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/303769/Service_speci
fications.pdf

37. Department of Education (2014) Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions. Statutory 
guidance for governing bodies of maintained schools and proprietors of academies in England 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/306952/Statutory_guid
ance_on_supporting_pupils_at_school_with_medical_conditions.pdf

38. Department of Education and Health (2014) Guidance on the special educational needs and disability 
(SEND) system for Children and Young People age 0 to 25, from 1 September 2014 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25

39. Department of Health (2012) The Children and Young People’s Health Outcomes Strategy 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-experts-set-out-recommendations-to-
improve-children-and-young-people-s-health-results

40. Department of Health (2012) Improving outcomes and supporting transparency, Part 1: A public health 
outcomes framework for England, 2013-2016 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/263658/2901502_PH
OF_Improving_Outcomes_PT1A_v1_1.pdf

41. Department of Health (2014) Improving outcomes and supporting transparency, Part 2: Summary 
technical specifications of public health indicators) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/382115/PHOF_Part_2
_Technical_Specifications_Autumn_2014_refresh_02.12.2014_FINAL.pdf

42. Department of Health (2011) Healthy lives, healthy people: our strategy for public health in England 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216096/dh_127424.pd
f

43. Department of Health (2011) Healthy lives, healthy people: update and way forward (DH, 2011) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216142/dh_129334.pd
f

44. Department of Health (2011) You’re welcome: quality criteria for Young People friendly health services 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216350/dh_127632.pd
f

45. Department of Health (2010) Achieving equity and excellence for Children. How liberating the NHS 
will help us meet the needs of Children and Young People 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216652/dh_119490.pd
f

46. Department of Health (2010) Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS and Liberating the NHS: 
Legislative framework and next steps 

Page 119



102

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213823/dh_117794.pd
f

47. Department of Health (2009) Healthy Child Programme – 5-19 years (amended August 2010) 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/
groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_108866.pdf

48. Department of Health (2009) Healthy Child Programme – The two year review 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/377800/dh_108329.pd
f

49. Children’s Act 2004 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted

50. The RCN’s UK position on school nursing (February 2012) 
http://www.rcn.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/433282/School_nursing_position_statement_V5FI
NAL.pdf

51. The School Health Service: briefing for local council members 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-health-service-briefing-for-local-council-
members

52. Field, F. (2010) The Foundation Years: preventing poor Children becoming poor adults. HM 
Government: London 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110120090128/http:/povertyreview.independent.gov.uk/
media/20254/poverty-report.pdf

53. Reaching Out: Think Family Analysis and themes from the families at Risk review (Social Exclusion 
Task Force, 2007) http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=86188

54. Delivering better oral health: An evidence based toolkit for prevention (PHE 2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delivering-better-oral-health-an-evidence-based-toolkit-
for-prevention

55. Local authorities improving oral health: commissioning better oral health for children and young 
people: An evidence-informed toolkit for local authorities. (PHE, 2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/321503/CBOHMaindo
cumentJUNE2014.pdf

56. Oral health: approaches for local authorities and their partners to improve the oral health of their 
communities. (NICE, 2014) http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph55/resources/guidance-oral-health-
approaches-for-local-authorities-and-their-partners-to-improve-the-oral-health-of-their-communities-
pdf

57. Oral health promotion: general dental practice, (NICE, 2015) https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng30

58. National Healthy Schools Programme; Developing the Evidence Base: Warwick, Mooney and Oliver - 
Thomas Coram Research Unit, 2009 
http://eprints.ioe.ac.uk/4195/1/Warwick2009HlthySchlEvBase_FinRep.pdf

59. Reducing unintentional injuries in and around the home among children under five years (PHE, 2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322210/Reducing_uni
ntentional_injuries_in_and_around_the_home_among_children_under_five_years.pdf

60. Reducing unintentional injuries on the roads among children and young people under 25 years (PHE, 
2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/322212/Reducing_uni
ntentional_injuries_on_the_roads_among_children_and_young_people_under_25_years.pdf

61. Early Years High Impact Areas (2014) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/commissioning-
of-public-health-services-for-children

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213823/dh_117794.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213823/dh_117794.pdf
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=86188
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/commissioning-of-public-health-services-for-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/commissioning-of-public-health-services-for-children


103

61.1 Early Years High Impact Area 1 – transition to parenthood and the early weeks
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4131
28/2903110_Early_Years_Impact_1_V0_2W.pdf

61.2 Early Years High Impact Area 2 – maternal (perinatal) mental health
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4131
29/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_2_V0_1W.pdf

61.3 Early Years High Impact Area 3 – breastfeeding (initiation and duration)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4131
30/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_3_V0_1W.pdf

61.4 Early Years High Impact Area 4 – healthy weight, healthy nutrition (to include physical 
activity)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4131
31/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_4_V0_1W.pdf

61.5 Early Years High Impact Area 5 – managing minor illness and reducing accidents 
(reducing hospital attendance/admissions)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4131
33/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_5_V0_1W.pdf

61.6 Early Years High Impact Area 6 – health, wellbeing and development of the child age 
2 – two year old review (integrated review) and support to be ‘ready for school’
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4131
34/2903110_Early_Years_Impact_6_V0_2W.pdf

62. Public mental health leadership and workforce development framework: confidence, competence, 
commitment http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=233446&src=KU

63. What works in promoting social and emotional well-being and responding to mental health problems 
in schools? Advice for schools and framework document 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=233515&src=KU

64. Teacher guidance: preparing to teach about mental health and emotional wellbeing 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=234403&src=KU

65. Personal, social, health and economic (PSHE) education: a review of impact and effective practice 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=233103&src=KU

66. Helping school nurses to tackle child sexual exploitation 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=231911&src=KU

67. The School Food Plan, Department for Education (2013) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-school-food-plan

68. Building resilience and character in young people: alcohol and drug prevention briefing paper 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=232036&src=KU

69. Public Health England (2014) The Link between Pupil Health and Wellbeing and Attainment. A briefing 
for head teachers, governors and staff in education settings 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-looked-after-
Children

70. The FNP Information Pack http://www.fnp.nhs.uk/fnp-information-pack

71. Screening and Immunisation service specifications- 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-health-commissioning-in-the-nhs-2015-to-2016

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413130/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_3_V0_1W.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413130/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_3_V0_1W.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413131/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_4_V0_1W.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413131/2902452_Early_Years_Impact_4_V0_1W.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413134/2903110_Early_Years_Impact_6_V0_2W.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413134/2903110_Early_Years_Impact_6_V0_2W.pdf
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=233446&src=KU


104

72. Svanberg P O, Barlow J & TigbeW The Parent–Infant Interaction Observation Scale: reliability and 
validity of a screening tool. Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 2013: Volume 31, Issue 1, 
2013

73. Milford R, Oates J. Universal screening and early intervention for maternal mental health and 
attachment difficulties. Community Practitioner, 2009; 82(8)

74. Perinatal Mental Health for Health Visitors http://www.e-lfh.org.uk/programmes/perinatal-mental-
health/

75. Safeguarding children and young people: enhancing professional practice-working with children and 
families. http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/SAFEGUARDING_ENHANCING-
PROFESSIONAL-GUIDANCE.pdf

76. Building community capacity http://www.e-lfh.org.uk/programmes/building-community-capacity/

77. Healthy Child Programme: E-learning to optimise health http://www.e-lfh.org.uk/programmes/healthy-
child-programme/

78. Commissioning of public health services for children 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/commissioning-of-public-health-services-for-children

79. National health visitor plan: progress and implementation 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visitor-vision

80. Midwifery services for improved health and wellbeing 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/midwifery-services-for-improved-health-and-wellbeing

81. The midwifery public health contribution https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-midwifery-
public-health-contribution

82. Maternal mental health pathway aims to provide a structures approach 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/maternal-mental-health-pathway-aims-to-provide-a-structured-
approach

83. Guidance for health professional on domestic violence 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-health-professionals-on-domestic-violence

84. SAFER communication between health visitors and social care teams 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safer-communications-bertween-health-visitors-and-
social-care-teams

85. Educating health visitors for a transformed service https://www.gov.uk/government/news/educating-
health-visitors-for-a-transformed-service

86. A health visiting career https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-health-visiting-career

87. Health visiting programme: Early implementer sites case studies 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visiting-programme-case-studies

88. Healthy Child Programme: Pregnancy and the first five years of life 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-
years-of-life

89. Framework for health visitor teaching https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/framework-for-
health-visitor-teaching

Page 122

http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/SAFEGUARDING_ENHANCING-PROFESSIONAL-GUIDANCE.pdf
http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/SAFEGUARDING_ENHANCING-PROFESSIONAL-GUIDANCE.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/maternal-mental-health-pathway-aims-to-provide-a-structured-approach
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/maternal-mental-health-pathway-aims-to-provide-a-structured-approach
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visiting-programme-case-studies


105

90. Personal and professional attributes for consideration as part of the recruitment and selection process 
into health visiting programmes https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/personal-and-
professional-attributes-for-consideration-as-part-of-the-recruitment-and-selection-process-into-
health-visiting-programmes

91. Getting it right for children, young people and families 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/getting-it-right-for-children-young-people-and-families

92. Supporting the health and wellbeing of military families 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-the-health-and-wellbeing-of-military-families

93. Helping children to be safer, healthier and free of crime 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/helping-children-to-be-safer-healthier-and-free-of-crime

94. NHS Careers School Nursing toolkit https://www.healthcareers.nhs.uk/explore-roles/public-
health/school-nurse

95. School nurse fact sheet: Health and social care professionals 
http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/SNDP-Fact-sheet-HSCP.pdf

96. School nurse fact sheet: Head teachers and governors 
http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/Head-Teacher-Fact-Sheet.pdf

97. Students starting secondary school urged to get to know their school nurse 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/students-starting-secondary-school-urged-to-get-to-
know-their-school-nurse

98. Health visitors and school nurses: Fact sheet for parents 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-visitors-and-school-nurses-factsheet-for-parents

99. School nursing: Public health services https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-nursing-
public-health-services

100. School health service: Briefing for local council members 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-health-service-briefing-for-local-council-
members

101. Safeguarding children including a focus on prevention, early help, targeted support, early 
intervention and sharing of information 
http://www.education.gov.uk/aboutdfe/statutory/g00213160/working-together-to-safeguard-children

102. Post natal maternal mental health 
http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG37NICEguideline.pdf

103. Young parents including Family Nurse Partnership http://fnp.nhs.uk/ Substance and alcohol 
misuse http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-
children-and-young-people http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-
among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people#path=view%3A/pathways/reducing-substance-
misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people/working-with-vulnerable-and-disadvantaged-
children-and-young-people.xml&content=view-index

104. Domestic abuse http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/12116/64783/64783.

105. Parental and infant perinatal mental health and early attachment For best practice see 
Tameside & Glossop Early Attachment Service https://www.stockport.nhs.uk/serviceview/96/early-
attachment-service

106. Parenting Programme Pathway (Social and Emotional Development) (Greater Manchester 
Public Service Reform Early Years Programme)

Page 123

http://media.dh.gov.uk/network/387/files/2012/11/Head-Teacher-Fact-Sheet.pdf
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people#path=view%3A/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people/working-with-vulnerable-and-disadvantaged-children-and-young-people.xml&content=view-index
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people#path=view%3A/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people/working-with-vulnerable-and-disadvantaged-children-and-young-people.xml&content=view-index
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people#path=view%3A/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people/working-with-vulnerable-and-disadvantaged-children-and-young-people.xml&content=view-index
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people#path=view%3A/pathways/reducing-substance-misuse-among-vulnerable-children-and-young-people/working-with-vulnerable-and-disadvantaged-children-and-young-people.xml&content=view-index
http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/12116/64783/64783


106

107. Breastfeeding http://www.unicef.org.uk/BabyFriendly/Health-Professionals/going-baby-
friendly/

108. Nutrition and healthy weight including failure to thrive (NCMP and PHE via 
http://www.noo.org.uk)

109. Children with additional needs and disabilities 
http://www.councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/media/80488/pathways_to_success.pdf

110. Transitions between midwifery, FNP and health visiting (DH) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/465344/2903819_PH
E_Midwifery_accessible.pdf

111. Transition from health visiting to school nursing (DH) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216466/dh_133020.pd
f

112. Seldom heard communities including families with young children from traveller, asylum 
seeker and refugee communities and homeless families. 
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/guides/guide37-good-practice-in-social-care-with-refugees-and-
asylum-seekers/

113. Families with complex and multiple needs including ‘troubled families’: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/troubled-families-supporting-health-need

114. Nurse Prescribing guidance: 
http://www.nmcuk.org/Documents/Circulars/2009circulars/NMC%20Circular%2002_2009%20Annex
e%201.pdf

115. School Nursing and health visiting partnership- pathways for supporting children and their 
families. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216466/dh_133020.pd
f

116. School nursing development Programme: maximizing the support for children with complex 
and or additional health needs. http://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=6797&p=0

117. Emotional and Health and wellbeing pathway 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/299268/Emotional_He
alth_and_Wellbeing_pathway_Interactive_FINAL.pdf

118. Developing strong relationships and supporting positive sexual health 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/299269/Sexual_Healt
h_Pathway_Interactive_FINAL.pdf

119. Helping School Nurses to tackle child sexual exploitation 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/helping-school-nurses-to-tackle-child-sexual-
exploitation

120. School Nurse Champions 
http://www.cyp1.org.uk/userfiles/file/School%20Nurse%20Champions.pdf

121. Safeguarding children including a focus on prevention, early help, targeted support, early 
intervention and sharing information 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419595/Working_Tog
ether_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf

Guidance in development:
122. Early years: promoting health and wellbeing (due to be published in August 2016)

Page 124

http://www.councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/media/80488/pathways_to_success.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/troubled-families-supporting-health-need


107

123. Faltering growth: recognition and management of faltering growth in children (due to be 
published in 2017)

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (CCC) 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 5

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

22nd January 2020 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Chief Accountable Officer

Date of Paper: 14th January 2020

Subject: Finance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Steve Dixon, Chief Accountable Officer
0161 212 4804

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

 Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Children’s Commissioning Committee with:

 An update on the 2019/20 financial performance of the Integrated Fund for 
Children services (Section 2)

 An update on the implementation of the Best Value for children’s service and the 
impact of the new model of care (Section 3)- a separate, more detailed paper on 
this is on the Children’s Commissioning Committee agenda 

Page 127

Agenda Item 6



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?
Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought


Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)


Detailed financial position reported to 
the Service and Finance Group (SFG) 
on 3rd December and 7th January 
2020.

Updated forecast positions. 
Additional information added 
in relation to progress on Best 
Value (new model for 
Children’s Services)

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 128



  

Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC)
Finance Report – 22nd January 2020

1. Executive Summary

This finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) with an in-
year update on how the children’s element of the Integrated Fund is performing in this 
financial year (2019/20).  This report is based on month 9 (December 2019) finance 
information.

Based on the latest financial information, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund is 
currently forecasting to overspend by £6.7m in 2019/20.  This is an improvement of £0.2m 
from the last finance report to November’s CCC, which had a forecast year end overspend 
of £6.9m.

Section 2 highlights the main areas of over and under spend within the children’s 
Integrated Fund.  The main area of overspend related to Looked After Children service line, 
of which £4.7m relates to Out of Area placements (Appendix 1). 

Salford CCG has agreed an additional £3m investment into Children’s services to test a 
new model of care and increase staffing in Salford which should reduce the number of out 
of area placements.  Any financial savings associated with this investment have not been 
included in this year’s financial forecast.  The new model went live in November 2019.  The 
first report was presented at Service and Finance Group (SFG) in December 2019. 
Section 3 gives a summary of progress and impact to date.  A more detailed report is 
scheduled on the agenda for Children’s Commissioning Committee in January 2020.

Following discussions at the last Children’s Commissioning Committee, more information 
has been provided in Appendix 2 in relation to services in the Localities budget.

The Children’s Commissioning Committee is asked to note the in-year and forecast 
position for the children’s Integrated Fund for 2019/20.

2. 2019/20 IN YEAR MONITORING

2.1 This latest finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) 
with in-year update on how the Children’s element of the Children’s Integrated Fund 
is performing in the financial year (2019/20).  The appendices contain a lot of detail 
and are appended to give members a more thorough understanding of the scope of 
the Children’s Integrated Fund.  There are explanatory notes included in the 
appendices which hopefully explain the key messages contained within them.

2.3 This finance report is based on information up to the end of December 2019.  A 
detailed analysis of the position for each of the children’s services within the 
Children’s Integrated Fund is shown in Appendices One to Four.

Page 129



  

2.4 The Service and Finance Group (SFG) reviewed the budgets in detail at the 
meetings on the 3rd December 2019 and 7th January 2020.  At this stage of the year, 
the year-end forecast on children’s services is an over performance of £6.7m, as 
shown in Table 1 below.

Table 1: 2019/20 Financial Summary

YTD 
Budget

 YTD Actual
YTD 

Variance
Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement in 
Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

TOTAL FUNDING £72,731 £72,731 - £117,451 £117,451 - - - 

Safeguarding £223 £219 (£4) £351 £339 (£13) (£18) £6
Looked After Children £15,289 £19,975 £4,686 £22,775 £29,255 £6,480 £6,632 (£152)
Localities £5,527 £5,918 £391 £8,936 £9,389 £452 £352 £101
Complex Needs SEN £3,279 £3,667 £389 £5,215 £5,774 £559 £643 (£84)
Partnerships £2,736 £2,833 £97 £3,690 £3,810 £120 £120 (£0)
Asset Management & Delivery £549 £523 (£26) £1,043 £1,001 (£42) (£100) £57
Transforming Learning £1,477 £1,527 £50 £2,256 £2,324 £68 (£14) £82
Early Years (Early Intervention/Starting Life Well) - - - - - - - -
Skills & Work / Careers £620 £641 £21 £1,460 £1,460 - - -
Helping Families £792 £778 (£14) £1,284 £1,284 - - -
Resources & Investment £3,131 £2,966 (£165) £6,694 £6,623 (£71) (£111) £40
Children's Administration £1,145 £1,136 (£9) £1,387 £1,373 (£14) (£2) (£12)
Specific Grants £8,262 £8,232 (£30) £17,812 £17,812 - - -
PH Looked After Children (next steps post) £14 £14 - £21 £21 - - -
PH 0-19 Services  £3,514 £3,514 - £5,270 £5,270 - - -
Home Safety £20 £20 - £30 £30 - - -
Early Years £792 £792 - £1,188 £1,188 - - -
Youth Service £233 £233 - £350 £350 - - -
Placements/Non Contracted Activity £582 £515 (£67) £872 £729 (£144) (£71) (£73)
Community Services £6,091 £6,051 (£40) £9,137 £9,076 (£60) (£56) (£4)
Acute Services £17,597 £17,192 (£405) £26,396 £25,789 (£607) (£495) (£112)

TOTAL - Integrated Fund £71,876 £76,748 £4,872 £116,168 £122,897 £6,728 £6,880 (£151)

TOTAL - Aligned £855 £804 (£51) £1,283 £1,206 (£77) (£21) (£56)

TOTAL - Committed Developments - - - - - - - - 

TOTAL EXPENDITIURE £72,731 £77,552 £4,821 £117,451 £124,103 £6,651 £6,859 (£207)

Over/(Under) Spend - £4,821 £4,821 - £6,651 £6,651 £6,859 (£207)

£'000's %
£2,128 32%
£4,523 68%
£6,651 100%

2019/20 Monitoring

Description
CCG Element of Overspend/(Underspend)

Council Element of Overspend/(Underspend)
Grand Total

2.5 The main reasons for the overspend relates to the Looked After Children section 
which is forecasting to overspend by £6.5m, of which £4.7m relates to out of Area 
placements that have continued to increase year on year.  Appendix 1 gives a 
breakdown of the other services in the Looked after Children category.  

2.6 The improvement in position is down to a reduction in the children’s hospital services 
spend where there has been reduced activity from the last report to this committee.  
Looked after Children shows a reduction in spend relating to fostering services as 

Page 130



  

there has been a reduction in the number of clients in this area.  This is the result of 
initial work undertaken within children’s prior to the “No Wrong Door” scheme coming 
into effect.  Within Localities the biggest pressure is within Child Protection and 
Planning service where overspend has continued through the year.

2.7 The financial impact of the best value schemes, such as “no wrong door”, has not 
currently been built into this financial year’s forecast.  Section 3 covers best value in 
more detail.

3. Best Value

3.1 Salford CCG agreed an additional £3m non recurrent investment into children’s 
services to test a new model of care and increase staffing in Salford which should 
reduce the need to place children out of area.  The implementation and impact of this 
new model will be monitored and reported back to the Service and Finance Group 
each quarter and updates provided to the Children’s Commissioning Committee

3.2 This identified a Year 1 [2019/20] target to reduce out of borough placements and 
Independent Foster Arrangements [IFAs].  Baseline figures, target reductions and 
actual performance to October 2019 are in the table below:

Plan Actual Plan Actual
Baseline 47 47 63 63
Reduction -4 -12 0 -22
Growth 4 9 4 11
Total at the end of Year 1 47 44 67 52

56 74

Placements IFAs

“Do Nothing” [= baseline + growth]

3.3 Since the start of this work, there has been a reduction of 12 external placements (4 
returning to family, 4 were moved to in-house provision, 2 were discharged, 1 
transferred to adult services and 1 awaiting decision on next steps as currently within 
the age group 16+ category). There were 9 new placements made out of borough, 
meaning there has been a net reduction of 3 out of borough placements for the year 
to date.  In the context of year on year increases in the number of out of borough 
placements, these initial impacts are encouraging.

3.4 There was no increase in IFA numbers as a result of ending the 12 placements in the 
review period however there were 9 new placements.  A case by case review of the 
baseline cohort of 63 IFAs was undertaken with 22 young people no longer being in a 
IFAs placement, 25 young people are now in long-term arrangements, and the 
remaining 16 are still currently under review.

4. Recommendations

Page 131



  

4.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) is asked to:

 Note the in year and forecast position of the children’s services within the 
Integrated Fund for 2019/20.

Steve Dixon
Chief Accountable Officer, Salford CCG
14th January 2020

Page 132



  

Appendix 1 – Looked After Children 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Looked After Children Team £1,026 £1,256 £230 £1,588 £1,899 £311 £218 £93
Family Placement £573 £548 -£25 £860 £822 -£38 -£29 -£9
Independent Foster Agency £1,632 £1,483 -£149 £2,448 £2,225 -£223 -£48 -£176
Outside Placements £2,762 £6,034 £3,271 £4,143 £8,813 £4,670 £4,695 -£25
Adoption £299 £552 £253 £479 £857 £379 £386 -£7
Fostering £5,236 £5,741 £505 £7,717 £8,422 £705 £712 -£7
Next Steps - Care Leavers £1,554 £1,706 £152 £2,294 £2,303 £9 -£11 £20
Residential £2,206 £2,656 £450 £3,246 £3,914 £668 £709 -£41

Total Looked After Children £15,289 £19,975 £4,686 £22,775 £29,255 £6,480 £6,632 -£152

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of the Looked after Children services that are managed directly by 
Salford City Council.

There has been an improvement of £0.2m in the year end forecast.  We continue to see 
improvements in the fostering year end forecast as there is a reduction in the number of 
clients in this area.  This is the result of initial work undertaken within children’s and not due 
to the impact of “No Wrong Door” scheme.

This is the biggest area financial risk for the Children’s Integrated Fund. The impact of the 
“No Wrong Door” scheme hasn’t been built into this forecast position but this should have a 
positive impact on improving the position in future months.

Page 133



Appendix 2 – Localities 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Children in Need & Child Protection £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £428 -£428
Protect Team (Complex Safeguarding Hub) £205 £234 £29 £314 £356 £43 £0 £43
Outreach Service £706 £667 -£39 £1,059 £1,000 -£58 £0 -£58
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (The Bridge) £398 £327 -£70 £549 £444 -£105 £0 -£105
Referral Initial Assessment team £1,030 £1,285 £255 £1,557 £1,820 £263 £0 £263
Child Protection & Planning £2,158 £2,372 £214 £3,249 £3,563 £314 £0 £314
Emergency Duty Team £250 £250 -£1 £375 £375 -£1 £0 -£1
Other Child Protection -£393 -£330 £63 -£130 -£70 £60 £0 £60
Children with Disability £736 £735 -£0 £1,104 £1,103 -£0 £0 -£0
Locality Team North £55 £56 £1 £104 £95 -£8 -£76 £68
Locality Team South £85 £94 £8 £152 £140 -£12 £0 -£12
Locality Team West £74 £79 £4 £166 £162 -£4 £0 -£4
Locality Team Central £89 £76 -£13 £184 £107 -£77 £0 -£77
Locality Team General £93 £27 -£65 £170 £156 -£14 £0 -£14
Parenting Team £42 £47 £5 £85 £137 £52 £0 £52

Total Localities £5,527 £5,918 £391 £8,936 £9,389 £452 £352 £101

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of the Localities Services that are managed directly by Salford City Council.  
This has been include in response to the request to see more information on spend within this area 
by the committee at the last meeting.

Page 134



Appendix 3 – Acute Hospital Pooled Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Salford Royal NHS FT £2,588 £2,593 £5 £3,882 £3,890 £8 £152 -£144
Manchester NHS FT £10,431 £10,002 -£429 £15,647 £15,004 -£643 -£627 -£16
Bolton Hospitals NHS FT £2,550 £2,433 -£117 £3,825 £3,650 -£175 -£305 £130
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust £1,535 £1,586 £51 £2,303 £2,379 £76 £118 -£42
Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh Hospitals NHS FT £33 £17 -£16 £50 £26 -£24 -£27 £3
Warrington & Halton FT (North Chesh Hosp) £386 £501 £116 £578 £752 £173 £224 -£51
Stockport NHS FT £49 £31 -£18 £73 £47 -£27 -£37 £11
Tameside NHS FT £14 £16 £1 £22 £23 £2 -£8 £9
Blackpool Teaching NHS FT £10 £8 -£2 £16 £12 -£4 £0 -£4
Lancashire Teaching NHS FT £0 £4 £4 £0 £6 £6 £15 -£9

Total Acute Services (Pool) £17,597 £17,192 -£405 £26,396 £25,789 -£607 -£495 -£112

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix relates to the children’s hospital activity and maternity services that is included within 
the pooled budget.  This relates to all of the hospitals that Salford people attend.  The main area of 
spend at Salford Royal FT relates to children’s A&E activity (PANDA Unit) which is over half of the 
annual children’s hospital spend with Salford Royal FT.  The majority of Salford Children’s hospital 
activity (outpatients, day cases and inpatients) is with Manchester Foundation Trust (MFT) on the 
central Manchester site. 

These services are forecast to underspend by £0.6m on children’s services in 2019/20 which an 
improvement in the year end forecast of £0.1m compared with the last report to this committee.  

The main area of underspend is at Manchester Foundation Trust (£0.6m).  The main reason is a 
change in case mix within the maternity pathway.  This means the activity is in line with plan but the 
costs relating to the activity are at a lower level than we originally planned for in 2019/20.  Secondly 
the CAHMS service has lower than planned activity figures for the year so far, it is hoped with an 
increase in staffing that this will start to recover in the next few months. However, we need 
assurance from MFT that there is not a growing waiting list in this area and Salford children 
are getting timely access to the CAMHS service.

There has been a reduction in underspend at Bolton Foundation Trust as we have seen an increase 
in births since the last report to the committee this has been off-set with less births seen in other 
areas as we remain on plan for the number of births per year within Salford.

Page 135



Appendix 4 – Acute Hospital Aligned Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Manchester NHS FT £655 £639 -£16 £983 £959 -£24 £38 -£62
Bolton Hospitals NHS FT £163 £132 -£31 £245 £198 -£47 -£57 £10
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust £27 £26 -£2 £41 £38 -£3 £1 -£4
Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh Hospitals NHS FT £2 £0 -£2 £4 £1 -£3 -£3 -£0
Warrington & Halton FT (North Chesh Hosp) £5 £6 £1 £7 £9 £2 £3 -£1
Stockport NHS FT £3 £1 -£2 £4 £1 -£3 -£4 £1

Total Acute Services (Pool) £855 £804 -£51 £1,283 £1,206 -£77 -£21 -£56

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix relates to those hospital services that legally cannot be included in a pooled budget.  
These services predominantly relate to surgical hospital activity.  These services are included in the 
Integrated Fund and therefore within the financial risk share agreement. 

The forecast is in line with the last report to this committee.

Page 136



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report: Ingleside Birth & 
Community Centre Update

Committee:  Children’s Commissioning 
Committee
Date: 22 January 2020

Category of exemption applied: Paragraphs 2 & 3

Public Interest Test Questionnaire
This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality.

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in 
public debate about current issues?

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions? 

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers? 

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)  

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred?

Page 137

Agenda Item 8



FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information? 

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving 
the public useful information? 

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or 
individuals at risk? 

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general 
would benefit more from information being withheld? 

 

Justification of decision
(Please provide explicit reasoning)

Information within the report is commercially confidential. It may also impact 
on staff, and therefore the effective delivery of services, and in addition, may 
lead to concern amongst patients.

Other documents attached? N/A

Name and Title:  Eejay Whitehead, Senior Service Improvement Mgr

Date: 15/01/20

Page 138



Document is Restricted

Page 139

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

Childrens Commissioning Committee 
PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

22 January 2019 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Charlotte Ramsden 

Date of Paper: 22/01/2020

Subject: Thriving Families Neglect Strategy and 
Needs Assessment 

In case of query 
Please contact:

Debbie Blackburn 
(0161) 370 1878 

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

 Children’s and Maternity Services
 Primary Care
 Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:                                   
To provide the Childrens Commissioning Committee with assurance that work is 
progressing on the development of a needs assessment to enable us to understand the 
needs of our population in relation to neglect and its causes, to enable us to target support 
more effectively to identify the causal factors and provide support to prevent and intervene 
earlier in cases of neglect. 
Neglect has been an SSCB and SSCP priority for the last five years. The existing SSCB 
Neglect Strategy has now expired, and work has been underway over the past six months 
to undertake a needs assessment and generate a new strategy for the next three years that 
looks at progress against the old strategy and solutions going forward.

Carole Brooks Associates was commissioned to provide support on this work. 

The needs assessment and strategy have been written from the following position:
• Collaboration across the partnership with wide involvement of a range of 
professionals and the Youth Council. This included a short term task and finish group with 
good multi-agency involvement and a Neglect Summit on 29th November. Engaging 
parents has not been as successful as planned but there are plans to consult with parents 

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



 

                                                          

in the new year (see implementation plan attached to the strategy). 
• ‘Neglect’ is a very wide and deficit term which is applied to a wide spectrum of 
parenting and not solely when it is abusive, which the new strategy addresses. It 
recognises that there are different types and connected factors, which need to be 
addressed. 
• Salford’s position of being innovative, strengths based and readiness for evidence-
inspired practice and change, has resulted in a strategy and plan which proposes a greater 
parenting-positive model, seeking to eradicate root causes of neglect and build parental 
resilience and understanding.

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Early identification of neglectful situations will 
mean that both parents and children receive 
timely and proportionate responses to meet 
their needs. 
This will in the long term reduce the burden on 
a wide range of services including Adult and 
Childrens Mental health, Education and 
Childrens Social Care 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

A potential risk the number of other actions and 
programmes in progress that have the ability to 
either dovetail with the neglect strategy and 
work (e.g. inclusion strategy, ACEs work, Better 
Start etc.) or create silos/duplication of working. 
This will be mitigated by the development of a 
clear communication plan and ongoing dialogue 
across the system. 

Capacity to undertake the activities required to 
firm up the solutions and action plan, and 
deliver some of the actions. This is a whole 
system change which requires strategic 
commitment and leadership, by bringing this 
paper through various governance routes we 
will ensure sign up to the approach.  

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

An equality impact assessment will take place 
as part of the action and implementation plan. 

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 

The paper and ongoing work aims to reduce the 
burden of the long term impact of adverse 
childhood experiences, this paper is the start of 
work which will develop and continue and be 
reported via a variety of boards to gain traction. 

Page 156



 

                                                          

PAPER REDUCE THEM?

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

None identified 

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

Footnote:

Members of Childrens Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 157



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

 Needs assessment consulted with 
adults and young people 

Incorporated into the needs 
assessment and strategy 

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

 Focus groups with a wide variety of 
health, education, police,  and social 
care practitioners

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought 

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



29.10.19 Salford Tackling Neglect 
Summit 
16.12.19 Presented to Salford 
Safeguarding Partnership Board 

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 158



Salford Thriving Families Neglect Strategy 

1. Executive Summary

Neglect has been an SSCB and SSCP priority for the last five years. The existing SSCB 
Neglect Strategy has now expired, and work has been underway over the past six months 
to undertake a needs assessment and generate a new strategy for the next three years 
that looks at progress against the old strategy and solutions going forward.

Carole Brooks Associates was commissioned to provide support on this work. 

The needs assessment and strategy have been written from the following position:
• Collaboration across the partnership with wide involvement of a range of 
professionals and the Youth Council. This included a short term task and finish group with 
good multi-agency involvement and a Neglect Summit on 29th November. Engaging 
parents has not been as successful as planned but there are plans to consult with parents 
in the new year (see implementation plan attached to the strategy). 
• ‘Neglect’ is a very wide and deficit term which is applied to a wide spectrum of 
parenting and not solely when it is abusive, which the new strategy addresses. It 
recognises that there are different types and connected factors, which need to be 
addressed. 
• Salford’s position of being innovative, strengths based and readiness for evidence-
inspired practice and change, has resulted in a strategy and plan which proposes a greater 
parenting-positive model, seeking to eradicate root causes of neglect and build parental 
resilience and understanding.

2. Introduction 

2.1 Salford is no different from other local areas in finding that neglect is increasing, and one of the 
main reasons for social care involvement.  We know there are many strengths and good services in 
Salford, but we can do better. This is especially so in taking a whole systems approach across the 
partnership.  Whilst it is desirable to focus equitably on what is working well, the work in developing 
the strategy has leant more towards what is not working well and can do better. This, in itself is a 
strength as professionals engaged openly, provided evidence and were analytical in improvement. 
Salford neglect strategy and needs assessment have been revised in line with National and 
International evidence base practice and will align to the models of provision in the City.  
The action plan attached to the strategy includes a plan for implementation of the strategy. The 
Neglect sub-group has strengthened in governance and membership over the past year. However, 
there is no single point for responsibility on a daily basis in the same way as there is for Domestic 
Abuse, ACES, or issues that fall primarily under the remit of one agency. Neglect is everyone’s 
business and nearly every service, from universal onwards, has a significant part to play. We have 
therefore instigated specific roles for neglect as follows:
• Overarching lead group for Salford: SSCP Neglect Sub Group. To link with other relevant 
partnerships such as HWBB.

Page 159



• Neglect system leaders: 4-5 middle/senior managers across Salford who are able to meet at 
least monthly, drive and authority to lead the neglect work between sub-group meetings. They will 
have the expert knowledge, capacity and be at the right level to do so.
• Neglect Champions: members of the neglect sub-group who are collectively responsible for 
implementing and measuring the neglect strategy. 
The strategy and needs assessment form the basis for the development of a revised assessment 
tool for practitioners, we have listened to the barriers created by rigid tools and practices and are 
developing a suite of tools to ensure early identification and practitioners to work in a strengths 
based approach with families.  

3. Governance 

3.1 Salford Safeguarding Partnership have identified Neglect as a key priority therefore governance 
of the implementation plan and outcomes monitoring will be via the Partnership, however regular 
updates will be brought to the Childrens Commissioning Committee for assurance. The papers will 
be socialised with the Community Safety Partnership and to the Adult Safeguarding Board so that 
we can develop a comprehensive multi agency action plan. The response to adult self-neglect as 
parents needs to be linked across all ages. 

4. Next Steps

4.1 The papers will be socialised with the Community Safety Partnership and to the Adult 
Safeguarding Board so that we can develop a comprehensive multi agency action plan. 
An implementation and communication plan will be developed and shared with partners 
An action plan will be further developed and shared with partners 
The outcomes framework will be further refined and shared with partners and held to account via the 
neglect sub group 
Quarterly updates will be shared via the governance routes described above. 

7. Recommendations

7.1 The Childrens Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Approve the Needs Assessment and Strategy 
 Support the development of additional tools for assessment 
 Support the development of an outcomes framework 
 Support the use of the name thriving families 
 Receive reports on progress as the work is implemented 

Name Debbie Blackburn  
Job Title Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing.

Page 160



 

1 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

     CAROLE  BROOKS  ASSOCIATES  LIMITED 

Regus House  |  Fairbourne Drive  |  Atterbury  |  Milton Keynes  |  MK10 9RG 
T: 01908 488600   |  07794 940631 

E: carole@carolebrooks.com 
 

 

 

 

 

TACKLING NEGLECT IN SALFORD 
 

ASSESSMENT OF THE PREVALENCE, CAUSES AND SERVICES TO 

ENSURE CHILDREN’S NEEDS ARE MET 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

OCTOBER 2019 

 

FINAL TO SSCP 16 DECEMBER 2019 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 

Page 161



 

2 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Contents 

1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

2 Methodology ................................................................................................................................... 3 

3 What is neglect ................................................................................................................................ 7 

4 Why Is This A Priority? ................................................................................................................... 11 

5 Prevalence in Salford ..................................................................................................................... 15 

6 Identifying Unmet Needs and Neglect .......................................................................................... 23 

7 Causes and Presenting Issues: Overview ...................................................................................... 26 

8 Causes and Presenting Issues: Social factors ................................................................................ 27 

9 Causes and Presenting Factors: System Factors ........................................................................... 33 

10 Service Provision ....................................................................................................................... 38 

11 Practice Factors ......................................................................................................................... 46 

12 Specific Areas of neglect ........................................................................................................... 52 

13 Impact ....................................................................................................................................... 55 

14 What Works to Improve ........................................................................................................... 57 

15 Considerations, Challenges and Enablers ................................................................................. 60 

16 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................. 62 

17 References ................................................................................................................................ 64 

Appendix A: Neglect Strategy Assessment Questions .......................................................................... 66 

Appendix B: What we see and what we do .......................................................................................... 69 

Appendix C: Case Studies – understanding the child’s journey and learning from individual 

experiences ........................................................................................................................................... 75 

 

  

Page 162



 

3 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

1 Introduction 
 

Tackling Neglect has been one of the Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP) priorities for the 

past five years.  The last Neglect Strategy for the local area (2016 to 2019) set out the strategic aims to 

improve the recognition of neglect in families; to improve agencies’ responses to these families; and to 

ultimately improve positive outcomes for children, young people and families. The objectives were: 

1. Improve the awareness and understanding of neglect, both within and between agencies working 

in Salford and including adult services. This includes a common understanding of neglect and the 

thresholds for access to services. 

2. Improve the recognition and assessment of children living in neglectful situations before 

statutory intervention is required, including the use of appropriate assessment tools. 

3. Develop and sustain an agreed, early multi-agency response to neglect. 

A needs assessment has been commissioned from Carole Brooks Associates Ltd to consider current 

prevalence, services and outcomes to assist developing the new strategy. This recognises that it is vital 

we gain a better understanding of the causes of neglect and the needs of Salford’s children and families, 

what works well and what we can do better in order to have a strategy and services in place which 

improve the lived experiences and lives of our children into adulthood. 

The SSCP vision that “all partners are committed to working together so that every child in Salford is safe, 

well and able to reach their full potential” reinforces the whole systems approach which is particularly 

relevant to tackling neglect and importantly to how parents are supported to successfully meet the needs 

of their children at the earliest point before it is deemed ‘neglect’.  

 

2 Methodology 
 

 Scope and Timescales 

All children pre-birth to 18 years of age in Salford and who fall under the remit of the SSCP were included 

in the needs assessment. Whilst ‘neglect’ is the core subject of the needs assessment, this cannot be 

considered in isolation of other issues that families face and other presenting needs such as domestic 

violence, parental drug and alcohol abuse, and other adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) that may be 

causal factors in parental inability to meet the needs of their children.  

The needs assessment was undertaken between July and October 2019, directed by the SSCP Neglect 

Sub-Group and supported by a short-term strategy group consisting of volunteer professionals to provide 

both a partnership steer and a reference group. 

The timeline for the needs assessment and strategy is shown below. 

Page 163

https://safeguardingchildren.salford.gov.uk/media/1149/salford_neglect_strategy.pdf


 

4 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 
 Research Questions 

Appendix A provides a list of questions which were compiled to focus the needs assessment and strategy 

development.  They are based on the six principles of the safeguarding children partnership; the Ofsted 

Neglect Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) criteria for ‘good’; and good practice. This will also help to 

measure progress and effectiveness of the new strategy post-implementation. 

 The Evidence Base 

A range of methods were used to conduct the needs assessment, triangulate and draw conclusions 

including options for the new strategy. There is an extensive research base on neglect and associated 

issues which we do not attempt to include here apart from where we believe it adds value to the needs 

assessment. A literature review was undertaken and findings from the evidence sources are included in 

the relevant sections of the report. 

 
Figure 2: Evidence base 

 

Jun - Oct 2019 

Identify and 
gather 

evidence

Oct 2019 

Triangulate, 
conclude, 
Develop 
strategy

29 Oct 2019

Neglect 
Summit

Dec 2019

Draft Strategy 
to SSCP and 

agree further 
work

Jan - Apr 2020

Further 
consultation 

and 
Implement

Apr 2020 -
2023

Implement 
and 

Monitoring

Documentation 

(Salford and National, inc research)

Surveys 

(Professionals, Parents)

Interviews, Focus Groups, Roadshows 

(inc Young People, Early Help,  Health, Education, SSCP Roadshows)

Data

Social Care Practice Week (2 - 6 September 2019)

Tackling Neglect Summit (29 October 2019)

Figure 1: Strategy development timeline 

 

Page 164



 

5 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

  Professionals survey 

There were 92 respondents to the 

professionals survey from a range of 

services (figure 3) with most responses from 

Education including 12 Head Teachers 

(25%), Children’s Services (24%), Early Help 

(21%) and 19% across a range of Health 

services. 3% were from the voluntary 

sector.  

52% of respondents were professionals / 

practitioners, 27% senior / strategic 

managers and 13% team managers. 80% of 

respondents have worked in Salford for 

over five years and therefore well placed to 

comment on changes in the last three years and their experiences. 

Nearly all respondents stated that their service remit in tackling neglect is to understand family needs and 

work with the family and support the child.   

• 31% of respondents said they work in a service which would refer to other services if they are 

worried about neglect. 

• 65% of respondents work in a service where child neglect may be present.  

• 4% work in a service specifically for neglect.   

• 36% had less than a quarter of their caseload/families where aspects of neglect were a feature  

• 30% of respondents had more than half of their caseloads featuring aspects of neglect.  

 SSCP Roadshow discussions about neglect 

Roadshows attended by approximately 200 professionals were held in May 2019 as part of the 

introduction of new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. During these, a short explanation of 

neglect as an SSCP priority and group discussion generated views of Salford professionals about what is 

working well, what they are worried about and what needs to happen. 

 Review of cases in children’s social care 

An audit of 40 cases where there were additional and underlying risk factors of neglect was undertaken 

by the Principal Social Worker following an Ofsted inspection in 2018. The objective was to identify 

actions for the local authority children’s services and to gather evidence about early identification of 

neglect and the impact on children for the partnership. The recommendations and elements relating the 

latter are included here. 

Figure 4: Survey respondents 

 

Figure 3: Survey respondents 

 

Page 165



 

6 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Practice week 

A social work practice week focussed on neglect took place in the first week of September, led by the 

Safeguarding Quality Assurance Unit. Activities included:  

Reflective practice sessions 

• Lived experiences of practice in the Bridge – 
looking at neglect cases 

• Drift and delay – the role of the Safeguarding unit 
(11 professionals):  

• Deans Youth Centre – SPY project meeting with 
young people 

• Case discussion - ‘Stuck case’   

• Case discussion – a good case 

• Reflective learning circle with Principal Social 
Worker – themes around neglect 

• Head of Service reflective session on practice 
week as a whole 

Individual case discussions and observations: 

• 7 case audits 

• Reflective case discussions with social work 
practitioners and managers about their cases 

• Observations of child protection conferences  

• Observation of a supervision order review meeting 

• Observation of a core group 
 
 

• A lunchbowl session in October presenting the findings and implications for practice. 

 

The findings reinforce existing knowledge about neglect and offer areas of good practice as well as where 

there is a need to understand and address underlying parental factors, achieving a greater consistency, 

the importance of stable professional relationships for the family and access to the right services. Further 

specific findings are included in the relevant sections. 

 Engaging Young People and Parents/Carers 

Young people’s views are one of most important areas on which to build any strategy or service 

development and they have been involved in a number of ways. Sessions specifically on meeting 

children’s need and neglect were held with the Salford Youth Council as well as feedback from other 

groups over the summer and as part of the Practice Week, about what young people in Salford need in 

order to grow up safe, well and thrive.  The Youth Council were involved in the Tackling Neglect Summit. 

A questionnaire to parents was administered through the professionals working with families who are 

receiving support for parenting, or where there are elements of neglect. However, there were no 

responses which could indicate that parents were not engaging or the methodology was not effective. It 

is critical to find ways to engage parents during the strategy development and implementation. 

 Tackling Neglect Summit 

On 29th October 2019, 71 professionals and 7 young people attended Salford’s Tackling Neglect Summit 

co-hosted by a member of the Youth Council. The evidence base nationally and for Salford, challenges 

and enablers as well as specific areas such as poverty, children in specific circumstances, adolescents, 

education and parental factors prior to formulating actions and potential models for the future and the 

strategy were presented and discussed. Evaluation was very positive: 

• 91% of evaluations said that objectives had been fully met, 100% fully or partly met.  

• 59% said they found the Summit very good and 100% very good or good. 

Page 166



 

7 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

• Delegates provided reflection points and the impact that the learning from the Summit will have on 

their work.  

 Format of report 

Three overarching categories have been used to order the evidence of a myriad of elements influencing 

the prevalence of, presenting factors, root causes and impact in reducing impact of childhood neglect: 

• Social factors: the underlying needs faced by local communities in Salford that result in changes to 

the numbers of children and families asking for help. 

• System factors: leadership, and the way that the system of services across and within Salford 

responds to families asking for help. 

• Practice factors: the way that professionals work with children and families. 

The final sections of the report provide a summary and reflect on challenges and considerations. 

Carole Brooks Associates and the SSCP Neglect Sub-Group are grateful to all of those who both enabled 

and took part in this review. 

 

3 What is neglect 
 

In simple terms, neglect is when a child is not getting the important things that they need like clean, 

warm clothes or enough to eat, or love. It is when a child is not being looked after properly by their 

parents and it might include not being kept away from dangerous situations or not being taken to the 

doctor when they are ill or hurt.  

Whilst statutory definitions below refer to ‘persistent failure to meet needs’, neglect can be episodic or 

cumulative. It can also be intentional or unintentional, which is an important difference to consider. 

 Statutory Definitions of Neglect 

The main statutory definition of neglect is laid out in Working Together to Safeguard Children (DfE, 2018) 

and has not altered since The Children Act 1989:  

The persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the 

serious impairment of the child’s health or development. Neglect may occur during pregnancy as a result 

of maternal substance abuse. Once a child is born, neglect may involve a parent or carer failing to: 

a. provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion from home or abandonment) 

b. protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger 

c. ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate caregivers) 

d. ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment 

It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child’s basic emotional needs. 

This is supported by the definition of criminal neglect: 

Page 167



 

8 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

The College of Policing (2019) defines criminal neglect as outlined in section 1(2)(a) of the 1933 Act. They 

state that “an offence is committed if a parent or the legal guardian, or other person legally liable to 

maintain a child or young person has wilfully neglected the child in a manner likely to cause injury to 

health by failing to provide adequate food, clothing, medical aid or lodging or, if having been unable to 

provide such items, they fail to take steps to procure them”.  

“Under section 1(2)(b), an individual aged 16 or above is deemed to have neglected an infant (under 

three years), where it is proved that the death of the infant was caused by suffocation while the infant 

was in bed with that individual, and that the same individual was under the influence of alcohol or a 

prohibited drug at the time. The definition of ‘bed’ includes any kind of furniture or surface being used by 

the adult for the purpose of sleeping”. 

The definition of child cruelty is given as:  

“The offence of cruelty to persons under 16 years incorporates neglect, as set out in the Children and 

Young Persons Act 1933 section 1(1). Under the Act, if anyone who is 16 years or over wilfully assaults, ill-

treats, whether physically or otherwise, neglects, abandons, or exposes a child, or procures a child to be 

assaulted, ill-treated, whether physically or otherwise, neglected, abandoned, or exposed, in a manner 

likely to cause unnecessary suffering or injury to health, whether the suffering or injury is of a physical or 

psychological nature, they are guilty of an offence. 

There is no statutory definition of wilfully, but the term has been interpreted by the courts. In Attorney 

General’s Reference No 3 of 2003 [2005] 1 Q.B. 73 it was said that wilful misconduct means, ‘deliberately 

doing something which is wrong, knowing it to be wrong or with reckless indifference as to whether it is 

wrong or not’. Although there is no definable threshold for when a minor neglectful act becomes a 

criminal offence, each single incident must be examined in the context of other acts or omissions and the 

possibility of a criminal offence should be considered. See definition of ‘reckless’ in R v G [2004] 1 AC 

1034. 

There will be occasions when the issue is one of poor parenting and/or the carer’s lack of knowledge, 

rather than a deliberate and wilful act. The decision to record wilful neglect as a crime should be made in 

light of all available evidence and information”.  

 

 Types of Neglect 

Commonly categorised types of neglect are listed below. These are likely to be present together rather 

than in isolation, but research and Salford’s evidence tells us that we don’t always identify these 

specifically at an early enough stage, or in terms of the impact on the child’s well-being.  

Neglect type Features associated with type of neglect 

Educational 
neglect 

Where a parent/carer fails to provide a stimulating environment or show an interest 
in the child’s education at school/education provision. They may fail to respond to any 
special needs and fail to comply with state requirements about school attendance.  

Page 168

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5/23-24/12/section/1
http://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKHL/2003/50.html
http://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKHL/2003/50.html


 

9 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Emotional 
neglect 

Where a parent/carer is unresponsive to a child’s basic emotional needs. They may 
fail to interact or provide affection, undermining a child’s self-esteem and sense of 
identity. (Most experts distinguish between emotional neglect and emotional abuse 
by intention; emotional abuse is intentionally inflicted, emotional neglect is an 
omission of care.) 

Medical 
neglect 

Where a parent/carer minimise or deny a child’s illness or health needs and/or fails to 
seek appropriate medical attention or administer medication and treatment.  

Nutritional 
neglect 

Where a child does not receive adequate calories or nutritional intake for normal 
growth (also sometimes called ‘failure to thrive’). At its most extreme, nutritional 
neglect can take the form of malnutrition or obesity. 

Physical 
neglect 

Where a parent/carer does not provide appropriate clothing, food, cleanliness and/or 
living conditions.  

Supervisory 
neglect 

Where a parent/carer fails to provide an adequate level of supervision and guidance 
to ensure a child’s safety and protection from harm. For example, a child may be left 
alone, abandoned, left with inappropriate carers, or they may not be provided with 
appropriate boundaries about behaviours (for example, under-age sex or alcohol use) 
may not be applied 

 

 Graded Care Profile Definiitons 

The Graded Care Profile, one of the most commonly used tools to assess neglect, currently includes 

different categories which partly align to the types of neglect but do not currently include educational 

neglect - education features under the category of stimulation. The revisions planned at present address 

this. These categories and the tool are being revised at present (see relevant section below). 

A) PHYSICAL 1 Nutrition C) RESPONSIVENESS 1 Carer 

2 Housing 2 Mutual Engagement 

3 Clothing D) ESTEEM 1 Stimulation 

4 Hygiene 2 Approval 

5 Health 3 Disapproval 

B) SAFETY 1 In Carer’s Presence 4 Acceptance 

2 In Carer’s Absence   

 

 Framework for Assessment 

The dimensions of child development needs triangle, which features in Working Together to Safeguard 

Children 2018 (DfE, 2018), provides a model which should be used to examine how the different aspects 

of the child's life and context interact and impact on the child.   

Page 169



 

10 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 

 

 Other Definitions and Descriptions 

National Institute for Clinical Excellence (2017) guidance chapter 1.3 Neglect – failure of provision and 

failure of supervision includes the same definitions as in the Children Act 1989 and Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2018, but expanded to indicators that clinical practitioners may identify.  There are 

also specific guidance for health visitors and there are likely to be more ‘definitions’ used by different 

professionals, and what parents/carers understand by ‘neglect’. It is therefore critical that there is a 

common core understanding of neglect supported by specialist definitions or terminology, but that is 

widely and consistently understood. 

 Challenging the Definitions 

Many definitions, descriptions and discussions of neglect imply a deficit approach, which sits largely at 

the ‘high end’ of thresholds.  We know that this does not sit well with professionals or parents, for those 

who need ‘a bit of help’ on any of the areas, or children who may be at risk of neglect, and where neglect 

can be prevented.  One group at the Neglect Summit commented that ‘neglect’ itself is an abusive word 

for parents, but we heard how in Bolton, the parents they asked about the term ‘neglect’ felt it is fine to 

use it, but tell us what you mean by it. 

NSPCC (2012) proposed that the wording of the definition of neglect currently outlined in the Working 

Together guidance be amended to reflect our understanding of the nature of neglect and the challenges 

professionals face when taking appropriate action for children suffering neglect. They assert that the use 

of the term “persistent failure” within the definition of neglect is problematic and neglectful behaviour is 

not always constant. With support, neglectful parents may demonstrate improvements in behaviour only 

to relapse once support is reduced or withdrawn. As a result, neglectful behaviour may be more 

appropriately defined as a “pattern of behaviour”.  

Figure 5: Assessment Framework (Source: Working Together 2018) 

 

Page 170

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg89/chapter/1-Guidance#neglect-failure-of-provision-and-failure-of-supervision


 

11 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

The Neglect Sub-Group and professionals in Salford also challenge terminology and were clear that 

utilising a more strengths based approach, to include language such as ‘level of care provided’, ‘needs 

met’, ‘grow well’ or ‘thrive’, provide greater aspirations and objectives for parents and professionals than 

‘neglect’. There was agreement that the term neglect spanning from ‘parent needs a temporary bit of 

support or advice’ to intentional neglect resulting in significant impact, is too broad. 

However, at that ‘high end’ of the levels of need (levels 3 and 4), where the definitions of neglect are met, 

it is absolutely right that we are clear about neglect as a form of abuse and treat it accordingly at the 

earliest point.  

The Neglect Sub-Group were therefore in favour of a clear focus on children’s needs being met, that 

understanding what we mean by neglect and recalibrating our language and attention for the future is 

critical. 

 

Recommendations and Key Lines of Enquiry: 

3.1) Consider the different facets of definitions including Working Together 2018, the graded care profile, 

framework for assessment, NICE guidance, and criminal definition so that there is simple strengths 

based terminology at the lower levels of need, that is inclusive of all types of neglect in our work, 

including assessment tools. 

3.2) Ensure that there is clarity across the system about what we mean by ‘neglect’ and ‘meeting 

children’s needs’ so that every young person, parent, professional and leader is able to understand 

the standards / levels of needs therein. 

 
4 Why Is This A Priority? 
 

We know that neglect is currently the most prevalent form of child abuse and have evidenced prevalence 

in a later section. Wolock and Horowitz (1984) drew attention to what they described as ‘the neglect of 

neglect’ in the understanding of and responses to child maltreatment. Whilst this expression cannot be 

said to remain true given the amount of research and that considerably more is now known about the 

causes, identification and assessment of neglect, it remains a challenge to tackle conclusively in a timely 

manner. 

 

“Everyone has different standards and views on what neglect is. Everyone is neglectful to a certain 
extent, but it’s the impact that has on the child. For example, I don’t remember the last time I 
mopped my kitchen floor…Hoovered, but not mopped. But that has no impact on my children as I 
don’t feed them off the floor.” 

Source: Focus Group Attendee 

Page 171



 

12 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Progress on Last Strategy 

Neglect has been one of the SSCB/SSCP priorities since 2014.  The annual reports from 2014-15 to 2017-

18 detail activities including events, 7 minute briefing, development of Graded Care Profile, Maram Tools 

and development of neglect training. Whilst the 2016-18 strategy laid out methods to measure progress 

of the strategic objectives, measurement and monitoring was not sufficiently robust and the needs 

assessment did not generate any discernible evidence of sufficient improvement albeit in a changing 

context.   

 A Whole City Issue 

There is no Greater Manchester (GM) approach to neglect at present.  There was GM wide activity and 

strategy in June 2015, with a further draft proposed by Greater Manchester Safeguarding Board in June 

2017 but it appears that this did not go live and work did not progress any further.   

It is clear that ensuring children are cared for appropriately and tackling neglect is a whole city issue and 

already embedded in many priorities, strategies, plans and initiatives across Salford. These include the 

‘Great 8’ and Anti-poverty Strategy as well as inherent in other Boards priorities, to name but a few.  It is 

important that the ‘golden threads’ and activities between these and other strategic plans align and are 

used to drive the Neglect Strategy across the city. The table below highlights some of the relevant 

elements followed by a diagram of the ‘golden threads’ for 0-25 transformation programme in Salford. 

Strategy  Priorities (those linked to neglect/meeting children’s needs in bold. 

Great 8 • Tackling poverty and inequality – Significant levels of poverty continue to exist in 
many parts of Salford. Working with our partners, we will take action to make 
things better for the many households struggling to make ends meet. We must also 
look to prevent people from falling into poverty in the first place, building on what 
we know is already working, as well as developing new ways of doing things. 

• Education and skills – Developing skills and a strong education offer. We want 
productive local jobs with real career progression and opportunities to develop 
skills and talents. 

• Health and social care – Working with our partners to improve health and 
wellbeing. 

• Economic development – Investment that provides jobs with decent wages. We 
will use our power and influence to target employers who have a commitment to 
giving something back in return – those who offer local jobs, look after their 
employees and pay them well. 

• Housing – Tackling soaring rents and a lack of affordable housing. 
• Transport – Connecting affordable transport with jobs and skills. 
• A transparent effective organisation – Delivering effective and efficient council 

services. 
• Social impact – Using social value to make the most difference in Salford. Making 

sure council money gets the most ‘bang for its buck’ for Salford residents. 

Anti Poverty 
Strategy  
 

 “Our vision is for a fairer and more inclusive Salford where everyone is able to reach 
their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling lives free from poverty and 
inequality” 
Supported by Better Off Salford 

Community 
Safety 

Aim to: 

• build safer, stronger, more resilient communities in Salford 

Page 172

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/how-the-council-is-performing/our-priorities-the-great-eight/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/city-mayor/tackling-poverty-in-salford/
https://salford.betteroff.org.uk/#/home


 

13 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Partnership • reduce the fear of crime. 
Priorities: 

• Driving down crime 

• Tackling anti-social behaviour 

• Building resilient communities 

• Protecting vulnerable people 

• Reducing offending. 

Health and 
Well-being 
Board 

Ambition to: 

• improve life expectancy in Salford so that the gap between Salford and the UK 
average is reduced, and 

• improve health and well-being at every stage of life – starting, living and 
aging. 

Purpose to: 

• improve health and well-being across the city and reduce health inequalities 

• create an integrated system that responds to local needs and assets, and 
gains public confidence 

• empower people to improve their own quality of life, improve the long-term 
health of communities and promote individual responsibility and behaviour 
change. 

 

 
Figure 6: 0-25 Transformation Programme links 

 

There are also a range of other programmes or strategies underway, which also include elements of 

preventing and tackling neglect and ensuing children’s needs are met.  These include Adverse Childhood 

Experiences, Trauma-informed practice, The Learning City, FACT project, Integration of CCG and Local 

Page 173



 

14 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Authority children’s services, No Wrong Door, and a number of pilots, to name but a very few.  Work is 

also underway to implement the Unified Public Services for the People of Greater Manchester integrating 

provision in a place. As with overarching city strategies and priorities, all of these need to be considered 

together to avoid duplication and create an effective whole system approach which is clearly understood 

by professionals. 

 Financial Imperative 

We know that the cost of late intervention to the public sector in England and Wales in 2016 was £17bn 

per year (Chowdry and Fitzsimons 2016).  

An economic evaluation (NSPCC, 2017) gives a conservative estimate for the financial average lifetime 

cost of non-fatal child maltreatment by a primary care-giver, in terms of health care, social care, 

education, the criminal justice system, and the impact of lost productivity on the economy. The estimated 

cost per person is £89,390, with a 95% certainty that the costs fall between £44,896 and £145,508. The 

largest cost elements are social care, short-term health-related, and the costs resulting from a lower 

probability of employment. It does not, and cannot, capture the significant intangible costs of abuse to 

the individuals involved, such as the emotional trauma. 

The University of Kent’s Personal Social Services Research Unit (2018) provide average national unit costs 

that indicate the lower costs for prevention and early intervention in terms of community or school based 

staff compared to higher costs for CAMHS, foster care or residential placements, and reunification home 

after a care episode. The small selection of unit costs below can be viewed in terms of how much it costs 

to provide the service, but also the cost of missed appointments, which, as covered later in this report, is 

a significant factor in Salford. 

Service Unit Cost per unit 

Community Based or School Nurse Per Hour £36-45 

GP  Per surgery appt 
lasting 9.22 minutes 

£31 

Social worker Per Hour £43 

Support or outreach worker Per Hour £23 

Hospital/Community Based Physiotherapist, 
Occupational therapist, Speech and language therapist 

Per Hour £34-£55 

CAMHS Per Patient Contact £238-£336 

Paediatric outpatient appointment Per appointment £151-201 

Children’s residential home Per resident per week £4,705 

Foster Care per child per week £660  

Costs to the public purse of providing services  to support 
successful reunification of all children and families 
following a care episode (Holmes, 2014) 

Average weighted cost 
per case. 

£8,941  

 

There is substantial evidence nationally that early intervention works to improve outcomes and reduce 

costs to the public sector and Salford has invested in early help. 

 

Page 174

https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s1200/11%20July%20CA%20White%20Paper%20Cover%20Report.pdf


 

15 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Children’s Rights to a Positive Childhood Experience 

Children have the right to a positive childhood experience, including having their basic needs met.  In 

sessions with young people to inform the strategy, they told us that they want to be listened to and 

heard; for professionals to talk to them and take them seriously; to care and show it; to give them 

choices; to build trust, for example talking about themselves 

so that children can get to know the professional better. What 

helps them is family places and people; having a safe space to 

go, for example a library; music and love. 

Section 14 (what good looks like) includes the results of work 

they have undertaken. 

Recommendations/Key Lines of Enquiry: 

4.1) Work with leaders of key strategies, plans and initiatives to ensure they understand the evidence 

base around neglect, are linked into and able to champion children’s needs as part of their work and 

ensure the neglect strategy and subsequent actions are linked. 

4.2) Consider whether funding can be directed to ensuring children’s needs are met earlier to tackle 

neglect and create efficiencies in the system through reducing missed appointments and escalation. 

 
5 Prevalence in Salford 

In this chapter, we explore what we know about the prevalence of unmet need and neglect in Salford , 

how many children and families are engaged with services where they either may require a little bit of 

help or are experiencing significant harm through neglect. This section provides analysis only, with further 

description about the services themselves later in the report. 

 Overall Prevalence 

Ofsted (2018) in a summary of joint targeted inspections on neglect say that “The government considers 

neglect to be the most common form of maltreatment of children. Many different measures of the 

proportion of children living with neglect support this view, but the exact level of prevalence is unclear.  

An NSPCC study (Rawson et al, 2011) found that 4% of under 11s and 11% of 11- to 17-year-olds had 

experienced neglect at some point during their lives. “This suggests that older children are almost three 

times more likely to have suffered neglect than younger children”. The report also notes, however, that 

previous research had identified widely differing estimates of prevalence.  

Brandon (2013) in a review of 46 serious case reviews (SCRs) nationally found that: 

• Lack of supervision and guidance with catastrophic consequences were in 9 cases. 

• Physical neglect – Unexplained deaths occurred in the context of neglectful care and a hazardous 

home environment were in 10 cases. Further assumptions about neglect were found to mask the 

danger to a child’s physical safety in 7 cases; physical assault led to death or serious injury in all.  

“It doesn’t help when it takes an hour 
on the bus to get to an appointment 
that takes 20 minutes”. 

Source: Practice week session with 
young people 

Page 175



 

16 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

• Medical neglect was associated with catastrophic consequences in 5 of the cases. 

• Nutritional neglect was linked to 8 cases with catastrophic consequences. 

• Emotional neglect – Some young people who were the subject of SCRs had attempted or 

committed suicide (7 of 46 cases); in those, a long term history of neglect or extreme isolation 

was found to be part of their circumstances. 

As part of Salford’s needs assessment, a review of 17 case review referrals between 2015 and 2018 

identified that 10 of these were solely or partly related to neglect. Key factors which are expanded further 

in the report included: 

• Root Causes: Child’s disability, nutritional neglect, parental mental health and alcohol and drug 

misuse,  previous domestic abuse, parental separation, working across borders,  diverging 

opinions about risk and thresholds by professionals, housing issues, debt issues, chaotic lives, 

parental capacity/understanding, professionals not taking into account historical concerns 

• Presenting Factors:  Behaviour, poor communication skills, obesity, not engaging with 

professionals or attending appointments, self-reporting and disguised non-compliance, episodic 

neglect (bouncing), drift. 

• Effects/Impact: Developmental delay or disability, focus on parental needs change, not outcomes 

for the child, poor health, poor self-esteem or emotional literacy, poor educational attainment, 

poor life chances into adulthood, death. 

Professionals responding to the survey reported that they see more children experiencing all types of 

neglect now than they did three years ago, as well as more children experiencing neglect alongside other 

needs.  Of note, 73% of respondents agree that they see more children experiencing emotional neglect, 

of which 44% strongly agree. 71% stated they see more children experiencing neglect alongside other 

needs than they did three years ago. Further detail about these needs are provided later in the report. 

 
Figure 7: Professional Survey Responses: Change in prevalence of neglect. 

 

Page 176



 

17 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

The existence of one or more possible risk or outcome indicators does not necessary point directly to 

neglect, hence the need for specialist assessment led by professional curiosity.  Risk indicators associated 

with neglect which chimed with professionals in the survey and focus groups included: children not 

attending school; children not brought for appointments, and lack of dentist involvement.  Other 

outcomes that could possibly be relevant to neglect, include those listed below.  

 Well-being and Wider Determinants 

Child Health Profiles provide important context that: 

• The rate of children in low income families in 2016 was higher in Salford (21.1) than nationally (17). 

• There were more statutory eligible homeless people not in priority need in Salford in 2017/18 than 

England (4.6 compared to 0.8). 

• Family homelessness in Salford in 2017/18 was the second highest in GM at 2.9 compared to 1.7 

nationally. 

• School readiness: the percentage of children achieving a good level of development at the end of 

reception in 2017/18 was lower than nationally at 67.4% compared to 71.5% nationally. 

• Childhood obesity (Year 6) in 2017/18 was higher at 22.7% compared to 20.1% nationally. 

• More children per 10,000 population attended the dentist to June 2019 in Salford (64.5%) than 

nationally (59%), but fewer younger/older children are seen (Source: NHS Dental statistics England 

2018/19).  

• There were 44.6% children with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth in 2016/17 compared to 

23.3% nationally. 

 

• In terms of health into adulthood: 66.2% of adults classified as overweight or obese in Salford in 

2017/18 compared to 62% nationally. 

• The estimated diabetes diagnosis rate in 2019 was 80.9 compared to 78 nationally.   
 

 Education 

To 2018, there was a higher proportion of children with unauthorised absences in Salford state funded 

schools than nationally and across the North West. This does not take into account non-maintained 

schools, any lateness, exclusions, persistent absence, or other educational data that may be relevant. 

There has also been a significant increase in children who are electively home educated. 

Page 177

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938133228/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000006/iid/90631/age/34/sex/4
ehttps://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiYTRlMzJiYTEtMTgwMi00ZTdiLTgzMWUtZGM5Y2NmMTI5MGE4IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9
ehttps://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiYTRlMzJiYTEtMTgwMi00ZTdiLTgzMWUtZGM5Y2NmMTI5MGE4IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9


 

18 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 

Figure 8: Absence data. Source: DfE Local Area Interactive Tool, October 2019 

 

 Early Help 

During 2018/19 the local authority Early Help Service received a total of 2,549 new requests for early 

help.  The majority of these (73%) were recorded at ‘Early Help’ level which likely reflects the re-design of 

the service, bringing together Family Support, Children’s Centres and Youth Services to enable a greater 

focus on early intervention.  The remaining cases were step down or joint work with Social Care. 

Health partners were the highest source of requests for early help in 2018/19 (793, 31%), of which half 

were from health visitors. There were 517 (20%) requests from Children’s Social Care, 142 (13%) from 

education, and 12 (1%) from Housing.  

Whilst ‘neglect’ is not a category of need within Early Help Services, the work undertaken with families 

whatever category is used, will support appropriate identification of risk, including neglect.  

Across the city the top five category of needs identified within families accessing support from the Early 

Help Service during 2018/19 were: 

• Behaviour/Positive Activities for Social Development (42%) 

• Parental Wellbeing/Capacity (28%) 

• Housing Support (18%).  More referrals for came from health than other referrers 

• Emotional Wellbeing/Mental Health (18%) 

• Domestic Abuse (12%) 

During April 2018 – March 2019, the service provided support to a total of 3,022 families, with 1,620 

cases remaining active at 1st April 2019.  

24 cases were identified as requiring escalation to Children’s Social Care in the year, with 12 (50%) related 

to neglect. Of these, the majority were accepted and allocated to Child Protection/Children In Need 

teams. There is evidence from a range of sources, including focus groups and escalation meetings, of 

cases receiving support from multiple services across the threshold of need and respondents talked about 

families ‘bouncing’ between early help and social care and back to referrer. This is covered in more detail 

further in the report.  

 

Page 178



 

19 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Social Care 

 The Bridge (Front door to local authority early help and social care) 

Salford City Council and its partners have a multi-agency hub called the Bridge Partnership that screen all 

contacts concerning the welfare or safety of a child to children’s services, which may be directed as a 

referral to early help or social care services. Referrers are able to select one main category and one 

subcategory indicating reason for contact. There has been an increase of 749 (13.1%) contacts in the first 

three months of 2019/20 compared to the first three months of 2018/19. 

 

Of the 20,500 contacts to the Bridge in 2018/19, 1,437 (7%) were categorised as ‘neglect’. However, we 

know this is significantly under-reported, as contacts are self-selected by referrer and can be categorised 

for different presenting reasons. It is likely that there were elements of neglect in other reasons. For 

example, there were: 

• 4,239 (2%) for ‘parenting issues’. This includes contact issues, criminal behaviour, early help, mental 

health, suicidal thoughts, sexual offences, other 

• 557 (2.7%) ‘general family issues’. This includes behaviour management, family breakdown, lack of 

routine, school attendance. 

• 3,467 (16.9%) ‘early help’. There are no sub-categories and the reasons for these contacts is therefore 

not known from the data. 

The main categories and sub-categories which could include neglect show that there is no discernible way 

to measure accurately the prevalence of neglect from the contact reasons, but we can generate a better 

picture by looking at the relevant main categories and sub-categories together (figure below). 

                                          Main Category  
 

Sub-Category  Ea
rl

y 

H
el

p
 

Fi
n

an
ce

 

an
d

 d
eb

t 

Is
su

e
s 

G
en

er
al

 

Fa
m

ily
 

Is
su

e
s 

N
eg

le
ct

 

P
ar

en
ta

l 

Is
su

e
s 

Total main 
categories inc 

those not listed 

Autism           17 

Behaviour Management 1   115     119 

Child Home alone       153   153 

Contact issues         147 147 

Criminal Behaviour         277 277 

CWD and Send Pathway 138         138 

Debt/Benefit Issues   60       60 

Drugs         552 552 

Early Help 3,172         3,173 

Family Breakdown     354     354 

Inappropriate language towards children       143   143 

Lack of routine     13     13 

Lack of supervision       677   677 

Mental health         483 483 

Not in Employment or Training     8     8 

Other     2   2,104 2,106 

Risk of Eviction   4       110 

School attendance     64     64 

Page 179



 

20 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Self Harm         38 126 

Sexual Offences         152 152 

Suicidal thoughts and tendencies         180 180 

Unclean, hungry or tired in school       179   179 

Unsafe home conditions       285   285 

Figure 9: Categories of contacts to the Bridge 2018/19. Colour relates to prevalence: red = most, green = least. 
 

A Bridge transformation analysis report in September 2019 which included data to June 2019 provided 

more detailed information. Important to this needs assessment is the category by source indicating 

Health, Housing and Other as the main source as a proportion of the contacts they make. 

 

 

 

N=6840 

Figure 10: Contacts to the Bridge by category 2018/19. Source: Bridge CRM report Oct 2019 

N=3571 N=4598 

N=4250 N=639 

Page 180



 

21 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Assessments and children in need 

In 2017/181, 16.8% of social care assessments completed in Salford had a presenting factor of ‘neglect’ 

compared to 18.4% nationally.  Provisional 2018/19 data indicates this is now 12% of assessments. An 

assessment can have many presenting factors identified and other presenting factors, such as Alcohol 

misuse, Drug misuse, Domestic violence, Mental health. The presence of Learning disability and Physical 

disability or illness factors were higher in Salford than the England average.2 

In 2018/19, analysis of reason for assessment shows other presenting factors in assessments where 

neglect is a factor, with an average of four other factors in addition to neglect.  The ‘trigger trio’ of 

parental mental health, domestic abuse and parental drug misuse are the top four factors alongside the 

impact of emotional abuse on the child. 

 
Figure 11: Factors in Assessment 2018/19. Source: CiN Census data 

 

In terms of outcomes of assessments, 16% were closed and the majority (78%) were ongoing casework, 

which could be as a child in need, child protection plan or as a looked after child. Of the assessments 

where neglect was the only assessment factor, half were closed after assessment and half ongoing 

casework. 

 Child Protection Plans 

In 2017-18, 46.3% of all child protection plans in Salford at any time in the year had an initial category of 

neglect compared to 40.1% latest category. This is a greater range that nationally, where 47.3% of the 
 

1 National 18/19 data is not available until Nov-Jan normally. 
2 Source: DfE SfR Characteristics of children in need 2017/18 table C3 

Page 181



 

22 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

initial category was neglect compared to 46.6% latest category.  The change in category of plan is less 

apparent in 2018-9 where this is 41.5% to 40.1% for Salford respectively indicating that fewer plans are 

for the category of neglect, and the category changed on fewer plans. 

  

2018/19 2017/18 2017/18  

SALFORD SALFORD NATIONAL 

Total 
Plans Neglect  

% of all 
plans 
with 

category 
of 

Neglect 
Total 
Plans Neglect  

% of all 
plans 
with 

category 
of 

Neglect 

% of all 
plans with 
category 

of Neglect 

Total number of plans at 
31st March 523 222 42.4% 347 144 41.5% 48.0% 

Total number at any time 
during the year 870 361 41.5% 456 211 46.3% 47.3% 

Figure 12: Analysis of child protection plans - initial category of abuse. Source: CiN Census data 

 

A higher proportion of plans under the category of Neglect are repeat plans. 29% of all child protection 

plans starting in the year where the category of abuse was Neglect had previous plans compared to 24% 

of all plans starting. This chimes with findings about episodic neglect. 

The average length of plans ceasing in the year was an average of 297 days (all plans), and 280 days 

(neglect latest category). However, 25 plans for Neglect ended in less than 3 months, some as few as a 

day which we presume were transfer in/outs or children becoming looked after. This is skewing the 

duration of plans for neglect but we cannot make any assumptions as to reason. Further exploration of 

reasons for short term neglect plans would be useful to understand the child’s journey through the child 

protection process and decision making. 

41/125 (33%) of plans ceasing for neglect were open longer than a year compared to 116/385 (30%) of all 

plans. This variation is not statistically significant and there is no comparable national data. 

 Children looked after 

We do not know from existing data the number or proportion of children looked after as a result of 

neglect, as the DfE categorisation is ‘abuse or neglect’ without further detail.  We do know that at 7th 

October 2019, there were 47 out of 580 (8%) children looked after living at home subject of a care order  

that had Abuse/Neglect identified as the main category.   

Recommendation/key lines of enquiry: 

5a) Consider whether picklists from systems in early help, social care and other services need to be 

amended to better reflect neglect or parenting as a presenting issue or concern 

5b) Investigate professionals reporting of ‘bouncing’ of families between Early Help and Childrens Social 

Care and identify any improvements. 

Page 182



 

23 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

5c) Recognise that the increase in contacts and referrals means that there is likely to be more children 

receiving early help and social care services, including neglect.  

6d) Explore what is meant by the reason of referral of ‘inappropriate language to children’, whether these 

are serious enough presenting factors or are a) they a symptom of underlying needs that need to be 

categorised better or b) we can prevent these coming to the local authority by better understanding of 

thresholds. 

5e) Child Protection: understand the child’s journey through the child protection system where CP Plans 

for neglect were for short durations only. 

 

6 Identifying Unmet Needs and Neglect 
 

 Identification 

There is a significant body of information about identification of neglect. Neglect typically builds over 

time, often without an identifiable ‘trigger’ event that would lead to specific action.  What works well and 

areas for improvement in identifying neglect and the tools in place to do so are a major factor in tackling 

neglect and ensuring child’s needs are met at the earliest opportunity. 

Research suggests that physical and visible aspects of neglect are the ones most often identified by 

professionals. Ofsted (2018) state that the appearance of home conditions, a failure to address a child’s 

medical needs or delays in physical development are common ways of identifying neglect. These can be 

easier to identify than other forms of neglect a child may experience, such as emotional neglect.  

The identification of the signs of neglect in young children is more apparent. For example, they may have 

delays in reaching developmental milestones (such as speech delay, failure to gain weight) and appearing 

dirty and/or hungry.  

Ofsted add that neglect of older children may look very different to that of a younger child. When older 

children suffer long-term neglect, the impact may be less evident and the problems they present with 

may not be recognised as being the result of neglect.  Older children may be skilled at hiding the impact 

of neglect by seeking support from places other than the family or by spending more time away from 

home, which in itself may put the child at more risk. They may appear ‘resilient’ and to be making choices 

about their lives, when in fact they are adopting behaviours and coping mechanisms that are unsafe. For 

example, they may look for support from inappropriate and dangerous adults or use alcohol and drugs as 

a form of escape.  

The evidence from both the professionals survey and focus groups reiterates that this is the case in 

Salford. The section on Adolescents later in the report provides further details. 

There are a range of lists of what to look for to determine if a child is experiencing neglect or their needs 

are not met.   Caution is needed to understand that the existence of one or more of these indicators does 

Page 183



 

24 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

not necessary point directly to neglect, but may be due to other reasons, hence the need for specialist 

assessment.  

NICE (2017) provide a 600+ page guidance of recommendations based on evidence on how to recognise 

and respond to child abuse and neglect centred on ‘a robust and rigorous review of the literature, in 

addition to lessons from practice’.   

 Assessment Tools and Methods  

There were mixed views about the assessment tools and methods in use, specifically the Graded Care 

Profile. Professionals were mostly positive about using the Home Conditions Tool and Capacity to Change 

assessment but more critical about elements of the Graded Care Profile in Salford and the need for two 

professionals to complete it. This has been recognised and a revision is in progress.  

Other assessment tools and methods are in use in specific professions, and it is important to realise that 

any specific neglect tool needs to be able to seamlessly sit alongside/within these.  The table below 

provides a summary of those which appear to be in use in Salford specifically for neglect, but there may 

be others. 

Tool Notes 

Leaflet for Parents Easy to read information for parents.  

Risk 
Screening followed 
by the Risk 
Assessment 

Checks cases for indication of concerns about significant harm in relation to 
children. These will be implemented in different ways by different agencies. Risk 
Assessment is a detailed framework for undertaking an assessment of the risk of 
significant harm. It explores components including the capacity of parents, the 
child’s needs, level of harm, prediction for the future and what may make harm, 
significant.  Assessing the threshold of significant harm guidance is also available 
to accompany the Risk Assessment form. 

Home Conditions 
Tool 

Assessment of the home conditions and their impact on the children who live 
there.   

Capacity to 
Change Tool 

Capacity to change guidance is based on Prochaska and DiClimente’s 
Comprehensive Model of Change (2007), which is not considered by some as the 
best for parental capacity to change. There are more up to date guidance and 
models, including from Research in Practice.  There was feedback that this also 
needs to be updated. 

Chronologies An up to date chronology was identified as essential to provide an insight into 
root causes of neglect and also history of patterns. 

Eco-maps Eco-maps were also felt to be useful, providing a visual map of a family's 
connections to the external world. They provide a useful tool for assessment of 
family, social and community relationships and highlight the quality of these 
connections. 

Graded Care 
Profile (GCP) 

The GCP is a common tool used specifically to assess Neglect. There are two 
versions available nationally. The original adapted in GM which Salford is currently 
using, and GCP2 which is adapted, evaluated and licenced by the NSPCC.  Salford 
has been promoting use of, training and conducting GCPs for many years, with 
recognition earlier this year that it can be improved. This work by a working group 
of professionals led by a member of the Early Help service is now aligned to the 
neglect strategy revision. The improvement proposed in this work chime with the 
results of the professionals survey.  

Page 184

http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb/Thresholds.htm
http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload
http://www.salford.gov.uk/secureupload


 

25 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 
We do not know how many graded care profiles are completed with families. The 
Early Help system has a GCP recorded for 14 children (7 families) in 2018/19, and 
we do not know how many were completed by other agencies. This could be 
because they are not being done, or they are not being recorded centraly. 
 
Only 15% of professionals responding the Neglect needs assessment survey had 
used the graded care profile in the last six months. 19% had used it over six 
months ago and the remainder had never used it.  Of those who had it, just under 
half said it was helpful and using it was positive compared to 15% who said their 
experience was negative and it not helpful, the remaining being neither positive 
or negative. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The strengths of using the GCP are well documented. However some respondents 
felt that it was too long, language too complex, form is not easy to understand 
and did not add to the overall assessment of the young person / family or have 
impact. Professionals in contact with families outside of the home (such as A&E)  
who may have justified concerns were not able to use the tool. One respondent 
felt that it can be ‘invasive’ for families and parents do not see it as a positive tool. 
The most common comment was that more training required/guidance on how to 
complete it. 
 

 

Recommendations/Key Lines of Enquiry: 

6a) Ensure that methods for identifying when children’s needs are not being met, and neglect, are 

refreshed through a campaign to promote/prevent neglect escalating and a pathway of support that is 

widely known across the City, including people who come into contact with families including 

communities, people with access to houses such as broadband and tv providers. 

6b) Provide additional resource to finalise at pace up to date assessment tool(s). This includes work on 

the graded care profile and roles therein, training on identification and tools as appropriate, and aligned 

to the new strategy and the current/future context for families. 

6c) Consider if the neglect assessment tool can be a dynamic document that integrates well into multi 

agency planning review of progress. 

6d) Consider if GCP needs to be renamed to facilitate engagement with it and show it is different from 

previous.  

6e) Ensure chronologies are used and maintained, especially where there are long term concerns or 

multiple episodes where children’s needs are not met. 

“It gives a picture of issues that may need support & evidence and a 
structure to conversations & plans - as long as it doesn't become 
too formal.” 

Source: Professionals survey response 

Page 185



 

26 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

7 Causes and Presenting Issues: Overview 
 

There is significant evidence about the root causes of parental inability to meet their child’s needs to 

varying degrees and that tackling the root causes and their cumulative effect is the key to tackling 

neglect. 

This is not specific to Salford. Ofsted (2018) stated that across England, alcohol misuse, drug misuse and 

unmanaged mental health problems in the household were all recorded as factors at the end of 

assessment more often than neglect. However, from the child’s perspective, neglect may be the biggest 

issue arising from the problems their parents are facing.   

Turnbull (2015) summarising children contacting Childline states that lack of food, often linked to 

parental alcohol or substance misuse or mental health problems, is the top issue that children 

mentioned. Parent’s misuse of alcohol or drugs was also a growing concern reflected in adults calls. A 

third of children talked about being left home alone frequently and many Childline callers had problems 

at school as a result of neglect – they said they are hungry all day, often they were bullied and they lack 

any parental support with their education. 

Understanding the Salford Picture is critical to ensure we are tackling the most prevalent local causes 

effectively. In this section, we build on the prevalence data provided and explore a range of reasons why 

parents/carers may not be able to meet these needs, what is already happening to tackle these in Salford, 

and what the evidence tells us we can do better. 

Professionals responding to the survey selected their top five causes or presenting factors that they see 

most commonly alongside neglect, which not only chimes with other evidence but also places the impact 

of poverty and parental mental 

ill health as present in over 75% 

of episodes of neglect. 

Other factors included: 

• Risk taking behaviour, 

criminality, high probability 

of criminal exploitation and 

other abuse. 

• Lack of clarity and 

awareness about the roles 

and responsibilities of 

parenting, and lack of 

understanding about the 

impact on their child. 

Figure 13: Professional’s survey question result 

 

Page 186



 

27 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

The influencing factors have been categorised into the three types referred to earlier: 

SOCIAL FACTORS:  
changes to the underlying needs 
faced by the local community and 
parents in Salford that results in 
changes to the numbers of children 
and families requiring help 

SYSTEM FACTORS:  
the way that the system of services 
in Salford responds to families 
requiring help 

 

PRACTICE FACTORS:  
the way that professionals work 
with individual families. 

 

• Population and 
demographics 

• Poverty 

• Housing 

• Adverse Childhood 
Experiences 

• Social Isolation and support 

• Cross LA border 
living/access to services 

• Perceptions of thresholds 

• Partnership working 

• Information gathering and 
sharing 

• Co-ordination of support 
and appointments 

• Leadership 

• Service commissioning and 
provision across the system 

• Models of practice 

• Doing ‘to’ or ‘with’ - 
relationships 

• Skills and knowledge of 
professionals 

• Consent, disguised non-
compliance and self-
reporting 

 
8 Causes and Presenting Issues: Social factors 
 

Some of the causes of neglect as well as the presenting issues can be attributed to the underlying needs 

faced by families that are connected to national/local policy, demographic, social or economic factors 

that are not in their control.   

Dubbed ‘State neglect’ or ‘institutional neglect’ , this result of national policy and regulations, for example 

universal credit, housing regulations, or failure by public or private sector organisations to remove some 

of the barriers to enable parents to meet their children’s needs are a current factor. National evidence 

was reiterated by professionals in Salford and an example given of how the City can inadvertently do this 

by schools fining parents for non-attendance at school when the parents are facing severe financial 

hardship.   

 

 Population and Demographics 

Changes to the size of the population has, and will continue to have, a major impact on demand for all 

services in Salford, simply by having more children and young people resident in the city. For example, 

there will be more people requiring housing, school places, health services, social care and other services 

“When the level of need tips over from level 1 or 2 into 3 or 4, if parents are not able to meet their children’s 
needs because of systemic issues such as benefits, housing etc and they are otherwise competent, well-
intentioned loving parents. If you as a professional and the parents try to sort those systemic issues out and 
it’s still not getting any better, that’s when you need to look deeper into things. If we can sort out the 
systemic stuff then it can leave competent parents that may have just needed a bit of extra support because 
stuff outside their control has happened.” 

Source: Focus Group Attendee 

Page 187



 

28 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

for children with significant needs.  How the local authority plans for and manages the predicted increase 

should be a central part of plans going forward both in terms of prevention and support.  

In the 10 years between 2007 and 2017, the child population in Salford has increased by 7,700 children3. 

The latest ONS population projections based on mid-2016 data estimate an increase of 12% in the child 

population between 2016 and 2026. 

The increase in the number of adults in Salford is equally important, as the demand for services for 

parents such as domestic abuse, drug and alcohol misuse, parental mental health increases pressure on 

services. 

 Poverty  

There is much research about neglect, poverty and early intervention. Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

(2018) report that more than one and a half million people were in destitution at some point in 2017, 

including 365,000 children with the main factors tipping people into destitution as: low benefit levels, 

delays in receiving benefits and sanctions; harsh and uncoordinated debt recovery practices by public 

authorities and utility companies; pressures caused by poor health or disability; high costs for housing 

and other essentials. 

Baynes, Bowyer and Godar (2019) is a current key reference for childhood neglect in the context of 

poverty and austerity. They report that child poverty has risen by 15% since 2011, almost all within 

working families and as changes to tax credits and universal credit continue to roll out, this number is 

expected to rise further. Other recent sources report a larger increase in poverty, as high as 38%. This 

Research in Practice publication, although focussed for children’s social work, defines poverty, the 

impacts on children and families and urges ‘poverty-aware practice’ that is applicable to all professionals 

and reiterates many of the findings from this needs assessment, and provides helpful pointers for Salford. 

The Child Welfare Inequalities Project (Bywaters et al 2016) found that children in the most deprived ten 

per cent of neighbourhoods in the UK are at least ten times more likely to be in care than children in the 

least deprived ten per cent and 24 times more likely to be subject of a child protection plan. Knowing that 

nearly half of child protection plans are for a category of neglect, we should continue to apply a 

geographical lens to tackle neglect in those in the most deprived areas in Salford. 

91% of professionals responding to the survey cited poverty as a cause or presenting factor they see 

mostly with neglect.  This is significant. Focus group discussions concluded that there are indications that 

the least financially secure families may be facing increased pressures on their finances which impact on 

their ability to meet their child’s needs. Family debt that causes a child’s needs not to be met, whether 

unintentional or intentional, can be the result of parental illness and inability to work, parental separation 

with no support from the separated parent, use of aggressive targeting by loan sharks, with a high 

number facing financial difficulties because of the benefit cap. We know that as one of last GM councils 

to fully implement universal credit, the impact is yet to be fully felt. 

 

3 Source: SGP/ONS 

Page 188



 

29 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Those families facing ‘in-work’ poverty are less visible to services, but rising living costs and stagnant 

wages are very likely to be affecting the financial well-being of these families. We heard how families 

receiving advice through the Welfare Rights and Debt Advice Service are living on a “deficit” or “negative” 

budget. 

As an indicative measure of destitution, figures from Salford Food Share network show 3,025 foodbank 

vouchers issued and 1,941 children fed in 2017/18 of which children’s services was the largest referrer 

(1,669 children fed).  We heard also that referrals to food banks can also be stigmatising for families and 

research shows it is a last resort.    

The anti-poverty strategy and taskforce in Salford, chaired by the City Mayor and a longitudinal study into 

the impact of universal credit in Salford and inform future planning was launched in October 2019 for 18 

months. However, until the longer-term benefits of the anti-poverty strategy is felt across Salford, there 

may need to be some consideration about how these families are supported now. 

The continued impact of the Welfare Rights and Debt Advice Service on assisting families who are 

experiencing financial difficulties and struggling to meet their children’s needs cannot be under-

estimated. See section 10.2 for more detail about their role. 

 Housing 

There is evidence that the changes to housing legislation has had an impact on families, including in the 

growing number of households referred to Housing Options and through the Bridge as a result of 

potential or actual eviction.  Eviction or risk of eviction, overcrowding and poor home conditions were 

common factors contributing to neglect. Housing difficulties can also affect the journeys of families 

getting help, when unstable or inappropriate housing or the threat of eviction destabilises families’ 

progress in improvement in meeting their child’s needs. 

Whilst no data is included here, we know that the number of families in temporary accommodation or 

homeless is startling and the impact will be felt throughout the system, including a major contributory 

factor to the rise in neglect and parental issues.   

The Children’s Society (2016) found that children living in families struggling with debt are five times 

more likely to be unhappy than children in families who don’t have difficulty with debt, putting them at 

risk of developing mental health problems.  

Discussions during the needs assessment included the distress and fear of having bailiffs coming to the 

house or being evicted from the family home, moving to temporary accommodation with no privacy or 

room to play, do homework, eat properly and witnessing parental stress and distress can have a direct 

and lasting impact on a child. 

Housing is a factor in its own right in neglect, but the evidence from a range of sources showed that the 

housing and financial difficulties are often inextricably linked, as illustrated in the example below. 

Page 189



 

30 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 

More detailed consideration and involvement with Housing professionals is required to understand the 

high contacts to the Bridge and parental experiences of eviction or threat of eviction, housing issues, and 

homelessness in contributing to neglect, and how this can be prevented or at the least impact on children 

mitigated. 

 

 Living and Provision of Services Across Local Area Boundaries. 

The effect of migration and moving across authority borders for housing, work, school, services, whether 

a long or short distance, was reported as challenging.  It features in a number of serious case reviews 

relating to neglect. Specific local areas identified were Rochdale, Bolton, Manchester, Bury, and Wigan. 

Three of these participated in the Neglect Summit. 

  

The impact for Salford is not simply a change in volume if inward migration increases, as families new to 

the area may also be socially isolated and unaware of services available, change in professionals to whom 

they need to tell their story again, and the possibility of falling through the net. Salford has good 

relationships and history of working in partnership with its neighbouring authorities in Greater 

Manchester, which is a strength. 

“B lives on her own with her 5 children age between 2 and 18 in 3 bedroom terrace house.  The 
house is overcrowded but she has not been considered for a move or exchange due to rent arrears.  
The family is subject to the benefit cap and have lost almost £70 per week from their housing 
benefit. As a result they owe £1800 in rent arrears. The family were referred to Salford Debt Advice 
Service by their housing provider, worried that she had not had independent advice about her 
forthcoming eviction and thankfully agreed to an adjournment to allow us to provide this advice. 
  
At the first visit B was visibly very thin and told me that she had lost 7 stone in the past 10 months 
due to worrying about losing the home and her children becoming homeless.  Her eldest daughter 
(18) had just started further education college and was feeling very positive about her future and to 
her credit B had been encouraging all of her children and had been putting a great front on so as 
not to worry them .She struggled to put food on the table and heat the property and often went 
without food herself which also contributed to her weight loss. 
 
We identified that she was indeed living on a deficit or negative budget and experiencing extreme 
hardship. We applied for full payment of her rent shortfall via a discretionary housing payment and 
she had also incurred a fine to pay for lateness at her sons’ school. This is still being considered but 
we are hopeful that payment of the ongoing rent shortfall will help the family and remove the worry 
of the uncertainty over their home.  We have also been able to provide Christmas gifts to all the 
children as well as offering support via Salford Assist and I will advocate for them at the next court 
hearing. 

Source: Debt Adviser 
 

Page 190



 

31 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

At the Tackling Neglect summit, we also heard that the neighbourhoods in Salford are different, and this 

diversity across the city needs to be taken into account when planning services to support parents to 

meet children’s needs. The new strategy may wish to look whether there are services targeted enough in 

these areas to identify and tackle neglect early on. 

 

 Adverse Childhood Experiences, Domestic Abuse, Parental Conflict 

There is evidence from a number of sources about adverse childhood experiences and Salford is already 

focussed on these issues, with specific programmes and attention across the partnership, and efforts 

have been made to ensure there is join up between them and the new neglect strategy.  

We know from the needs assessment findings and research that there is a strong correlation between 

parental inability to meet the child’s needs leading in some cases, to severe and/or long term neglect and 

exposure to trauma and adversity, including but not exclusively due to domestic abuse, physical violence, 

sexual abuse, parental separation, parental mental health issues, parental substance misuse, emotional 

neglect, physical neglect, verbal abuse, and social experiences, such as bullying, homelessness, child 

sexual exploitation, crime (known as Adverse Childhood Experiences or ACEs).  

As evidenced in the data provided about assessment factors in an earlier chapter, these factors, often 

present together, are a significant cause of parents’ inability to meet their child’s needs, sometimes 

unintentionally. We heard how some services who address these, specifically parental mental health and 

drug and alcohol abuse, are under a strain to meet the need in Salford. 

The Children’s Services 40 case audit found that parental mental health was the most common underlying 

factor in the neglect cases reviewed and the prevalence chapter provides evidence how ACEs and other 

factors are significant as a root cause of neglect. Links to the Salford Living Well model are in 

development and work will be piloted in a specific area in Salford in 2020. 

Continued investment, and the impact of these programmes or developments, and when it will be fully 

realised, is an important factor in tackling neglect.  

 

 Other Social Factors 

The role of the wider family, communities and today’s social norms on parenting generally was found to 

be a factor in parents being able to meet their child’s needs.  

There was some evidence that wider families living together can be a protective factor where 

grandparents/other family members share the parenting and provide support, and there were other 

instances (including a SCR) where the other adults in the house contribute to the abuse. This is also borne 

out by the assessment factors data which categorises mental health, drug and alcohol abuse, or domestic 

abuse by another adult in the house.  This highlights the importance of ensuring all members of the 

household and adults who are potentially contributing to the parenting are included in both assessment 

and interventions. 

Page 191



 

32 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Isolation can take many forms as a cause as well as outcome of neglect. Focus group discussion and 

research centres on the ability of a community to support its citizens and of a parent/carer to engage 

with their child. Current social context and norms have changed and look to continue to change in this 

fourth industrial revolution of technology and social media. Focus groups discussed how some parents do 

not interact with their children and build attachment due to the isolation caused by individuals (parents 

and children) engaging with technology, whether phones, tv, tablets/computers or gaming.  The impact of 

lack of supervision allowing children to spend long periods of their days/nights on technology and social 

media, and the risks therein has been the subject of much recent research.  

This is a growing, and very real form of neglect for children and one which the impact of has not fully 

been realised as these children reach adulthood.  Assessment tools and work with families need to be in 

tune with these and other aspects of people’s lives today and tomorrow, and both identify and propose 

solutions for parents in engaging with their children more. Every professional, community, can be made 

aware and given ideas how to overcome this. 

Kotch and colleagues (2014) report on analyses undertaken on the effects of different aspects of what 

they define as social capital on neglected children. They note that social cohesion and trust significantly 

reduced the impact of caregiver depression on externalising behaviours and alcohol use of neglected 

children at age 18.  

 

We know that in Salford, the role of neighbourhoods and involving communities is a strength. Leaders 

may wish to consider and identify the opportunities for developing and maintaining relationships that 

form social networks willing to help each other and new norms regarding family functioning and 

attachment in a digital age.  

 

Recommendation/key lines of enquiry:  

8a) The population of Salford will continue to grow. Consider the impact that the increase in population in 

Salford alone has. 

8b) Consider the impact of financial difficulties in relation to neglect on all aspects of meeting children’s 

needs, including the emotional abuse. 

8c) Utilise Research in Practice ‘poverty-aware practice’ guidance in policy and workforce development. 

8d) Apply a geographical lens to check there is effective cross-border/different neighbourhoods response.  

8e) Consider how the negative impact of social media and technology can be identified by parents and 

professionals, and encourage or prescribe activities to mitigate this, for example ‘phone free family time’ . 

8f) Consider the impact of/review the issuing of fines to parents for child’s non-attendance at school who 

are in financial difficulties such as housing arrears. 

8g) Ensure Housing is as involved as it needs to be in avoiding circumstances that contribute to child’s 

needs not being met, and the emotional impact of eviction and homelessness. 

Page 192



 

33 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

9 Causes and Presenting Factors: System Factors 
 

In order to ensure the new neglect strategy and associated activity focus on understanding what is 

working well and what changes are required to the way that the whole system across Salford, and GM, 

responds to families asking for help, we need to consider system factors. These include partnership 

working, information sharing, commissioning, thresholds and the synergy across the whole system. 

 

  Leadership and Governance  

Respondents to the professional’s survey and focus groups reported that there is very good strategic 

leadership and partnership working across Salford. This is also reflected in many other sources. 

We know that good leadership and governance are critical in order to be successful. There are a range of 

boards, groups and people who have neglect as part of their remit, with the SSCP taking a partnership 

lead. Changes this year in strengthening the Neglect Sub-Group of the SSCP with a Chair from Public 

Health, increased membership and focus via the neglect strategy work are positive. Apart from the SSCP 

Neglect Sub-Group there is no single person(s) or team responsible for this area, leading, championing 

and guiding across the system, such as in other areas, for example complex safeguarding and domestic 

abuse.  

From the evidence gathered, it also appears that the number of initiatives, pilots and programmes and 

strategies or policies which touch on neglect, indicate a ‘busy’ City with many good and innovative 

elements. Ensuring there is a clear picture of purpose and intended impact of these is important to 

ensure the system is efficient, cost effective and professionals and citizens are able to see the 

connectivity and pathways clearly to either drive, influence or inform their work.  A ‘timeline’ and 

summary document is underway to assist in our understanding of these.  

 

 Professionals and Partnership Working 

We know that partnership working in 

Salford is a strength. A high proportion of 

professionals responding the survey felt 

that agencies work well together when 

finding solutions for children 

experiencing neglect in Salford. Examples 

were given of GP/HV meetings, 

dedicated and caring professionals 

across the City. 

 

 

Figure 14: Professional’s survey question result 

Page 193



 

34 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

The Children’s Social Care 40 case audit evidenced that all of the audited child protection neglect cases 

evidenced good multi agency collaboration with neglect interventions, responses and resources shared. 

We heard how there are a number of panels or multi-agency meetings at which individual children and/or 

families are discussed on a whole family or specific factor basis, and from which outcomes are achieved.  

Sometimes children are the subject of more than one panel/multi-agency meeting and key professionals 

don’t always turn up.  

The Education On Track Panel is an example of a panel which was created out of a need to address 

children not accessing education or electively home educated. It consists of a range of health, education, 

early help and social care professionals to pool intelligence about the child following referral to the panel 

where there are education concerns.  

We need to understand any duplication in discussion and attendance at the range of panels and multi-

agency meetings, be clear re pathways, whether the child’s life as a whole is considered, the value of the 

role of the lead professional in having oversight if a number of panels involved and reasons why 

professionals may not attend. 

All sources of evidence, including the Tackling Neglect Summit, identified that not all professionals are as 

aware of other elements and services that they could be and this is linked to thresholds and sometimes 

understanding each others’ roles. We heard how important it is for professionals to maintain 

responsibility and a relationship with the family and ensure a smooth ‘transfer’ of information’ but a 

retained sense of involvement, when referring to other services and to ensure the onward-referral path is 

as smooth and timely as possible for the family. There were some suggestions that ‘referral’ should be 

replaced with ‘request for services’.   

The new strategy would be well placed to reinforce how the system for ensuring and supporting parents 

to meet their children’s needs will work; guidance on responsibilities and when to request services/step 

up or step down, as well as support through a toolkit which will work within any agencies own model of 

practice or assessments.   

 

 A systems approach and thresholds 

The ‘windscreen’ showing levels of need was 

used within focus groups to discuss 

thresholds and what support is available at 

which level. 

 

 

 

 

Figure 15: Salford thresholds 

Page 194



 

35 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Respondents to the roadshows, focus 

groups and survey stated strongly that 

there is not the clarity required about 

thresholds around neglect, especially at 

the point of referral to the Bridge.  

40% of respondents to the professional’s 

survey did not agree that the thresholds 

for accessing specialist neglect services are 

appropriate, compared to 32% who agree.  

 

 

 

Figure 16: Professional’s survey question result 

Whether thresholds are clear, or appropriate, was one of the biggest areas of discord between 

professionals, most noticeably universal services such as schools, early help and social care. There was 

agreement that robust early assessment is key to ensuring appropriate services are in place at the point 

of identification that there is potential for neglect to occur. We heard how some referrals to social care 

are ‘batted back’ because they do not meet threshold but the referrer feels they have done absolutely 

everything that they can do.  

 

In the Children’s Social Care 40 case audit, at least three of the cases on the matrix were referred in by 

partners when they were in a state of high risk mainly due to unsanitary and unacceptable living 

conditions. These cases required rapid responses from social care and in one case a life impacting 

decision had to be made by social care which led to the removal of children from their parents for a short 

time. 

There was, however, no evidence of inappropriate application of thresholds for social care intervention, 

evidenced by the Ofsted inspection in 2018 (Ofsted, 2018/2) which stated that “Thresholds in response to 

referrals are consistently applied, supported by good management oversight and decision-making. Each 

referral is appropriately rag-rated (red, amber, green-rated) to ensure that there is a tailored and timely 

response. Although the quality of referral information is variable, an effective screening and information-

sharing system leads to a swift transfer of cases to the duty and assessment team (DAT) as soon as it has 

been determined that a social work assessment is required. Information sharing continues in the DAT, with 

“Lack of consistency means that some families remain around threshold for years without any significant 
improvement, while others are challenged & held to account more rigorously. Thresholds need to be 
explored & a strategy for standardisation established”.  

Source: Professionals survey response 

Page 195



 

36 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

clear management direction in response to identified risk and harm. This means that most children receive 

the right help at the right time”. 

This would suggest that further exploration in 

the difference in views of social care 

thresholds for neglect is required to 

understand and resolve these experiences. 

 

Linked to this, is understanding of professional roles. Views from professionals as well as reviewing 

pathways shows mixed experiences in expectations of intervention by schools. We heard how a call to 

the Bridge from a school who is worried about a child in relation to neglect could result in the Bridge 

asking them to do a graded care profile if the threshold appears to the Bridge to be below level 3 or 4. 

However the school response can be we’ve done this and things haven’t improved.   

There appears to be a gap between what it is expected a school can do and has capacity to, and what 

they are being asked to do in some cases. Whilst it the responsibility of all professionals to work with 

families to support the child’s well-being and safety, we can conclude from the evidence that schools can 

be asked to undertake assessments and work with the family that they do not have the capacity or the 

right skills to undertake. The fairly recent roll out of four School Co-ordinators will help this, but each co-

ordinator covers a significant number of schools. 

Young people were asked who they would go to if they, or a friend, were being neglected. Their trusted 

professionals were school counsellors, teachers, people in safe areas they go to regularly, such as the 

librarian, or other parents. 

Clarification of thresholds of need and roles across professionals and organisations, escalation and 

dispute resolution, opportunities for multi-professional case discussions may be beneficial to include 

professional’s own attitudes, values and beliefs and how this impacts upon their professional judgement 

– assessing neglect can be subjective based on professional’s own perception. 

 

 Information Sharing, Client Record Systems and Record Keeping 

There were different views about the efficacy of sharing information about a family across professionals 

at the right time, and Salford is no different to many other local authorities in this. 

We heard of some good examples of information sharing and professional discussions that were 

appropriate. However, there was evidence from some professionals that the introduction of GDPR has 

caused issues in doing so, especially pre-statutory intervention. The development of multi-agency place 

based hubs and links to the Living Well model may seek to address this issue. 

In terms of record keeping and sharing information about interventions with a family, we heard how it is 

helpful to have a good understanding of what has been done and critical analysis of what has worked and 

what hasn’t worked. This not only builds up a picture of previous involvement and contributes to a more 

“The lower the level of neglect, the less people that 
are involved but actually it needs to be the other way 
round to prevent and support”.  

Source: Focus Group Attendee 

 

Page 196



 

37 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

seamless intervention for parents, but we heard that it is also helpful for evidence for Court if the case 

did eventually come into Court Proceedings. 

Salford may wish to undertake a ‘true to us’ exercise on the following findings from Ofsted’s analysis of 

joint targeted area inspections by Ofsted (2018) on this subject: 

• GPs who were involved in safeguarding activity, where neglect was a feature, were not consistently 

recording and sharing information about the child to inform wider partnership working 

• Alert systems that provide good oversight and tracking of risks to children who fail to attend hospital 

appointments, miss their immunisations or are not brought to routine appointments 

• Police officers were not consistently identifying older children as potentially vulnerable to neglect or 

abuse. Often, police officers focused on other complex factors such as drug offences and anti-social 

behaviour. Quantitative police performance information drives leaders and officers to concentrate 

on the quantity of child protection incidents as opposed to the nature and quality of decision-making 

• Adult services need to recognise neglectful parenting. There is variability in how effectively adult 

services identify parents who may be neglecting their older children. Too often, adult mental health 

and substance misuse services are not focused enough on thinking about the whole family and the 

impact of adult behaviours on children, including the risk of neglect to older children. Information on 

adults who have limited parenting capacity due to mental health or substance misuse is not always 

shared. We saw many examples where risks of neglect were not identified early enough. In some 

cases, information on changing patterns of adult behaviour was not shared. This is a theme that has 

been identified in two previous thematic reports in 2013 and 2014. 

 

Recommendation/Key lines of enquiry: 

9a) Consider whether a dedicated resource and named strategic lead for neglect across Salford help to 

provide this critical issue with the drive it needs in the same way as ACES and Domestic Abuse. 

9b) Consider the role of ‘champions’ across the partnership at various levels in different agencies at 

service manager level in key roles to support the strategy. 

9c) Clarify thresholds across the system for all professionals and citizens so that the child’s journey 

through the system is as effective as possible and professionals feel confident in onward 

referral/signposting or working with families. 

9d) Complete and adopt the levels of need ‘windscreen’ related to child’s needs and neglect, (focussed on 

lived experiences of the child), aligned to thrive model and Early Help pathway. 

9e) Ensure that those professionals who adults and children say they would turn to if they need help for 

themselves or someone else know what to do. 

9f) Ensure adult services are an intrinsic part of the system including workforce development.  

Page 197



 

38 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

9g) Further develop place based multi-agency ‘clinics’ and meetings with an approach around dynamic 

risk management.  

 
10 Service Provision 
 

In any local area, there will be a myriad of services across, or specific to different levels of need, age, and 

factors, as illustrated in the diagram below.   

 
Figure 17: Range of services around age and needs. 

In Salford, there are a range of services to support parents to meet their children’s needs and tackle 

neglect including: 

• Universal services such as schools, primary health services such as the 0-19 service which includes 

health visitors, family nurse partnership and school nurses.  

• Services where parents may need a bit more support to either address their own needs, or their 

parenting such as mental health, drug and alcohol abuse.  

• Family support through early help and commissioned services such as Humankind, based around 

locality hubs, providing support at the earliest opportunity to families in need of additional help, 

including co-working with social care services. 

• Social work services, accessed through The Bridge 

As part of the needs assessment and at the Tackling Neglect Summit, mapping what this means in terms 

of different professionals views across the system was created. (See Appendix C – what we do and what 

we see). 

Page 198



 

39 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Professionals largely felt that there were good services in Salford. One focus group discussed the 

importance of ensuring they are being used in the right way, at the right time, which is not overly bound 

by processes and procedures, a compliance culture, or targets. They stressed that sometimes these can 

hinder staff, who always want to do a good job, to relationship-based practice, constrain professional 

curiosity and an intuitive level of practice.   

We heard how some services do currently have waiting lists which impacts on the families receiving the 

help they need and provides a risk of deterioration.  Drift in working with families and delay in achieving 

the required outcomes for children was evidenced for some children / services. 

We asked professionals how far you agree that effective support services are available for the following 

groups: 

a) Children under 5 years of age 

b) Children aged 5 to 14 

c) Children aged 15 and over 

d) Preventative work with parents on parenting and support prior to identification of neglect 

e) Parenting support once neglect is identified 

The figures below show their responses, indicating that more professionals believe there are effective 

services than do not.  

Children under 5 years of age 
 

 
 

Children aged 5 to 14 

 

Children aged 15 and over 

 

Figure 18: Professional’s survey questionnaire results. 

Respondents provided examples both of what is working well, and what could work better. The Tackling 

Neglect Summit identified that for some children, there is a gap in oversight after the two-year old health 

visitor check to commencing school and there needs to be a better contact for all children during these 

formative years.  

Some professionals felt that where the impacts of neglect have been experienced, smooth transition into, 

and preparation for adulthood including preparing to be parents themselves is critical. The new NHS Long 

term plan suggest where appropriate moves to a 0-25 years service (NHS, 2019). 

 

Page 199



 

40 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 

Preventative work with parents: 
parenting and support prior to 
identification of neglect 
 

 
 

Parenting support once neglect is 
identified. 
 

 

Figure 19: Professional’s Survey Questionnaire Results 

Focus groups were all in agreement that support for parents in universal settings and professionals 

supported by specialists, as required, is critical.  Midwives, health visitors, schools, and communities have 

a critical role in providing the support to parents at present, often without the resources to do so.  

There is a significant amount of information about services which is not included here, as not all services 

were discussed or evidenced in detail during the needs assessment and it has been necessary to keep the 

scope to multi-agency or key presenting factors.  This is certainly the case with health services and the 

voluntary sector. Additional information from partners should inform discussions and actions in 

implementing the strategy. 

 

 Welfare Rights and Debt Advice Service 

The specialist Welfare Rights and Debt Advice service take on complex cases, often referred by adult 

social care, mental health services and increasingly, children’s services, with a specialist advice pathway 

designed for Early Help and the pilot of a welfare rights specialist within the Bridge. They work together 

with families using a rights-based approach and particularly around complex debt, ask families what they 

want to happen.  The provision of specialist advice alongside supporting people to feel back in control, 

living with insecurity and long-term debt is important because feelings of powerlessness are known to be 

a common feature within mental health issues. 

For under 5s: “More targeted interventions to address parenting support, isolation and managing child 
developmental milestones productively i.e feeding, social interaction, introducing learning and appropriate 
stimulation. 

Source: Professionals survey response 

Page 200



 

41 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

The Welfare Rights Service had active involvement through casework with 424 families with children 

between April 2018 and March 2019, and the Debt Advice Service had 221 active casework for families 

with children in the year from October 2018 to October 2019. Two thirds of the families the Debt Advice 

Service supported were headed by a lone parent reflecting the national evidence that lone parents have 

been disproportionately impacted by welfare reform (both non- working parents and working parents). 

 

 Schools and education 

Educational neglect and the role of schools in identifying and working with families as well as non-

attendance at school were strong features of the needs assessment. Parents may not recognise the 

importance of school attendance and reported as an issue in many families where other needs are not 

being met. We heard how this could be related to the parents own experiences of school and not seeing 

its’ value; having issues with the school itself and not wishing to send children; cost, or a symptom of a 

chaotic lifestyle. We also heard how in some cases, children may be worried about leaving their parents 

as they take on a caring role, and opt to stay at home with them.  

The ability and capacity of schools to work with families in these instances varies. We heard that on 

occasion, the head teacher is the only non-teaching member of staff and therefore needs to take on all 

the designated lead roles. Other specialists such as Education Welfare Officer, Educational Psychologist 

and Speech and Language Therapy are commissioned as required. 

Schools are providing support to children whose needs are not met in the form of food, uniforms, and 

taking on a pastoral role to support parents but we heard how few schools have the capacity nor resource 

to do so, putting pressure on their budgets.   

Attending education provision during statutory school age is critical for many reasons outlined here, and 

we know that non-attendance can be an indicator of other aspects of neglect. We did hear that parents 

could be receiving fines for not attendance at school, which can exacerbate their already poor financial 

status.   

There is evidence from professionals, documentation, and the Association of Directors of Children’s 

Services (ADCS, 2019) that the number of children who are electively home educated (EHE) is growing at 

a significant rate in Salford as nationally (41% in caseloads between 2016/17 and 2018/19), and is a factor 

in some case reviews where children are ‘invisible’ and experiencing neglect. Whilst elective home 

education may be appropriate for some children, reasons for such an increase are varied but may range 

“If parents say their child is always late as they are struggling to get into a routine, then I’ll go out 
to the home but often it’s the last thing they are dealing with as you’ll get everything out then, 
that they are not getting help with like mental health, there is domestic abuse going on, terrible 
home conditions, rent arrears, and debt, so sorting out the lifestyle then instead of supporting the 
lateness of the child to school. It happens so frequently.” 

Source: Focus Group School Staff Attendee 

Page 201



 

42 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

from the recent curriculum reforms and expectations of schools/students, to parents/carers seeing EHE 

as a solution to prosecution for poor attendance or as a temporary solution to not receiving their desired 

school place. 

Development of an Inclusion Strategy as part of the Education Strategy is underway to be implemented 

early 2020. This will focus on behaviour strategies, exclusions, etc. and there are opportunities to align 

the Neglect Strategy with this. 

 Health 

There are numerous indicators of neglect in health, for example children not brought to appointments, 

physical presentations, repeated headlice, nappy rash, delay in presentation, dental decay, emotional 

presentation, self-harm, eating disorders, not being given medication as prescribed, malnutrition and 

obesity. Those most commonly referred to during the needs assessment are provided below. 

Universal 0-19 service caseloads have increased. At February 2019, the total caseload was 49,391 with 

average caseload per health visitor of 356 and average caseload per school nurse of 3,428. 

Dental: Interventions have been implemented which include fluoride varnish application and tooth 

brushing in schools, this will improve dental outcomes but may not address home circumstances around 

oral hygiene. We heard how Dental Practices are better at recognising and managing dental decay and 

work in Salford on a ‘family friendly dental practice scheme’ was launched in July 2019 after consulting 

local parents about some of the barriers which families said prevents them from taking their children to 

the dentist. The main reasons were fear (adults and children), inconvenient appointment times and not 

all having family members being able to register with the same dentist. These barriers are likely to be the 

same for other interventions and appointments. 

Drug and alcohol services: We heard in the focus groups, roadshows and professionals surveys that drug 

and alcohol services are ‘decimated’ and whilst there are some committed staff providing this service in 

Salford, they are stretched too thinly. Substance misuse treatment often focuses on those adults with 

extreme addiction and those families who are ‘functioning’ but still unable to adequately meet the needs 

of their children are not detected. Further focus is needed on this cohort. 

Mental health services: The importance of mental health services in neglect cannot be underestimated. 

We know that parental mental health is one of the key factors in not being able to meet their child’s 

needs. We know there is pressure on mental health services in Salford as nationally, and triage services 

such as those offered by Six Degrees are key. However, as with many appointment types, parents are 

asked to travel to the clinics when they may be struggling financially and appointment times conflict with 

taking/picking children up from school. One of the issues with mental health services is that they are 

reliant on self-reporting and limited background information about the adult, and who else is involved in 

the case.   

We heard about a CAMHS link pilot in some schools in Salford, with feedback that other schools would 

also like this rolled out to them. Plans are in place to ensure there is provision across the City.  

Midwifery: We heard how midwifery services are very time pressured, but how this is a key opportunity 

to assess and provide guidance and early detection of needs such as substance misuse directly ante- and 

Page 202



 

43 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

post-natally, so that parents are supported at an early stage to know how to meet their child’s needs. All 

universal health services are in a good position at this time in the child’s life to ensure robust early 

assessments and promoting attachment as well as monitoring health and development to detect early 

indicators or risks of neglect. 

There are policies and campaigns across Salford and GM which will impact positively on meeting 

children’s needs and tacking neglect such as the Child Not Brought policy, and whilst we have not listed 

the detail of all health services here, they continue to provide the most significant opportunities for 

prevention, identification and intervention. 

 

 Early Help 

Roadshow attendees spoke positively about the role the Local Authority Early Help services play in 

helping families and other professionals in meeting children’s needs. The service takes an asset based 

approach to engaging and supporting families in line with the ‘Family Partnership Model’. Practitioners 

work with families following the ‘Helping Process’ to explore and understand their strengths and needs, 

informing the completion of an Early Help Assessment.  Where families being supported by the Early Help 

Service are identified as requiring escalation to Children’s Social Care, these cases are discussed at 

escalation meetings to manage case transfer.   

 

 The Bridge 

There was evidence from a range of sources that The Bridge generally works well and professionals 

appreciate that they can get advice from someone on the end of a phone. However, there was discussion 

in roadshows and elsewhere that ‘worried about a child’ as the contact address for the Bridge for both 

early help and social care may cause anxiety and contribute to non-engagement by families if they just 

need a bit of support.  

Recording contacts and referrals to early help and social care are generally online, or by phone. Contacts 

from police are via an email inbox which means that Bridge staff select the categories and input into the 

system whereas for online referrals, the referrer selects the category meaning there is a lack of 

consistency and inaccurate selections.   

Referrals from the hospital A&E Department where neglect is the issue tend to be lack of supervision, 

with a hypothesis that the contact is more of a check than raising a concern. This may need to be 

investigated further.  

Categories are screened by a Social Worker and RAG rated for urgency of response with Neglect 

categories ‘child home alone’ and ‘unsafe home conditions’ being red, the remainder Amber.  It may be 

helpful for referrers to have more guidance on which categories to select in order, very much like DfE 

have done for categories of need. 

 

 

Page 203



 

44 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Social Care 

  Evidence from Inspection and Post-Ofsted actions 

In October 2018, a short ILAC inspection of the local authority children’s services in Salford was 

undertaken, finding that “The response to neglect requires improvement. The local authority’s neglect tool 

is not consistently used to good effect by social workers or partners. This sometimes leads to delays in 

escalating concerns about children who experience inconsistent and neglectful parenting. Senior leaders 

are aware of this and have a plan in place to sharpen management oversight through existing multi-

agency escalation meetings in early help and a recently revised management alert system for child 

protection conference chairs”(Ofsted 2018a). 

Actions were put in place to improve and the findings from the review of 40 neglect cases include 

learning relevant to other agencies: 

• Neglect casework management at Child Protection and Children In Need level included services 

and support from Early Help and outreach. There is plenty of evidence that Outreach and Family 

Support Workers are committed to putting routines in place and visiting regularly. 

• Practice seen was task centred and reliant on achieving desired and set goals with families such as 

meeting health appointments, cleaning and clearing within households. This is commendable but 

achieves mainly immediate results and disguised compliance often accompanies this, with the risk 

that this is not recognised until later in the involvement. 

• It was difficult to evidence within assessments the impact on the children or their daily lived 

experiences, how the parent felt about the neglectful circumstances they found themselves in 

and how it affects their daily lived experiences. 

• Effective conversations with parents were evident in setting goals with a quick turnaround 

expected, which may be productive in the short term but less so  in addressing the cumulative 

issue of neglect or assisting the parent in sustained behaviour change that can be evidenced by 

motivation. However, the objective of this task based approach is appropriate in the short term 

as the children need to be safeguarded as a priority, with immediate risk assessed and have basic 

appropriate living conditions in place. 

  Practice Week 

Strengths in social care practice were highlighted during practice week. For example, assessments in DAT 

are effective, reports for child protection conferences are done well, and tools are used well. 

  Other findings 

Professionals responding to the survey and one focus group felt that there could be a disparity between 

looked after children who are placed with carers and those who remain at home with parents under a 

Care Order.  

Farmer and Lutman (2014) report on a recent study undertaken in England. The sample in this study 

consisted of 138 neglected children who had been returned to their parents following an episode of care 

Page 204



 

45 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

and followed up after five years to examine how risks were managed over time. The authors note that 

there is a need to counteract or deliberately interrupt what they describe as the otherwise ‘inevitable 

errors’ that occur in case management over time, as a result of various processes. For example, parents 

were difficult to engage and the neglect was often minimised to the extent that sufficient protective 

action was not taken.  

 

 Voluntary Sector and Communities 

The voluntary sector have been involved in the needs assessment and been part of the strategy steering 

group, and the strong partnership working in Salford includes the voluntary sector. A number of voluntary 

sector organisations are commissioned to provide support for families, and discussions during the needs 

assessment included their role as equally important as statutory services in ensuring parents are able to 

meet the needs of their children. The possibilities of how communities are engaged in supporting families 

and social prescribing were discussed as potential activities to deliver the new Neglect Strategy. 

Recommendations / Key Lines of Enquiry 

10a) Understand the cost to schools of welfare provision such as uniforms, breakfast etc (the ‘hidden’ 

cost of meeting children’s needs and tackling neglect). 

10b) Consider whether strengthening support or earlier help around and within schools will be beneficial 

or appropriate. 

10c) Continue to recognise dental health as an indicator and an important part in the child’s needs and 

working with the dental service to develop effective pathways for sharing information and understanding 

of thresholds. 

10d) Consider how current provision and pathways between services addresses at the earliest stage 

parenting support, isolation, and managing child development milestones such as nutrition, social 

interaction, appropriate stimulation and learning and school attendance.  

10e) Consider if ‘worriedaboutachild’ remains the most appropriate contact address for early help and 

social care. 

10f) Align the new Inclusion Strategy with the Neglect Strategy and Early Help Strategy. 

10g) Ensure there is clarity about early help – when referring to ‘early help’ generally or the Local 

Authority Early Help Service’.  

10h) Consider whether Midwifery services or resource ante- or post-natal can play a greater role in 

preventing neglect. 

10i) All services to audit a sample of their own cases as Children’s Social Care have, share good practice 

and implement any improvements identified. 

 

Page 205



 

46 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

11 Practice Factors 
 

 Models of Practice 

A ‘model of practice’ is a particular way of, or approach to, working with children and families which focus 

on building respectful collaborative relationships, solution focussed, and should be evidence based. There 

can be significant variation in how well some models are implemented and the same approach is not 

necessarily right for every local area. There are a number of models of practice in use in Salford, which 

tend to be ‘strengths based’ and centred on relationships with the service user (parent, carer, child), as 

well as initiatives to  understand root causes, impact and how organisations and professionals can have 

the most impact in improving the lives and experiences of children and their families. These include: 

 

Model Used By Date implemented 

Solihull 0-19 Service (Health) Not known 

Family Partnership Early Help 2019 

iThrive Early Help 2018 

Signs of Safety LA Children’s Services, Early Help, SRFT 0-19 Service 2015 

Restorative Practice Children’s Social Care Not known 

Lambeth/Living Well 
Model  

Adult services linked to children’s services  February 2020  

No Wrong Door LA Children’s Services 2019 

 

Whilst there is much new research and publication about strengths-based practice, we refer to Stanley 

(2016; 2017) in Department for Health and social care publication, Strengths-Based Approach Practice 

Framework and Practice Handbook (2019). They state that an agreed framework needs to reinforce ideas 

of up to date practice and co-produced knowledge, research, promote our values and ethics, render 

visible theories and methods, and promote a range of practice skills. The practitioner’s experiential 

learning is also recognised and promoted.  This firmly puts the importance of learning, knowledge and 

culture as critical infrastructure in tackling neglect in a strengths-based way. 

Discussions as part of the needs assessment concluded that it does not matter that each profession / 

service may have their own strengths-based approach as long as the common factors above are integral, 

and the purpose and pathways of using specialist tools across the partnership, such as graded care 

profile, are clear and suite in. The diagram below illustrates how this may look. 

 

Each services own model of practice, assessment and intervention for all children

Specialist neglect 
Tools (e.g. graded 
care profile, home 
conditions survey)

Specialist 
domestic abuse 

tools
Other Specialist Other Specialist Other Specialist

Page 206



 

47 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

“Cognitive and mental health assessments need to be considered before undertaking standard 
parenting assessments as sometimes learning difficulties and mental health problems can be 
masked.” 

Source: Professionals survey response 

We heard how these strengths based models of practice are beginning to change the discussions and 

practice with parent, for example the Family Partnership model. 

Whilst it is critical that each profession works to a model of practice that suits their organisation and the 

outcomes they need to achieve, we can see that this may be a little confusing for families who may be 

accessing a range of services, as well as professionals in understanding what else is being done.  

 

 Working with Parents 

The evidence identified several areas for focus when working with parents, with examples highlighting 

the criticality of getting this right.  

 

Professionals parenting: The balance between supporting parents to meet their own children’s needs, 

and the professionals actually undertaking the parenting themselves is a fine line, according to 

professionals. Many survey and focus group professionals talked about the need to increase parental 

resilience. This needs to be on a multi-agency basis which deals with the various stressors on the family 

and encourages families to identify solutions without doing everything for them, whilst taking firm action 

where required to safeguard and not leave children in abusive circumstances. A focus on fathers and 

wider support from families would be beneficial. 

 

Parental abilities and learning disabilities: There was evidence from case reviews and the data of 

children whose parents/carers have learning disabilities experiencing neglect, and this contributed to 

non-engagement for simple reasons such as not being able to read appointment letters.  Several sources 

cited in Turney et al (2018) evidence that parents with learning disabilities may experience a range of 

other pressures that make parenting more of a challenge, such as poverty, poor mental health, physical 

health problems, social isolation or inadequate housing, summarising that these parents re potentially 

very marginalised and vulnerable.  

 

“Initially parenting support may be required, sometimes intensively. However, we have to be mindful 
that we do not parallel parent or disempower parents. Consequently we should ensure that we wean 
of support gradually to ensure that parents are capable and confident and have increased capacity 
to care for their children. We should also ensure fathers are included in this as they are often absent 
in assessments.” 

Source: Professionals survey response 

Page 207



 

48 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

The assessment, understanding and mitigation by all professionals working with parents and their 

children of the capacity and ability of the parent at an early stage is important to ensure success. 

Parental non-compliance and self-reporting were also evidenced as factors impacting on tackling neglect 

in Salford as well as nationally. Disguised compliance, resistance and denial are common features and 

apparent resistance may be the result of fear, stigma, shame, denial, ambivalence, or the parent’s lack of 

confidence in their ability to change or lack of insight into their parenting capability and the impact on 

their children and is the subject of much research and guidance, including a Salford disguised non-

compliance policy.  

There was evidence that some services or professionals rely on parents self-reporting what other services 

they are working with, how they are doing, feeling etc. which can be challenging for professionals to 

navigate.  We heard how there is good practice in some areas in Salford where professionals will ask the 

Bridge for a check on a family before they visit so that they are going in with a full picture.   

There was recognition that as professionals, we need to ensure that relationship-based practice with 

elements of professional curiosity and clarity about whether parents understand/are able to make the 

changes required. We can make ‘compliance’ difficult if we put parents in an impossible position by 

asking them to make multiple changes concurrently that they either don’t understand the rationale for, 

or can’t cope with, including requiring them to attend multiple appointments (as one professional said – 

“…asking them to be in three places at one time with no way of getting to any of them as well as picking 

their kids up from school”). Suggestions also included practical support around individual budgets to pay 

for cleaning or support from bodies such as Home Start. 

Other examples were provided about working with all family members who have a parenting role, 

including split parenting, and attendance at an intensive programme of parenting and how parents ae 

supported to remember/sustain what they have learnt.  

 

Page 208



 

49 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 
Figure 20 Assessing parents capacity to change frontline tool. Source: Research in Practice 

Consent and parental engagement: Parental consent is a variable in nearly every service apart from 

social care and the criminal justice system. Parents need to consent to welfare and debt advice, early 

help, support from voluntary sector, and health services. There is strong evidence that the number of 

parents who either do not consent, engage or who disengage from working with professionals and/or 

achieving improvement to meet the needs of their children and reinforcing good practice re: improving 

consent and engagement should be an area of focus in the new strategy. This includes the number of 

parents who do not attend appointments.  

In Early Help, for example 192/1244 (15%) closed early help cases in 2018/19 were due to ‘services 

declined’ and 154 (12%) ‘family disengaged’.  Where consent is not obtained, and where there is 

sufficient concern of neglect to meet social care thresholds, statutory services will take over. However, 

the outcomes for children where those families who do not consent or engage and are below the 

statutory threshold.  

Page 209



 

50 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Lead professionals and relationships:  Parents and children require time to build relationships with a 

single worker that they can trust and can contact if they have ‘a wobble’. We heard how the types of 

professionals that parents are more likely to want to work with are those in their everyday life, for 

example, working with professionals who are associated with services such as school pastoral team, 

health visitor or GP, is more palatable for parents than someone from ‘social services’. The stigma and 

worry about working with statutory services is still a worry for many parents. As part of strategy 

implementation, consulting parents to determine the terminology, relationships and type of worker that 

would be able to best work with them to achieve required outcomes and sustain it will be important. 

Redefining the role of the lead professional is a key element of future work. 

 

 Working with children and young people 

Whilst direct work with young people who have experienced neglect was not undertaken, the young 

people spoken to during the needs assessment displayed a mature and thoughtful approach to 

recognising and supporting their peers whose needs may not be met and national evidence was used 

(DfE, 2012). One example was given by Salford young people of a group of friends paying for another 

friend’s lunch as she never had packed lunch or lunch money.  Children said they would go to a youth 

worker, other family member, sibling, teacher, or their best mate if they were worried. They said they 

would not post on social media, as ‘social media is for happy things’. They were keen to see a campaign at 

child level to improve this, to include posters, assemblies, inclusion in school mentoring programme. 

 

 Professionals knowledge and skills 

Working with children and families in the context of neglect and other adversities can place high 

emotional demands on professionals, especially where there may be complex causal factors, and in 

understanding pathways and support. Trauma faced by professionals when working with children and 

families, referred to as vicarious trauma, is defined as ‘the stress resulting from helping or wanting to help 

a traumatised or suffering person’ (Figley, 1995 in Research in Practice 2018).  

It is therefore important that professionals who may not usually receive regular supervision and case 

management activities, or where there is a culture where professionals can ask for support relating to 

their own feelings and experiences, have somewhere to go with difficult cases.  This can especially be the 

case with universal services such as schools where onward referral does not provide the relationship-

based practice that other agencies have. 

Professionals responding in the survey were very positive about knowing how to access specialist advice, 

how well agencies work together, having a supportive manager and feeling equipped to work with 

children at risk of, or experiencing child neglect and their families were positive.  

 

 

Page 210



 

51 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

I know how to access specialist advice and 
support for children experiencing neglect 

 

My manager supports me to manage risks associated 
with neglect on my caseload 

 

I feel equipped to work with children at risk of or 
experiencing child neglect and their families 

 

 
 

Figure 21: Professional’s Survey question 

52% had participated in a case review or learning event involving neglect.  

Initial discussions with the University of Salford indicated that there could be opportunities for ensuring 

better understanding of neglect and the factors raised within this needs assessment, improving skills and 

knowledge in this area. For example, through their newly implemented Safeguarding Framework; their 

safeguarding champions starting in Sept 2019, and collaboration on initiatives such as ‘child safe’ 

initiative.  

Recommendations / Key Lines of Enquiries: 

11a) It is acceptable to have more than one model of delivery but identify the common ground between 

them, that they are strengths based models and ensure there is clarity what is the model of delivery and 

toolkit for working with families in which circumstances. Learn from what works across the system and all 

models. 

11b)Engage parents in finalising and implementing the strategy. 

11c) Across the partnership, learn from where there is best practice in relationship-based practice with 

families and develop guidance and learning opportunities for all staff in understanding best practice in 

Page 211



 

52 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

working with families, including identifying parents cognitive ability and capacity, self-reporting, disguised 

non-compliance, capacity to change and getting engagement and consent. 

11d) Improve professional understanding of the Lead Professional Role and establish support systems via 

place-based working to alleviate the pressure on those individuals supporting families with complex 

needs.  

 
12 Specific Areas of neglect 
 

There was evidence specific to a child or families characteristics or circumstances for further attention 

and consideration as part of the strategy. In addition to those evidenced below, there will be other 

presenting factors which touch on neglect such as safe sleep advice as part of an integrated advice and 

integrated strategies with neglect and substance misuse. 

 

 Disabled Children 

Research by Jones et al (2012) estimated that disabled children were 4.56 times more likely to experience 

neglect than non-disabled children. In another study, Sullivan and Knutson (2000) found that disabled 

children were 3.8 times more likely to be neglected than non-disabled children. Disabled children 

featured in a disproportionate amount of safeguarding case reviews where neglect is an element, over 

the past three years in Salford. 

Reasons could include attitudes and assumptions, barriers to provision of support services, impairment 

related factors, child’s lack of awareness, barrier to communication and seeking help, barriers to 

identification of concerns and effective child protection response.  

 

 Young carers 

We heard that where parents are not meeting their children’s needs, older children are unintentionally or 

intentionally taking on the role of carer for the parent and siblings, including taking them to school, 

getting them out of the way when parents are in conflict.  

 

 Obesity 

There is evidence from case reviews, focus groups and other sources that childhood obesity as a form of 

neglect is an issue, not just in Salford but nationally. In one serious case review, the impact of neglectful 

parenting in causing obesity resulted in a child’s death. The Manchester Serious Case Review this year has 

resulted in learning points about obesity and a GM strategy, as well as work for the coming year on this 

topic by the GM Children Network.  

 

Page 212



 

53 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

For 16 and over age group: “In my experience as a clinician this group are probably the least likely to 
receive an appropriate intervention and so often, are perceived by professionals and adults as abusive, 
aggressive, 'choosing' to behave badly and making poor decisions without a real understanding why they 
are struggling to deal with and engage in the world around them. I think all services need to address this 
issue, particularly for those aged 16 + as we treat them according to their chronological age and not their 
emotionally developmental age. From a CAMHS perspective, these are also the young people who haven’t 
received a formal assessment, diagnosis and consistent treatment for their difficulties as parents have not 
been able to support them to engage and make the changes they need to, to prepare them for adult life. 
Accessing children’s service support for the 16+ age group is also very difficult as is housing, financial 
support and a nurturing approach to engagement. Quite frankly, I think we really let them down! 

Source: Professionals survey response 

 Adolescents 

While there has been a great deal of focus on the neglect of younger children, there is much less research 

and practice development to address the neglect of older children.  Ofsted (2018) examined the multi-

agency response to older children who are living with neglect concludes that in the six local areas 

inspected, much has been done by agencies to address neglect of younger children but it calls for a 

greater awareness of the neglect of older children and a focus on trauma-based approaches to tackling it. 

It also calls for a greater awareness among professionals in adult services of the risks of neglect of older 

children who are living with parents with complex needs. 

What older children require from their parents is also different to what younger children need. Older 

children face risks outside of the home in ways that younger children do not. Parents may not always be 

equipped to help their older children deal with increased risks outside the home. Ofsted 2018 state that 

the signs of neglect of older children may be more difficult to identify than signs of neglect in younger 

children, and older children may present with different risks. For example, older children may want to 

spend more time away from a neglectful home, and, given their experience of neglect, they may be more 

vulnerable to risks such as going missing, offending behaviour or exploitation.  

When older children who have experienced neglect come to the attention of agencies, the most obvious 

risks of, for example, exploitation or offending behaviour may elicit an appropriate response from 

professionals initially. But, without understanding and addressing the underlying impact of neglect, the 

effectiveness of any work to support these children will be limited. Professionals and parents can 

sometimes view the presenting issues older children face as the problem: this was often an unconscious 

assumption. When a child’s presenting issues become the sole problem, professionals do not always 

consider their behaviour in the context of the impact of neglect on the child and they can fail to take 

action with parents regarding any ongoing neglect. 

Ofsted found that agencies focus on the presenting issues without either addressing neglect in the home 

or the impact of neglect on the child. They reiterate that while agencies robustly work together to tackle 

knife crime and gang activity, they must also address the underlying vulnerabilities of the young people 

that expose them to grooming by gangs/dangerous adults. The way in which we, as a society, view older 

children and their behaviour is not always in the context of their lived experiences. 

Meeting the needs of older children was a strong area from the evidence for further attention within the 

strategy, with questions around pathways and service provision that adequately look at their needs being 

met and neglectful parenting.   

Page 213



 

54 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Childhood Neglect and its Relationship to Other Forms of Harm 

In section 2.1 we stated that neglect cannot be viewed in isolation to other. Research in Practice (Floor & 

Holmes, 2016) have drawn together key messages from three studies considering the potential 

relationship between neglect and other forms of harm and what this tells us about responding effectively 

to meet children’s needs, concluding that there is no direct or straightforward link between neglect, child 

sexual exploitation, intra-familial child sexual abuse or HSB but the evidence does suggest a number of 

ways in which the impacts of neglect may interact with other factors and adversities to increase children 

and young people’s vulnerability to harm.  A hypothesised model of how the impact of neglect may 

increase vulnerability to CSE is shown below. 

 

Figure 22: Source: Flood & Holmes (2016)  Child Neglect and is relationship to other forms of harm – responding 

effectively to children’s needs, Research in Practice 

 

 Episodic neglect 

National and local evidence describe a pattern of episodic neglect where families are not able to meet 

their children’s needs all the time.  As professionals, we expect separate episodes of neglect to diminish 

once parents have made improvements. However it is important to also value the positive nature of 

families who may re-request help from any service if they are struggling. This recognises that stopping 

further escalation and periodic support is part of building resilience and sustainability. We would 

Page 214



 

55 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

recommend that identification of how episodic neglect can be improved, and ongoing support to meet 

children’s needs that takes into consideration previous periods of neglect is essential. 

 

 Institutional neglect 

Institutional Abuse is more commonly considered in adult services, and described by The Care Act as one 

of the 10 types of harm including neglect and poor care practice within a specific care setting such as 

hospital, children’s home or care.  Whilst this does not appear to be a feature in the case reviews in the 

past three years, the safeguarding partnership, commissioners and professionals need to continue to be 

diligent in this area. 

 

Recommendations / Key Lines of Enquiry: 

12a) Improve understanding of, and response to neglect in older children that considers and mitigates 

impact on life chances through better transition between child and adult services. 

12b) Consider how episodic neglect and the factors that cause this can be mitigated, for example 

improvement in getting consent to work at early help; use of chronologies; sustained support; places for 

parents to go for support if they feel a wobble and addressing risk and resilience. 

12c) Continue to consider institutional neglect as an area of focus  

 

13 Impact  
 

The impact of not having needs met and neglect can be significant on a childhood as well as life chances. 

The child can carry the legacy and impact of neglect at a younger age with them into adolescence and 

adulthood. This means they are often not well equipped to cope with the many challenges and there is 

evidence of poor parenting from adults who were received poor parenting themselves.  We know from 

research that the impact of long-term neglect can result in children experiencing trauma and the 

repeated experience of trauma can lead to post-traumatic stress. The emotional impact of neglect, of 

children not having their emotional needs met was felt to be significant and sometimes overlooked. 

The impact of neglect on the lives of children and into adulthood can include, but is not limited to: 

poor mental and physical health   difficulties with interpersonal relationships  

poor behaviour and mood control  poor confidence and social skills 

learning and/or other disabilities  offending behaviour  

substance misuse    a high propensity for risk-taking behaviour  

intergenerational continuation  low expectations of their parents 

reduced educational achievement  greater difficulty with communication and learning 

suicide     death 

Page 215



 

56 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

It is challenging to measure the impact of neglect and understand the lived experiences of children. We 

heard how sometimes the focus can be on supporting the parents and their presenting or causal issues 

and what it's like for the child is lost. Some examples have been provided through this needs assessment.  

Better understanding and mitigating against the child’s experience of these events could help to reduce 

the emotional trauma.  For example, can we do more to help parents think about the impact of what they 

are doing on their child’s emotional health and how they might be experiencing it.  It was suggested that 

if we can prevent and tackle emotional neglect and attachment first, there may be a knock on effect and 

there will be less other types of abuse as parents connect emotionally more with their children. 

 

Howarth (2013) suggests that understanding the child’s lived experience, especially in assessment, 

requires greater time specificity, for example the child, parent and professional view first thing in the 

morning, at weekends, at bed-time. 

 

Case studies have been produced to illustrate how the child’s journey from presenting needs through 

assessment, provision of service, and what has changed for the child produces learning and improvement 

opportunities for professionals and system leaders. (see Appendix C).  

We asked young people what is important to them. Love, a sense of belonging and attachment came out 

strongly for young people as part of their Ten Points in Jazz Hands in the pledge. Young people 

commented that children may not realise what their ‘grown ups’ are doing is neglect, because you care 

for them and put them on a pedestal, not thinking 

that they could do it to you. Professionals and 

young people stated that ways of identifying 

emotional neglect could be challenging as children 

will react in different ways. We therefore need to 

ensure that those professionals and adults in 

touch with children, whom they would go to, are 

able to recognise the signs.  

 

Recommendations / Key Lines of Enquiry: 

 

13a) Consider how the impact of parental and stress factors can be minimised, and ensure all 

professionals, including Adult Services, Housing, Benefits, Bailiffs, etc, are provided with 

guidance/training on minimising the trauma for them.  
 

13b) Ensure that engagement with children where parents need support, or are experiencing neglect, is 

done so in a way that does not minimise their attachment to their parent. 

 

13c) Develop an outcomes framework and evaluation that includes the voices of children and young 

people, and review by The Youth Council. 

 
 

“…being pushed away by people when you need help 

and they are not there..parents/family 

member..people who should give you love”.  

Source: Member of the Youth Council 

Page 216



 

57 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

14 What Works to Improve 
 

To be effective in identifying the neglect, especially in older children, there needs to be a whole-system 

approach which ensures that staff across agencies (especially non-children’s services such as housing, 

adult services) have the support, training and tools they need to tackle root causes of neglect.  

 Comparing to Other Local Areas 

In England, some local authorities appear to have reduced the prevalence of neglect as measured by rate 

of children subject of a child protection plan for neglect. A brief review of local authorities who have 

reduced the number of children becoming subject of a child protection plan for the category of neglect by 

more than 25%  between 2014/15 and 2017/18 (ADCS, 2018) reveals that large reductions in child 

protection plans for neglect are evident in some areas.  We cannot presume from the data that all of 

these have been successful in tackling neglect and it is critical to understand from the LAs the reasons for 

reduction, including whether there have been changes in recording. We know that for some, including 

Hertfordshire, there is evidence that this is as a result of the family safeguarding model as part of the DfE 

Innovation Programme. 

Barnet Halton Shropshire Westminster 

Barnsley Hertfordshire Southend-on-Sea Wigan 

Bedford Borough Lancashire Stockton-on-Tees  

Bexley Norfolk Wakefield  

Bradford North Tyneside Warrington  

 

 Regulatory and Salford’s standards 

Our research questions (Appendix A) and Ofsted (2014 and 2018) suggest what good practice and 

outcomes looks like: 

• Children living with neglect receive the right help and protection at the right time so that their 

individual developmental needs are met;  

• Families are helped to engage with the work and children’s views are sought and recorded; openness 

is encouraged as part of early help;  

There is proactive engagement with parents over the now and ongoing developmental needs of each 

child and clarity as to roles in meeting those needs;  

• Plans are SMART – in other words they clearly and succinctly evidence and record current concerns, 

what needs to change from this baseline, how, and by when (how urgent for the child);  

• Actions to carry out the plan and results meeting the child’s needs, or a change of plan, are recorded; 

• Families and professionals have access to evidence-based approaches, tools and services; staff are 

well trained, confident and knowledgeable; 

• There is good communication with and between professionals. 

 

 

Page 217



 

58 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Young People 

Salford Youth Council presented to the Tackling Neglect Summit what having their needs met and not 

being neglected means to them, splitting into three age groups: 

 

 

Page 218



 

59 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 

The ten most important things they came up with for all children, for professionals to pledge to was 

presented as their ‘jazz hands of trust’. 

 

Figure 23: Salford Youth Council evidence re neglect 

Page 219



 

60 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

15 Considerations, Challenges and Enablers 
 

The following points arose for consideration, which present challenges or are enablers for tackling neglect 

and the new strategy: 

• Evidence sources from professionals cited funding, capacity of current staff, lower case loads and 

recruitment and retention of staff, specifically social work, parental mental health and drug and 

alcohol services as some of the challenges.  In the current public sector funding situation, local 

authorities, including Salford, are considering and acting on how they can be more innovative, 

efficient and future proof provision. During the needs assessment, discussions ranged from apps for 

parenting (but see previous evidence about the amount of time spent on technology rather than 

interactions), to wider use of self-book appointments and interactive parenting guidance.  

• We heard how services need to be as mindful of their own ‘start again’ syndrome as we note there 

may be for families, and to get basics right and ensure there is time to embed any new ways of work 

to generate impact.  

• The Salford-centric evidence about neglect and meeting children’s needs is substantial, but there are 

gaps in our knowledge. For example, the voice of parents, voice of communities and wider voice of 

children experiencing neglect is not as strong as it needs to be.  

• The evidence indicates that neglect needs to be viewed as an ‘adaptive challenge’ and not a 

‘technical problem’. That is to say that we cannot diagnose and solve this, generally within a short 

time frame, by applying established know how and procedures. New learning, time, and a cultural 

shift may challenge some professionals’ values and perceptions. (Heifetz, 2009).  

• Measuring impact of the strategy: It is important that we agree success measures for the new 

strategy from the beginning. We propose a new outcomes framework based around the Young 

Peoples pledge agreed at the outset of the new strategy which is implemented immediately with 

baselines completed. We would also propose that evaluation is built into any strategy and at a 

reasonable period after implementation.  

• We must be cognisant of, and use the six principles of the SSCP to ensure we empower, prevent, 

work in partnership, are proportionate and accountable, providing protection to those in greatest 

need.  

• Empowerment: People being supported and encouraged to make their own decisions and with 

informed consent. 

• Prevention: It is better to take action before harm occurs. 

• Partnership: Local solutions through services working with their communities. Communities 

have a part to play in preventing, detecting and reporting safeguarding issues. 

• Proportionality: The least intrusive response appropriate to the risk presented. 

• Protection: Support and representation for those in greatest need. 

• Accountability: Accountability and transparency in safeguarding practice. 

 

Page 220



 

61 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 Future Proofing 

This needs assessment has ‘looked back’ to assess prevalence, need and services. However, the context 

and lives for children and families is ever changing and the impact of external factors and legislation will 

impact in the future over the life of the new three year strategy and beyond.  To truly understand how 

neglect can be more effectively tackled in the future, consideration of emerging or predicted factors, 

horizon scanning, is critical.  For example: 

SOCIAL AND DEMAND FACTORS 

Population: IF we have more children living in the local area, THEN there will be a need for more 
school places, other services and proportionate increase in children and families in need 
of help.  

Poverty: IF there is greater poverty, THEN there will be more children in need of help.  

Housing: IF the availability of affordable suitable housing does not increase THEN there are likely 
to be more children at risk of homelessness and in the social care system. 

Health: IF universal child health services are not available to promote, prevent or treat health 
issues, THEN there are likely to be more children and families who will develop more 
serious problems which will require attention from higher tier, more specialist health 
services and children’s social care. 

Mental 
Health: 

IF there is limited improvement in accessing services that prevent and treat mental ill-
health for children, young people and adults, THEN there are likely to be more parents 
and young people suffering acute distress, requiring access to higher cost in-patient 
services and there will be a greater negative impact on children’s future life chances.  

RESULTING SERVICE DEMAND FACTORS 

Increased 
caseloads: 

IF demand increases, with no additional funding for services or workers, IF difficulty 
recruiting & retaining workers continues, IF the number of workers decreases THEN it is 
likely that the caseloads of existing workers will increase, THEN there will be greater drift 
in the system, THEN we have more children in the system for longer. IF demands increase 
and recruitment and retention of skilled social workers decline, THEN there will be an 
increased reliance on agency staff at a greater cost. THEN children and young people’s 
needs will not be met. 

RESULTING OUTCOMES FOR CHILDREN AND FAMILIES 

Escalating 
issues: 

IF needs cannot be met in a timely way, by supporting the child and family at the earliest 
possible stage, THEN problems will escalate and require more costly intervention. Most 
importantly, the quality of children’s future adulthood will be poorer. 

 

 

 

Page 221



 

62 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

16 Conclusion 
 

There has been a wealth of evidence provided which concludes that Salford has good multi-agency 

working, good working and support to families is positive and there are a number of great initiatives and 

changes and services. However, we also heard how rising neglect is a national issue as well as in Salford, 

and there are areas where Salford can do better.  

We challenge a need to define parents/carers abilities to meet the needs of their children on the wide 

spectrum in a strengths based way, from ‘need a temporary bit of help’ to chronic and abusive neglect.  

Prevention and early identification of parental inability to meet their children’s needs start at the earliest 

possible opportunity and there are missed opportunities to do so ante-natally. The notion of additional 

parenting support resource pre-birth, in the first 1000 days, and ‘early early help’ to work alongside 

existing universal and level 1 services professionals where neglect can be prevented is being tested. 

Professionals talked about basic parenting skills and self-care in schools, getting into communities and 

local activities such as sports events and providers such as Rugby and football to target fathers. Subjects 

that can be prevented include loan sharks, caring for children, nutrition, the importance of attending 

school, where to get support from 

Support is required for those parents who do not know how to parent their children, who may be socially 

isolated, or to help signpost to services such as debt advice, nutrition and food, the importance of going 

to school, or more specialist services such as accessing and the importance of attending mental health or 

drug and alcohol appointments. In essence, a refresh of the lead professional role, but where families 

would identify with and consent to work with – we heard about the ‘Salford Nanna’.   

From this perspective and the evidence provided, greater attention and focus is required on meeting 

children’s needs and neglect much more preventatively, as a public health approach, responding to the 

causal chain to promote health, well-being, prevent neglect, develop resilience and foster equality, from 

pre-birth to transition to adulthood. There are opportunities to strengthen the lead professional role, 

specific neglect tools and understanding/implementation of thresholds for neglect across the system so 

that there are places where professionals can take concerns without onward referral. 

In terms of strategic approach and resources in the future, there was a consistent message of a greater 

understanding that early help is greater than that provided by the Local Authority early help services, and 

the pressure on ‘universal’ and some specialist services such as schools, mental health and drug and 

alcohol services require urgent attention.    

From the evidence gathered, root causes, presenting issues and effects of not meeting children’s needs 

can be visualised as follows: 

  

Page 222



 

63 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 
Figure 24: Summary of root causes, presenting issues and impact 

Our needs assessment chimes with Turney and Taylor (2014) and Brandon et al (2008) who conclude that 

child neglect is a complex phenomenon with a range of possible inter-connecting ‘causes’, and this 

complex interplay of factors can compromise parents’ abilities to offer satisfactory care to their children.  

The strategy, as well as providing a strong reinforcement of the statutory requirements in Working 

Together 2018, should focus on addressing the root causes, whilst recognising the presenting factors and 

mitigating against impact at a pace which is in the child’s time.  The recommendations herein, and draft 

action plan and strategy take into account all the findings from the needs assessment. 

The Youth Council reminded us that collectively, all grown-ups everywhere have a duty to uphold Article 

27 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child:  the right of every child to a standard of living adequate 

for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development. This should underpin the Neglect 

Strategy.  

Page 223



 

64 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

17 References 
 

• ADCS (2018) Safeguarding Pressures Research Phase 6, ADCS 

• Barlow, J. (2010) The effects of emotional neglect. In Gardner R (ed) Tackling Child Neglect Jessica 
Kingsley Publishers  

• Baynes, P, Bower S, Godar R, (2019) Neglect in the context of poverty and austerity, Research in 
Practice, Dartington 

• Brandon M et al., ‘Missed opportunities: indicators of neglect – what is ignored, why, and what 
can be done?’ Department for Education; 2014; 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/indicators-ofneglect-missed-opportunities. 

• Brandon M., Bayley S., Belderson P., and Larsson B. (2013) Neglect and Serious Case Reviews 
UEA/NSPCC. 

• Bywaters et al (2016) The relationship between poverty, child abuse and neglect: an evidence 
review, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

• Cawson P, et al (200)., ‘Child maltreatment in the United Kingdom: A study of the prevalence of 
abuse and neglect’, NSPCC 

• Chowdry, H. & Fitzsimon, P. (2016)The cost of late intervention. Early Intervention Foundation. 

• College of Policing (2019) website accessed https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-
content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-abuse/key-definitions/ 

• Conti, G. et al (2017) The economic cost of child maltreatment in the UK: a preliminary study. 
London: NSPCC. 

• Curtis, L. & Burns, A. (2018) Unit Costs of Health and Social Care 2018, Personal Social Services 
Research Unit, University of Kent, Canterbury. 

• D Turney and J Taylor. Interventions in Chronic and Severe Neglect: What Works? (Child Abuse 
Review 2014) Child Abuse Review Vol. 23: 231–234 (2014) Published online in Wiley Online 
Library 

• Department for Health and Social Care (2019) Strengths-based approach Practice Framework and 
Practice Handbook  

• DfE (2018) Working Together to Safeguard Children 

• Farmer E, Lutman E. 2014. Working Effectively with Neglected Children and Their Families –What 
Needs to Change? Child Abuse Review 23: 260–271. DOI: 10.1002/car.2330. 

• Flood, S, Holmes, D (2016), Child neglect and its relationship to other forms of harm – responding 
effectively to children’s needs. Research in Practice 

• Gardner R, ‘Developing an effective response to neglect and emotional harm to children’, 
National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children; 2008;  

• Gupta, A. (2017) Poverty and child neglect – the elephant in the room? Families , relationships 
and societies 6 ( 1) 21-36 [quoted in (3) above]  

• Haynes, A. (2004) Realising the Potential; tackling neglect in universal services NSPCC  

• Heifetz, R. (2009)  Practice of Adaptive Leadership 

• Horwath J (2013) Child Neglect, Palgrave 

Page 224

https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-abuse/key-definitions/
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/major-investigation-and-public-protection/child-abuse/key-definitions/
https://kar.kent.ac.uk/70995/1/Unit%20Costs%202018%20-%20FINAL%20with%20bookmarks%20and%20covers%20%282%29.pdf
https://kar.kent.ac.uk/70995/1/Unit%20Costs%202018%20-%20FINAL%20with%20bookmarks%20and%20covers%20%282%29.pdf
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/car.2351


 

65 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

• Jones et al (2012) Disabled children were estimated to be 3.68 times more likely to experience 
violence than non-disabled children.  

• Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2018) UK Poverty 2018 

• Kotch J, Smith J, Margolis B, Black M, English D, Thompson R, Lee L-C, Taneja G, BangdiwalaS. 
(2014). The Prevalence of Maltreatment across the Globe: Review of a Series of MetaAnalyses. 
Child Abuse Review 23: 246–259.  

• Neglected children and their families: issues and dilemmas: Stevenson Olive. Oxford Blackwell 
2007. Ofsted (2014) In the child’s time: professional responses to neglect, No. 140059.  

• NHS (2019) The NHS Long Term Plan 

• NICE (2017) Guideline NG76 Child abuse and neglect: recognising, assessing and responding to 
abuse and neglect of children and young people  

• NSPCC (2012) Supporting professionals to take action against neglect 

• Ofsted (2016) In the Child’s Time – professional responses to neglect 

• Ofsted (2018a) Inspection of local authority children’s services in Salford 

• Ofsted (2019) Growing up neglected: a multi-agency response to older children 

• Pinter, I, Ayre, D, Emmott, E. (2016) The Damage of Debt. The Children’s Society. 

• Public Health and Prevention, June 2019 (IPPR) 

• Public Health England, Child Health Profiles (accessed October 2019) 

• Radford L, et al., ‘Child abuse and neglect in the UK today’, NSPCC, 2011; 
http://clok.uclan.ac.uk/6022/ 

• Raws P, ‘Thinking about adolescent neglect. A review of research on adolescent neglect focusing 
on identification, assessment and intervention’, 2018, The Children’s Society, Luton LSCB;  

• Rees G, Stein M, Hicks L, Gorin S. 2011. Adolescent Neglect: Research, Policy and Practice. 

• Sullivan and Knutson (2000): Maltreatment and disabilities: a population-based epidemiological 
study 

• Taylor, J., Stalker, K., and Stewart, A. (2016) Disabled Children and the Child Protection System: A 
Cause for Concern. Child Abuse Review., 25: 60–73.     

• The Children’s Society (2016) Troubled Teens – understanding adolescent neglect  

• Turnbull, M. (2015) Hurting inside: NSPCC report on the learning from the NSPCC helpline and 
ChildLine on neglect. NSPCC. 

• Turney, D, Tarleton, B, Tilbury, N (2018) Supporting parents who have learning disabilities, 
Research in Practice 

• UN Convention on the Rights of the Child    

• Wolock I, Horowitz B. 1984. Child maltreatment as a social problem: the neglect of neglect. 
American Journal of Orthopsychiatry 54(4): 530–543.   

Page 225

file:///C:/Users/user/Dropbox/C044%20-%20Salford/C044-3%20Neglect/REPORTS%20AND%20APPENDICES/•%09NICE%20Guideline:%20Child%20abuse%20and%20neglect:%20recognising,assessing%20and%20responding%20to%20abuse%20andneglect%20of%20children%20and%20young%20peopleOctober%202017
file:///C:/Users/user/Dropbox/C044%20-%20Salford/C044-3%20Neglect/REPORTS%20AND%20APPENDICES/•%09NICE%20Guideline:%20Child%20abuse%20and%20neglect:%20recognising,assessing%20and%20responding%20to%20abuse%20andneglect%20of%20children%20and%20young%20peopleOctober%202017
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/research/troubled-teens-understanding-adolescent-neglect


 

66 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Appendix A: Neglect Strategy Assessment Questions 
 

Prevalence (all levels) 

1. Are we clear about different types of neglect, understanding is definition and pathways across the 
partnership and communities? Is the ‘system’ and processes in Salford across the levels of need 
effective and understood? 

2. Do we know how many children and young people are living in families who may need extra help, 
or are receiving support for parenting or factors that can lead to neglect? How many are at risk of, 
or living with neglect in Salford and what services they are accessing, for how long? Is it episodic? 

3. Do we know the impact of neglect for children, including the emotional harm caused by all types of 
neglect and its effects on their behaviour and learning? When we are intervening, what outcomes 
are we achieving for them and are we improving life chances? 

4. What does additional evidence tell us about prevalence and outcomes, such as poor health, non 
attendance at school or medical appointments? 

5. Are we clear about prevalence and factors for all ages and circumstances, including those living in 
poverty? (The latter will be determined by national deprivation indices (IDACI), a range of local 
DWP data, research and qualitative information. 

Empowerment and Prevention 

6. Are there local solutions through services working with their communities? How can communities 
have a part to play in preventing, detecting, supporting and reporting safeguarding issues due to 
neglect? 

7. Are professionals and support staff including the voluntary sector at all levels of need (from schools 
to social care) well trained, confident and knowledgeable? Do they understand the impact of 
neglect on children’s daily lives as well as the long-term and cumulative impact on their health, 
development and well-being, which enables them to identify how to help and protect children and 
to take action to do so? Do professionals have a clear understanding of how the behaviour of 
parents and carers affects children, including the impact of parent/carer own experiences on the 
needs of children (Trauma Informed)? 

8. Are there earlier interventions such as parenting support in different forms so that parents can be 
empowered to seek support early? Do parents know where to go for extra help, and is it 
accessible/effective in preventing Neglect? 

9. Do agencies work together to identify children where additional support may be required to 
support parents and prevent needs escalating?  Are those professionals providing this support able 
to reduce risk  of escalation, improve parental capacity to meet the needs of their child and to 
monitor effectively the impact of interventions? 

10. Are practitioners able to intervene early when potentially neglectful causative factors are known 
(e.g. parental substance misuse). 

Support and Intervention Early – A proportionate response 

11. Are the needs of the child and their family met at an early stage through timely access to effective 

Page 226



 

67 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

help?  

12. Are needs and risks to children assessed effectively and responded to appropriately at different 
levels of the system? Where different types of assessments are undertaken, do they consider 
family history and the cumulative impact of neglect, and show that there is a clear understanding 
of the ways in which different forms of neglect affect children.  Are plans SMART and are they 
shared with those involved? 

13. Do schools and health services have effective systems to identify children at risk of or subject to 
neglect? Do schools contribute effectively to inter-agency working to improve outcomes for 
children who are at risk of or are being neglected. This includes providing appropriate support, 
contributing to a coordinated offer of early help or inter-agency plans for children in need of help 
and protection? Do they make timely referrals to early help or children’s social care where 
appropriate and children receive support within the school and/or from external agencies where 
required? 

14. Do children at risk of, or living with neglect receive the right help or protection because of 
application of appropriate thresholds, effective information sharing and timely intervention? This 
includes ensuring there is no drift, there is effective decision making at all levels, especially in social 
care 

15. Do children living with neglect benefit from evidence-based approaches, tools and services that 
reduce risks and meet their needs? Is the impact of neglect on children reduced because they and 
their families can access a sufficient range of local services, including therapeutic help that 
improves children’s emotional well-being and safety?  This may include help provided by 
community and voluntary services.  

Neglect as a Safeguarding Issue (above social care thresholds) 

16. Is there assessment of any strengths and risks in parenting and the extended family? Where 
changes in parents’ and/or carers’ behaviour are required, are clear timescales for change agreed? 
Are these timescales are based on the child’s needs, and improvements in parenting are closely 
monitored? 

17. Do police work in partnership with other agencies to appropriately identify and address the needs 
of children who have been or are neglected? Do they investigate effectively cases of neglect in 
families with children? 

Child-Centred 

18. Do children experience a child-centred approach from all professionals?  

19. Do we really understand each individual child’s lived experiences 24/7, their history and their 
aspirations?  

20. Are the views of the child are clearly recorded and central to the work with the family?  Do children 
and their families feel that their views have been heard and understood? 

Accountability and Leadership 

21. Do professionals challenge each other appropriately to ensure good practice, and do they 
challenge and support parents/carers where poor parenting is resulting in neglect? 

Page 227



 

68 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

22. Do leaders and managers understand the experiences of children at risk of,or living with neglect 
that live locally.  Does this lead to effective action to meet children’s needs and improve the help 
and support provided to children and their families? 

23. Do leaders and managers recognise the challenges involved in responding to neglect and provide 
effective support, training and challenge to practitioners? Is progress and outcomes monitored?  

24. Does the SSCP actively monitor, promote, coordinate and evaluate the work of the statutory 
partners that help and protect children at risk of neglect, including working effectively with other 
multi-agency groups that have responsibility for responding to neglect.  

25. Are risks to children living with neglect prevented and reduced? Are we having an impact? 

 

 

Page 228



 

69 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Appendix B: What we see and what we do 
 

This represents some of the perspectives on supporting families to meet the needs of their children and tackling neglect. It is by no means comprehensive, but 

from a variety of sources from during the needs assessment and summit. The SSCP may wish to revise and utilise as part of awareness raising and workforce 

development. 

Child’s Perspective Adult’s Perspective 

 
All ages 

 
 

 
I’m unhappy and don’t know how to get help, I need 
you to notice me and show that you care. I want to feel 
safe and loved, I want you to understand what my life is 
like. I expect you to help and not just leave it to 
someone else. If I trust you I might be able to explain 
but sometimes the way I act is me showing you what’s 
happening and how I feel.  

We may see: If a child was being physically neglected, we may notice that their basic care 
needs to not appear to be being met. They may not have appropriate food, age and 
gender appropriate clothing, they may not be being supervised appropriately or kept 
safe. A child may appear smelly or dirty. They may seem hungry- they could physically 
present with a swollen or thin stomach. They may appear tired. They could have 
unwashed clothes or inappropriate clothes for the weather. They could have recurring 
and untreated head lice. A child may not be in education and may be under achieving if 
their educational needs are being neglected. A neglected child may struggle to interact 
with others and could have poor language or social skills. They may have limited friends. 
If a child’s emotional needs are being neglected we may notice that they are not 
receiving the nurture or stimulation that they need. There may be a lack of age 
appropriate toys or books in the family home. They may be ignored by their parents, 
intimidated or humiliated by them. We may observe inappropriate or inconsistent 
interactions between child and carer that raise concerns.  An emotionally neglected child 
may appear clingy, aggressive, withdrawn or anxious.  If a child’s medical needs are 
being neglected this may be evident through their physical presentation. They may have 
dental decay, poor hygiene or have weight and growth issues.  

 
We would all think of the impact of the situation on the child at every hour of the day, 

every day (weekdays, weekends, holidays) and their emotional needs, looking at trauma 
informed approaches. We will support the young person and hear the voice of the child, 
asking if the parent or the child would need an advocate. We would address practical 
issues and immediate issues, gaining a beter understanding of he cause of the 

P
age 229



 

70 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

presenting issues.  
As a Housing Provider, I would make visits and see home conditions. I would develop a plan 

with other workers and use ‘injunction tool’ as a last resort where family have not stuck 
to the agreed plan and home conditions are still a problem. If I am worried, I will contact 
The Bride.  

As a Social Worker, I would ensure I am open and honest with the family to build trust and 
work with the family to ensure the child is safe and well. 

As a mental health practitioner, I would work with adults and young people. If I had 
concerns about a child under 16, I would discuss with the family member I m working 
with, in a compassionate way and be honest about my concerns and the action I am 
going to take.  

As an Early Help Assessment Co-ordinator: I would identify their strengths and their 
worries, from which I will support the family to create an action plan that addresses 
their needs. I will reassess threshholds of need and we would request an early help 
escalation meeting if I am worried. 

As a Duty and Assessment Team Social Worker: I undertake assessments where there are 
concerns that a child may be at risk of suffering significant harm. If a child was being 
physically neglected I may notice that their basic care needs to not appear to be being 
met. If I had concerns, I would aim to address these without delay. If the child is verbal, I 
would speak with them and try to gain an understanding of their lived daily experience 
and what life is like for them at home.  I would speak with the parents/ carers and gather 
their views and consider the wider family support network. I would explore what 
support may be required to improve the situation and consider referrals to early 
intervention services/ family support. I would use MARAM tools to support my 
assessment and complete a graded care profile. I would gather information from 
professionals involved with the family and compile a chronology of significant events.  A 
multi-agency strategy meeting may need to be convened to consider threshold for 
future case direction and whether any immediate action is required to safeguard the 
child. 

As a Family Nurse, I listen and try to understand what life is like for you? What is going well 

P
age 230



 

71 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

and what you feel you need help with? I’m interested in your hopes and dreams for the 
future and how you might plan to make changes to achieve the things you want for 
yourself and your child. I’ll tell you if I’m worried about you or your child. I’ll share with 
you if I need to ask for help from other services. I will work with you as you grow as a 
parent and as a person. 

 
Baby 

 
 

 
My nappy needs changing. I am in pain and no-one 
is cuddling or soothing me. There are loud noises 
that scare me at first, then it is normal. I learned 
quickly to accept that I am hungry a lot of the time. 
I didn’t have my routine immunisations and 
sometimes I have coughs, colds or am not well but 
I don’t get taken to the doctors. My parents don’t 
seem interested in me. 

 

We may see a pregnant mum who is not taking care of herself during pregnancy or 
attending ante-natal appointments. We may see a baby who is not smiling, not spoken 
to, is not content or calm or played with or soothed by parents. A parent may be 
struggling to bond with a baby or speaking negatively of them. The baby may have 
persistent nappy rash, no nappies, not fed, be failing to thrive, not meeting milestones. 

 
We would all give advice in a non-judgemental way and signpost to services. We would look 

at barriers, use motivational interviewing to empower parents to work through the main 
issues and signpost to services.  

As a social worker I would: have a conversation with the parent, provide what is needed in 
terms of basic care such as milk and nappies. 

As a Midwife I will provide information and support during pregnancy so that you and your 
baby can be as healthy as possible, I will listen to you and if you need help I will let you 
know who can support you, for example with money worries. If I’m worried about you or 
your baby I would let you know and ask children’s services for advice or support if 
needed. 

As a Health Visitor I would: look at family support and work with the family giving tips. I 
may do a child’s needs jigsaw tool or graded care profile. If I was still worried I would 
contact children’s social services. 

 

 
Pre-School 

 
 

 
We may see attachment difficulties, delayed speech and underdeveloped social skills. , 

withdrawn and sad, or overly friendly and seeking affection. frustrations, , focussed on 
TV, not toilet trained. I would see few toys unable to play 

 

P
age 231



 

72 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 
 
I struggle to get people to understand what I need. 
I cry a lot and I am scared. Sometime mum and dad 
hug me, but then they will shout. I don’t know 
what they want from me. Sometimes the 
medication I need runs out and I don’t feel well. 
My parents let me watch TV or use their phone or 
ipad to keep me busy. I don’t have many toys. No-
one plays with me. 
 

We would all try to understand what life is like for you? Notice and ‘listen’ to all the cues 
and ways you have to signal how you feel. Consider carefully if you have what you need 
to be safe? well? and thrive? Do you have the love you need from those around you, do 
your caregivers respond to your needs so that you feel secure? Can you learn and 
develop through play having fun and feeling valued? Do you know what’s happening 
through your day or is it confusing and unpredictable? We will think about your needs 
and do everything we can to make sure they are met.   

As a Health Visitor I will monitor how you are growing and learning and try to understand 
how you feel. I will share information and support your parents to meet your needs. We 
will look at your development together using questionnaires and tools to check how you 
are doing and I will offer advice or referral if you need more help.  

 

School Age 
 
 
 
 

I am not ready for school. I have had lots of 
different schools and its hard to make friends.  I am 
often late or don’t go at all as mum does not get 
me out of bed on time and I have to get my own 
breakfast, and I don’t want to go. Especially there 
is something special going on which I can’t do.  
The other children call me smelly. I don’t know 
how to use the toilet like the other children. I don’t 
have a nice bag like some children. I can sometimes 
be very tired, as I go to bed when I want and when 
I do, I can’t sleep as my bed is uncomfortable and I 
am cold and my brothers and sisters sleeping in the 
room keep me awake. I don’t know who is picking 

We may see poor school attendance or lateness, including a child who is ‘invisible’ to 
services through home schooling for the wrong reasons. We would see children absent 
or not prepared for special events like book day, fancy dress or seasonal events and 
trips. Poor self-help skills, lack of routine, unhealthy food and drinks, inappropriate 
language and concentration. Lack of parental engagement. 

We would all understand the impact of not attending school or an education provision and 
work with others to encourage or plan for this. We would liaise with other professionals, 
support the family. 

As a school, I will support the family and take action when the child does not attend or is 
late for school. I will observe ‘issues of concern’. I will identify at a low level additional 
needs, recognise vulnerability. I look for patterns, and flay and challenge what this is 
telling me.  

As a paediatric nurse, I will signpost to other services if needs or concerns are identified, 
discuss the child with services to ensure concerns are discussed. 

As a health visitor I will see families in their home and liaise with schools and would 
challenge whether intentional or unintentional neglect. 

 
 

P
age 232



 

73 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

me up after school. I am very hungry by the time 
school finishes. I have head lice a lot and they itch 
and hurt. 
 

 
 

Adolescent / 
Young person 

 
 

I don’t want to talk to people and wish they would 
butt out and leave me alone. I feel everything and 
nothing and have got used to fending for myself. I 
can’t even have somewhere to crash out as I share 
a bedroom with my two younger brothers and I let 
them sleep in the bed, and I sleep on the mattress 
on the floor. At least we have a house, last year we 
had to leave our old house when the bailiffs came. 
They are always shouting and ignore me. I have to 
get my own tea. If I am lucky parents give me 
money to go to the chippy. Some days, I feel like I 
am worthless. I know my parents don’t love me. I 
will find someone who wants me. 

We may see poor or lack of school uniform, refusal to attend school, late or withdrawn 
from school.  Low self-esteem, mental ill-health and self-harm, eating disorders, 
including young people who put a mask on their emotions. We see young people who 
are vulnerable to getting into difficulty and exploited, at risk of CSE, CCE, radicalisation, 
gang association. We may see young people who run away from home. 

 
We would all recognise that you might show how you feel in lots of different ways – we will 

listen to you and try to understand. We will value your feelings and what you tell us. We 
will be open and honest with you and do what we say we will do. We will ask how you 
are and listen to what you say. If we are worried about you we will talk to you about 
what’s happening and let you know if we need to let anyone else know so we can work 
together to make sure your needs are met.   

 
Parents 

 
 
 

 
I’m trying my best. You have no idea how hard it is to 

 
We may see someone who is struggling, up and down, sad or angry in ‘freeze or fight’. 
Parents who haven’t had their own needs met and need help with immediate problems like 
debts, housing and money. Parents who are struggling with depression and anxiety. Parents 
who are living with domestic abuse. Parents who are having a hard time and don’t know 
who to trust or ask for help.  
 
We would all help parents to recognise the impact of their circumstances, and create a 

P
age 233



 

74 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

care for my kids, just doing the stuff that people think is 
easy like getting them up and in uniform and out the 
door fed in the morning when I feel like I can’t face 
getting up and it’s another day. I’m tired and I’m skint 
and I can’t ask for help because all people do is judge 
me, for being a young parent, for not managing my 
money when there’s not enough money to manage, for 
being late, for my kid having the wrong colour cardigan 
or no kit, like that even matters…I’m drowning and I 
love them. 

culture where parents feel able to ask for help.  

 

P
age 234



 

75 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

Appendix C: Case Studies – understanding the child’s journey and learning from individual experiences  

 

P
age 235



 

76 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 

P
age 236



 

77 | Salford Neglect Needs Assessment 2019 
 

 

P
age 237



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

 “All partners are 
committed to working 
together so that every 
child in Salford has a safe 
and happy childhood.”

November 2019

Thriving Families and 
Neglect Strategy

2020 – 2023

Supporting the City to ensure children’s needs are 
met and to tackle childhood neglect.

P
age 239



2

Foreword

The experience of neglect during childhood can have significant, long-
lasting and pervasive consequences, affecting all aspects of a child’s 
development and their lives into adulthood. It is the most common 
type of abuse experienced by children and is increasing in Salford, as 
nationally. 

Neglect has been a priority for the Safeguarding Board and Partnership 
for the past five years and we know we need to do more so that 
children have their needs met by their parents or carers, and support is 
provided where this is not the case.  We want to ensure that we 
identify and prevent unmet needs from escalating so that all children 
in Salford have the childhood they have a right to. We want all families 
and children within them to thrive.

Therefore, we are delighted to support this strategy which focusses as 
much on helping families to thrive as responding to neglect, as part of 
our whole City vision with other strategies such as the anti poverty 
strategy.

We speak for the whole partnership when we ask everyone in Salford 
to support our campaign to increase the number of thriving families 
and reduce neglect.  

 (signed three safeguarding partners and Independent Advisor)

Defining Unmet Need and Neglect

All grown-ups everywhere have a duty to uphold Article 27 of the 
Convention on the Rights of the Child:  the right of every child to a 
standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, 
moral and social development.

The statutory definition of neglect is laid out in Working Together to 
Safeguard Children: 

The persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or psychological 
needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child’s health or 
development. Neglect may occur during pregnancy as a result of maternal 
substance abuse. Once a child is born, neglect may involve a parent or carer 
failing to:
a. provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion from 
home or abandonment)
b. protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger
c. ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate caregivers)
d. ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment
It may also include neglect of or unresponsiveness to a child’s basic 
emotional needs.

In simple terms, neglect is when a child is not getting the important 
things that they need like clean, warm clothes or enough to eat, or  love. 
It is when a child is not being looked after properly by their parents and 
it might include not being kept away from dangerous situations or not 
being taken to the doctor when they are ill or hurt. Whilst the statutory 
definition refers to ‘persistent failure to meet needs’, neglect can be 
episodic or cumulative. It can also be intentional or unintentional. 

P
age 240

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/city-mayor/tackling-poverty-in-salford/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/city-mayor/tackling-poverty-in-salford/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


3

In Salford, we believe that in order to tackle neglect, we need to change 
our language and strengthen the way we work with parents who may be 
unable to meet the needs of their children for some, or all of the time.

A parent/carer may not be meeting their child’s needs in a number of 
ways, as the table below shows. Appendix 1 provides more detail of 
what this may present as at different ages.

Type Features associated with type of neglect
Educational 
neglect

A parent/carer fails to provide a stimulating environment or 
show an interest in the child’s education at school/education 
provision. They may fail to respond to any special needs and fail 
to comply with state requirements about school attendance. 

Emotional 
neglect

A parent/carer is unresponsive to a child’s basic emotional 
needs. They may fail to interact or provide affection, 
undermining a child’s self-esteem and sense of identity. (Most 
experts distinguish between emotional neglect and emotional 
abuse by intention; emotional abuse is intentionally inflicted, 
emotional neglect is an omission of care.)

Medical 
neglect

A parent/carer minimise or deny a child’s illness or health needs 
and/or fails to seek appropriate medical attention or administer 
medication and treatment. 

Nutritional 
neglect

A child does not receive adequate calories or nutritional intake 
for normal growth (also sometimes called ‘failure to thrive’). At 
its most extreme, nutritional neglect can take the form of 
malnutrition or obesity.

Physical 
neglect

A parent/carer does not provide appropriate clothing, food, 
cleanliness and/or living conditions. 

Supervisory 
neglect

A parent/carer fails to provide an adequate level of supervision 
and guidance to ensure a child’s safety and protection from 
harm. For example, a child may be left alone, abandoned, left 
with inappropriate carers, or they may not be provided with 
appropriate boundaries about behaviours (for example, under-
age sex or alcohol use) may not be applied

What We Know About Neglect 
Detailed national and local evidence is provided in the Salford Needs 
Assessment undertaken in October 2019 to inform this strategy. 

It is challenging to quantify neglect. We do not know the exact 
prevalence of neglect or number of parents who are unable to meet 
their children’s needs in Salford.  Rawson et al, 2011 found that 4% of 
under 11s and 11% of 11- to 17-year-olds had experienced neglect at 
some point during their lives. 

Professionals responding to the survey reported that they see more 
children experiencing all types of neglect now than they did three 
years ago. They selected their top five causes or presenting factors 
that they see 
most commonly 
alongside or 
causing neglect, 
which not only 
chimes with other 
evidence but also 
places the impact 
of poverty and 
parental mental ill 
health as present 
in over 75% of 
episodes of 
neglect.

P
age 241



4

The needs assessment identified key factors which are root causes of, 
presenting factors or impacts of children’s needs not being met. 

Root Causes:
Child’s disability, nutritional neglect,  adverse childhood experiences 
including  parental mental health,  alcohol and drug misuse,  domestic 
abuse, parents living away from the family home such as separation, in 
prison, working across borders,  diverging opinions about risk and 
thresholds by professionals, housing issues, debt issues, chaotic lives, 
parental capacity/understanding, professionals not taking into account 
historical concerns.

Presenting Factors:
Poor school readiness, behaviour or change in behaviour, poor 
communication skills, obesity, parent or child not engaging with 
professionals or services such as education, health or support services. Not 
brought to, or attending appointments, self-reporting and disguised non-
compliance, episodic neglect (bouncing), drift.

Effects/Impact:
Developmental delay or disability, focus on parental needs rather than 
outcomes for the child, poor health, poor self-esteem or emotional literacy, 
poor educational attainment, poor life chances into adulthood, death.

Categorising the causes helps to focus our strategy on those factors we 
require partners to affect or have little direct control over; those which 
we need to work across the partnership, and finally our culture and 
how we work with families.

SOCIAL FACTORS:
changes to the 

underlying needs faced 
by the local community 
and parents in Salford 

that results in changes to 
the numbers of children 
and families requiring 

help

SYSTEM FACTORS:
the way that the system 

of services in Salford 
responds to families 

requiring help

PRACTICE FACTORS:
the way that 

professionals work with 
families.

 Population and 
Demographics

 Poverty
 Housing
 Adverse Childhood 

Experiences

 Perceptions of 
Thresholds 
Partnership 
working

 Information sharing
 Leadership
 Service 

commissioning and 
provision across 
the system

 Models of 
practice

 Doing ‘to’ or 
‘with’

 Skills and 
knowledge of 
professionals

Salford’s Neglect Needs Assessment also tells us that:

 Some of the wider determinants such as poverty, childhood 
obesity, dental decay, homelessness, school readiness and school 
attendance are worse in Salford than the national average.

 Of the 20,500 contacts to the Bridge in 2018/19, 1,437 (7%) were 
categorised as ‘neglect’. However, we know this is significantly 
under-reported and it is likely that there were elements of neglect 

P
age 242



5

in other reasons. For example, there were 4,239 for ‘parenting 
issues’; 557 ‘general family issues’; 3,467 ‘early help’. 

 In 2017/18, 16.8% of social care assessments completed in Salford 
had a presenting factor of ‘neglect’ compared to 18.4% nationally.  
Neglect is rarely the only factor, with parental mental health a 
factor in over half.

 As an indicative measure of destitution, 3,025 foodbank vouchers 
were issued and 1,941 children fed in 2017/18 of which children’s 
services was the largest referrer (1,669 children fed).  

Our needs assessment chimes with Turney and Taylor (2014) and 
Brandon et al (2008) who conclude that child neglect is a complex 
phenomenon with a range of possible inter-connecting ‘causes’, and 
this complex interplay of factors can compromise parents’ abilities to 
offer satisfactory care to their children. 

We know from the needs assessment that we have a good culture and 
partnership in which to implement the strategy. Professionals were 
very positive about knowing how to access specialist advice, how well 
agencies work together, having a supportive manager and feeling 
equipped to work with children at risk of, or experiencing child neglect 
and their families were positive. 

The Salford Partnership Way

All partners are committed to working together so that every child in 
Salford has a safe and happy childhood.

Within this vision we believe in: 

 A child centred approach: for services to be effective they should 
be based on a clear understanding of the needs and views of 
children. For our strategy, this means ensuring we remain focussed on 
the lived experiences and how they are feeling.

 Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility: for services to be 
effective each citizen, practitioner and organisation should play their 
part. For our strategy, this means we agree with the African proverb 
that “It takes a village to raise a child” Our entire community of people 
must interact with children for them to experience and grow in a safe 
and healthy environment. 

The Safeguarding Partnership principles guide our strategy and plan:

1) Empowerment: People being supported and encouraged to make 
their own decisions and with informed consent
2) Prevention: It is better to take action before harm occurs
3) Proportionality: The least intrusive response appropriate to the 
risk presented
4) Protection: Support and representation for those in greatest 
need
5) Partnership: Local solutions through services working with their 
communities. Communities have a part to play in preventing, 
detecting and reporting safeguarding issues
6) Accountability: Accountability and transparency in safeguarding 
practice.

P
age 243



6

Strategy and Objectives

Young People told us what they think are the most important needs to 
be met for them to thrive and not to be neglected.

Parents and carers may need support with core parenting skills that 
can be part of every professional contact. These are likely to be GPs, 
schools, health visitors, communities for most families, and more 
specialist services such as hospitals.

We want everyone across the City to be clear that when 
parents/carers are not able to meet their children’s needs to the 
extent that is abuse, that statutory intervention commences.

Objective 1: Empower families and communities to meet 
their child’s needs. Improve the awareness and recognition 
of childhood unmet need and neglect across the City. 

It is vital that neglect at all ages and stages, including pre-natal is 
understood, identified and addressed in a timely manner. This can be 
more difficult where the family is socially isolated, does not engage 
with professionals or attend appointments, educated through elective 
home education, missing out on education, or does not understand 
what their child needs. 

We know that sometimes, parents just need a bit of help before their 
issues spiral, and we want to make sure that there is somewhere they 
feel confident to go to, to get the right advice and support at the 
earliest stage.  This will also be the case for people working with 
families, such as schools.

Professionals want to empower our citizens, communities to be good 
Salford parents and friends. This will be achieved through campaigns, 
targeted sessions where our children and parents live, work, play and 
learn, such as community hubs, sports clubs, education providers, 
giving neglect a higher profile through the City, 

We will continue to respond through our thresholds of need to ensure 
that children living with neglect receive the right help and protection 
at the right time so that their individual developmental needs are met, 
and they are protected from harm in a timely manner. 

P
age 244



7

Objective 2: We will work in partnership to overcome 
factors which prevent parents/carers from meeting the 
needs of their children. 

We are clear that parents/carers are responsible for meeting the needs 
of their children, but this is not always possible. We will ensure there 
are clear pathways and services to support them and the professionals 
who may be working with them, without taking on the parenting role 
ourselves unless statutory thresholds are reached. 

We will ensure that our existing strategies, plans and commissioning 
which support parent’s ability to meet their children’s needs are 
aligned and lobby where necessary to bring about changes to 
overcome any factors which prevent children’s needs from being met 
and contribute to the rise of neglect.

SSCP and individual organisations will review and/or reinforce 
implementation of policies that support parents and professionals, for 
example the SSCP escalation policy, threshold policy, disguised non-
compliance policy, child not brought policies within health services.

Objective 3: There is a robust system and services to assess 
and address neglect so that children are safe and cared for. 
Assessments and work with families is timely, effective and 
strengths-based.

We want families and professionals to have access to evidence-based 
approaches and tools. We will revise our neglect tool, guidance and 
training for professionals, laying out clearly required timescales and 
expectations. Professional curiosity, challenge and relationship-based 
practice will underpin these. 

All plans will be SMART – in other words they will clearly and succinctly 
evidence and record current concerns, what needs to change from this 
baseline, how, and by when (how urgent for the child); More 
importantly, we will encourage professionals to focus on the lived 
experiences of the child at every hour of every day and the impact of 
neglect on their emotional well-being. (Horwarth, 2017)

Work with the family will be recorded and information shared 
effectively, with good communication between professionals.

Objective 4: All professionals work with families and 

P
age 245



8

individual children in a strengths-based way that takes into 
account risk and protective factors.

SSCP partners believe in, and utilise a strengths-based model of 
practice, and our approach to neglect should reflect this. Families will 
be helped to understand why changes are required and engage with 
any work identified. 

We know that a parent’s ability to meet their children’s needs may not 
be consistent and involve more than one episode of neglect. We want 
to reduce the number of ‘episodes’ of neglect or escalation of issues 
that a child may experience by ensuring our professionals, tools and 
interventions are able to identify risk and protective factors, and 
ensure that improvements are able to be sustained.

Some children are more likely to suffer neglect. For example, disabled 
children are more likely to suffer neglect than a child without a 
disability; children may be undertaking a carers role for younger 
siblings due to their parent’s inability to meet their needs; perceived 
cultural norms can prevent professionals from appropriately 
challenging the child’s experiences.  We will ensure that our policies, 
tools, interventions and our workforce are aware of the individuality of 
all parents and children.

Objective 5: Leadership drives good practice and 
improvement in tackling neglect

We will strengthen the leadership of neglect across the City by 
identifying between four and six ‘system leaders’ who will drive our 
strategy and actions and providing specialist advice in their field, in 
addition to the Neglect champions who form our SSCP neglect sub-
group. 

Organisational and professional support for our skilled and 
knowledgeable workforce will include a range of development 
opportunities for professionals across the city; opportunities to learn 
from practice through case discussions;

Agencies should ensure their workforce is properly skilled to be able to 
identify and act on indicators of neglect in the families they work with. 
This includes pathways and their role in multi-agency support. It also 
means that the workforce should be confident in knowing when and 
how to share concerns about a child’s welfare where child protection 
concerns may be apparent.

We expect each organisation and its leaders to ensure communication, 
implementation and embedding of this strategy, tools, and ways of 
working.  We expect them to review their own effectiveness on a 
regular basis. 

How We Will Achieve Our Objectives

P
age 246



9

Our Action Plan includes details of what we are going to do, how we 
will make this happen, any external factors and resources required to 
do so and how this will be different for children now and in the longer 
term. The plan will develop over the lifetime of this strategy to ensure 
that as a City we are able to respond to changes and new ideas to 
meet our objectives.

Governance and measuring effectiveness

This strategy will be owned and overseen by the Salford Safeguarding 
Children Partnership and its Neglect Sub Group. The SSCP will monitor 
progress through sub-group reports to the partnership and a neglect 
spotlight at least annually. This agenda will be shared with the 0-25 
Advisory Board and wider system governance in recognition of the 
significant scope that thriving families and neglect has.

We will assure ourselves of the quality of our multi-agency response to 
neglect across services and demonstrate that our work has 
individually, and collectively impacted positively on outcomes and 
quality of life for children. 

We have developed a Neglect Outcomes Framework across our 
objectives as well as the ten areas young people told us was important 
to them. Through this framework, our Safeguarding Effectiveness Sub-
Group, Neglect Sub-Group and our Youth Council we will consider how 
we are doing and where we can do better. We will also consult with 

children, young people, families and professionals about what has 
helped make the most difference and how supported they feel.

Further information 

Toolkit links on website (add links)

Worried about a child (add links)

Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership
Sutherland House, 303 Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 6AY
Tel: 0161 603 4322
Email: sscb@salford.gov.uk
Visit: www.partnersinsalford.org/sscb

Twitter: @salfordscp       #safeinsalford

P
age 247



10

Appendix 1: Ways in which children and young people can experience neglect

Experiences of neglect by Horwath’s classifications by age group. These are examples only intended to give an overview of what children may 
experience rather than provide an exhaustive list of ways in which neglect may be present

Medical Nutritional Emotional Educational Physical Lack of supervision 
Infancy; 
0-2 years 

Includes failure to notice 
that a baby is unwell, and 
failure to seek medical 
treatment.  Not attending 
routine health screening 
appointments may be 
indicative. 

Under-nourishment leads 
to restricted growth and 
brain development.  There 
can be a link between 
neglect and obesity, e.g. if 
parents use sweets as 
‘pacifiers’. 

Lack of stimulation can 
prevent babies from 
‘fixing’ neural connections.  
Infant attachments are 
damaged by neglect, 
which makes learning 
skills more difficult 

Some parts of the brain, 
e.g. cortex, are dependent 
on experience and 
stimulation to develop. 
Language relies on 
reinforcement and 
feedback from carers. 

Dirty home conditions 
may affect infant immune 
system; lack of changing 
and nappy rash; lack of 
encouragement may 
delay skill development. 

Babies should be 
supervised at all times, 
particularly when lying on 
surfaces they could fall 
from or in the bath.  If 
babies feel abandoned, 
this can affect the 
development of 
attachments. 

Pre-school; 
2-4 years 

May include missed 
health and dental 
appointments, and failure 
to seek medical treatment 
following accidents or for 
routine conditions such as 
head lice or squints. 

Not eating 1200 – 1500 
calories per day, and/ or 
unregulated amounts of 
fat and sugar in the diet, 
which can lead to heart 
problems, obesity and 
tooth decay.  

Neglected children without 
a secure attachment may 
experience difficulties 
playing with their peers, 
sharing feelings and 
thoughts, coping with 
frustration and developing 
empathy.  

Neglect can be a 
significant factor in 
delaying a child’s 
language development 
e.g. through the amount 
and quality of interactions 
with carers.  This delay 
affects their education. 

Child may present as dirty 
or malnourished, and 
living conditions may be 
poor.  Child may not have 
been toilet trained, 
sleeping sufficiently or 
have adequate 
boundaries. 

Home may lack safety 
devices e.g. stair gates, 
dangerous items such as 
drugs or knives may be 
within reach, child may 
not have appropriate car 
seat, child may be left 
home alone. 

Primary; 
5-11 years 

Children may have more 
infections and illnesses 
than their peers due to 
poor treatment, or lack of 
prevention e.g. through 
hand washing, good diet 
or adequate sleep. 

Food isn’t provided 
consistently, leading to 
unregulated diets of 
biscuits and sweets. 
Concerns should not just 
focus on weight; children 
of normal weight could still 
have unhealthy diets. 

Insecure attachment 
styles can lead to children 
having difficulties forming 
relationships, and may 
express their frustration at 
not having friends through 
disruptive behaviour. 

Neglected children can 
experience a number of 
disadvantages at school, 
including low educational 
aspirations, lack of 
encouragement for 
learning and language 
stimulation. 

Ill-fitting, inadequate or 
dirty clothing, poor 
personal hygiene, lack of 
sleep, lack of routines or 
boundaries which can 
lead to frustration with 
school rules and 
boundaries. 

Primary school children 
may be left home alone 
after school, or expected 
to supervise younger 
children.  They may be left 
to play outside alone or to 
cook meals without 
supervision. 

Adolescent; 
12+ years 

Poor self-esteem and 
recklessness can lead to 
ignoring or enduring 
health problems rather 
than accessing services.  
There may also be risk-
taking behaviour e.g. in 
sexual activity. 

Adolescents may be able 
to find food, but lack of 
nutritious food and limited 
cooking experience can 
lead them to unhealthy 
snacks, which affects both 
health and educational 
outcomes. 

Peer groups and 
independence are 
important at this age; 
young people who are 
isolated by neglect (e.g. 
through poor hygiene) will 
struggle.  Conflict with 
carers may also increase. 

Likely to experience 
cognitive impairment e.g. 
in managing emotion, 
challenging behaviour in 
school. Low confidence 
and academic failure can 
reinforce negative self-
image. 

Adolescents’ social 
development is likely to be 
affected by their living 
conditions, inadequate 
clothing, poor hygiene and 
body odour.  This can 
affect their self-esteem. 

Neglected adolescents 
may stay out all night with 
carers not aware of their 
whereabouts, which can 
lead to opportunities for 
risk-taking behaviours that 
can result in serious 
injury.  

P
age 248



 

                                                          

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 
PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

22 January 2020 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Director of Corporate Services

Date of Paper: 9 January 2020

Subject: Proposed amendment to Terms of 
Reference for Children’s Commissioning 
Committee

In case of query 
Please contact:

Jenny Noble
Head of Governance and Policy

Carol Eddleston
Senior Democratic Services Advisor

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)
Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

To consider and recommend for approval an amendment to the Terms of Reference 
for the Children’s Commissioning Committee in order to reduce the risk of a meeting 
not being quorate due to the number of voting members required to be in 
attendance.

Page 249

Agenda Item 11



 

                                                          

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This change to clarify the quoracy position will 
ensure that formal decisions can be taken when 
required.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

None

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

None

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

None

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

All voting members have a potential interest in 
this change which will be managed in line with 
organisational policy.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

None

Footnote:

Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 250



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought 

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



Paper considered by Integrated 
Leadership Team on 18 December 
2019.

Recommended for formal 
approval in January.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 251



Proposed change to quorum

1. Executive Summary

Since the new integrated commissioning governance arrangements were established 
earlier in the year there have been instances where meetings have not been quorate due to 
the number of voting members present.

This report seeks approval of a proposal to reduce the number of voting members required 
to be in attendance from each of SCCG and SCC from three to two on the Children’s 
Commissioning Committee.

2. Background

2.1 The Terms of Reference (ToR) of the Health and Care Commissioning Board (H&CCB) and 
its Committees were approved earlier in 2019/20 as part of the NHS Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (SCCG) and Salford City Council (SCC) Partnership Agreement 
relating to integrated health and care commissioning arrangements.

2.2 It was always intended that the ToR would be formally reviewed by SCC and SCCG by 
March 2020 as part of a wider governance review in the spring although they may be 
amended by mutual agreement between both parties at any time to reflect changes in 
circumstances which may arise.

2.3 Following early discussions at the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) and more 
recently at the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC), clarity has been sought 
regarding quorum. The ToR of the H&CCB, CCC and ACC state:

“The Board/Committee will be quorate providing one-third of the voting membership is an 
attendance, with at least three members present from each of SCCG and SCC.”

2.4 This appears to contradict itself and is a little confusing for those supporting the meetings 
about what constitutes a quorum so it is proposed that we make an amendment now and not 
wait until the date above so that meetings are quorate and clear decisions can be made. 
These proposals include the proposed ToR changes and a proposed governance route to 
approve the changes which were supported by the Integrated Leadership Team. 

2.5 This paper does not include changes to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
(PCCC) ToR which will be reviewed as part of the CCG’s constitution review in January.  
There have been no instances of inquorate meetings.

3. Current situation

3.1 Although the ToR are working effectively in the main, there have been instances where the 
quoracy requirements have proved challenging in relation to the SCC membership of the 
ACC, CCC and H&CCB. Whilst the committees aim to achieve a consensus for all decisions, 

Page 252



rather than a vote, a meeting must be quorate in order for a decision to be taken. Although 
SCCG and SCC have an equal number of members on each of the committees, the ‘voting 
membership’ of SCC is restricted to elected members and excludes SCC senior officer 
members.

3.2 In the case of the ACC and CCC there are four SCC voting members so the absence of two 
or more would render a meeting inquorate and no formal decisions could be taken. As there 
are seven SCCG voting members the likelihood of five being unable to attend and render a 
meeting inquorate is considered to be relatively low.

3.3 In the case of the H&CCB there are six voting seats allocated to SCC elected members, 
including to the Deputy City Mayor and to the Lead Member for Children’s and Young 
People’s Services. Since the terms of reference were drafted, however, responsibility for 
Children’s and Young People’s Services has transferred to the Deputy City Mayor, meaning 
that, in practice, the maximum number of SCC voting members is five. If three or more 
elected members are unable to attend, a meeting would be rendered inquorate and no 
formal decisions could be taken. As there are ten SCCG voting members the likelihood of 
eight being unable to attend and render a meeting inquorate is considered to be low.

3.4 The lack of a quorum at any meeting does not prevent the discussion of items which are 
included on the agenda for assurance or information purposes. 

3.5 Three decisions have been taken since May, two at ACC on 11 September:  

 Great Places Learning Disability Supported Housing Proposal – Feasibility 
Assessment, and 

 Additional Care Home Fees for Hospitality Charges Above Care Requirements

3.6 There were eight out of 11 voting members present and at least three members present from 
each of SCCG and SCC. Therefore it was suggested that the meeting was quorate as one-
third on the voting membership was in attendance, however, the three members from each 
of the SCCG and SCC were not all voting members, which we now understand was the 
intent. At that meeting apologies were received from two of the SCC voting members but 
both of them had attended the Lead Member briefing and no particular concerns or 
comments had been raised about either item.

3.7 The other decision was taken at CCC on 24 July – to approve the service model for the 
proposed redesign of Salford Children’s Services – and this meeting was also quorate.

3.8 Non-voting and voting members from both SCCG and SCC take their role and 
responsibilities as committee members very seriously and endeavour to attend meetings as 
regularly as possible. Inevitably however, as senior representatives of their respective body, 
there are occasions when members cannot attend due to other unavoidable work or 
personal commitments, or sickness. Given the existing heavy committee workload that 
members already have, it would not seem prudent to recommend that member 
representation on any of the commissioning committees be increased, nor that existing 
members nominate substitutes to attend in their place, even though this is provided for in the 
ToR of the ACC and CCC but is not permitted for H&CCB.

Page 253



4. ToR changes

4.1 It is considered that a reduction in the number of members required to be present from each 
of SCCG and SCC is a pragmatic approach which would reduce significantly the risk of a 
meeting being rendered inquorate.  The Children’s Commissioning Committee is therefore 
requested to consider agreeing to a proposal to amend the terms of reference to read:

‘The Committee will be quorate providing one-third of the voting membership is in 
attendance, with at least three two members are present from each of SCCG and SCC’.

5. Governance route

5.1 Following agreement at the Integrated Leadership Team meeting, the ACC, CCC and 
H&CCB is asked to endorse the proposal(s) prior to formal approval by Cabinet and 
Governing Body in January 2020. The Lead Members concerned will be briefed informally by 
email rather than scheduling it at their individual briefings. 

5.2 The ToR of the ACC, CCC and H&CCB will then be amended accordingly, following mutual 
agreement in writing. It is not thought that this amendment of these ToR would require a 
corresponding amendment of any other provision of the Partnership Agreement and/or would 
create any conflict or inconsistency with any other provision of the Partnership Agreement.

6. Considerations

6.1 This is in line with the integrated commissioning governance principles agreed by the Core 
Reference Group i.e. elected members and GPs will be represented in equal numbers on 
decision making groups (or will at the least have equal numbers of formal votes). Therefore it 
is considered to be a practical solution although the membership, attendance and quorum 
will be reviewed in more detail as part of the formal joint review.

7. Recommendations

7.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Consider and recommend for approval the amendment above to the Terms of Reference 
for the Children’s Commissioning Committee in order to reduce the risk of a meeting not 
being quorate due to the number of voting members required to be in attendance.

Carol Eddleston
Senior Democratic Services Advisor

Jenny Noble
Head of Governance and Policy

Page 254


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2019.
	5 0-19 Contract renewal (Debbie Blackburn)
	05(a) - Appendix 1

	6 Finance Update (Steve Dixon)
	8 Ingleside Birthing & Community Centre Update (Eejay Whitehead)
	Ingleside BCC Update Report to CCC Jan 2020 FV
	Appendix 1

	10 Neglect Strategy Update (Debbie Blackburn)
	SALFORD NEGLECT NEEDS ASSESSMENT FINAL 20191125
	SALFORD THRIVING FAMILIES AND NEGLECT STRATEGY 2020-2023 V3 20191128

	11 Terms of Reference Update (Mike McHugh)

